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(i) 

QUESTIONS PRESENTED 

This case involves an alleged conspiracy to manipu-
late U.S. Dollar (“USD”) LIBOR, a reference rate used 
in financial transactions and based on a composite of 
individual banks’ estimates of the interest rates at 
which they could borrow U.S. Dollars under various 
hypothetical conditions.  It is undisputed that the pro-
cess of setting USD LIBOR has never been, and was 
never meant to be, competitive.  It is also undisputed 
that the banks that participated in the process contin-
ued to compete in the actual market for financial in-
struments and transactions.   

Respondents have asserted claims under the 
Sherman Act based on the banks’ alleged collusion in 
the non-competitive USD LIBOR-setting process.  The 
questions presented are: 

1. Whether a plaintiff may plead a violation of the 
antitrust laws based on alleged collusion in a non-
competitive context and alleged injuries that do not 
stem from the impairment or restraint of any competi-
tive process. 

2. Whether a plaintiff may plead an antitrust con-
spiracy based on alleged conduct that is equally indica-
tive of parallel, non-conspiratorial activity. 

  



 

(ii)  

PARTIES TO THE PROCEEDING 

Petitioners are Bank of America Corporation, Bank 
of America, N.A., Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & 
Smith, Inc. (f/k/a Banc of America Securities LLC), 
Citibank, N.A., Citigroup Inc., Citigroup Global Mar-
kets Inc., Citigroup Global Markets Limited, JPMorgan 
Chase & Co., JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., and J.P. 
Morgan Securities LLC (f/k/a J.P. Morgan Securities 
Inc.). 

Respondents are Ellen Gelboim, on behalf of her-
self and all others similarly situated, Linda Zacher, 
Schwab Short-Term Bond Market Fund, Schwab Total 
Bond Market Fund, Schwab U.S. Dollar Liquid Assets 
Fund, Schwab Money Market Fund, Schwab Value Ad-
vantage Money Fund, Schwab Retirement Advantage 
Money Fund, Schwab Investor Money Fund, Schwab 
Cash Reserves, Schwab Advisor Cash Reserves, 
Charles Schwab Bank, N.A., Charles Schwab & Co., 
Inc., Charles Schwab Corporation, Schwab YieldPlus 
Fund, Schwab YieldPlus Fund Liquidation Trust, 33-35 
Green Pond Road Associates, LLC, on behalf of itself 
and all others similarly situated, FTC Futures Fund 
PCC Ltd, on behalf of themselves and all others simi-
larly situated, FTC Futures Fund SICAV, on behalf of 
themselves and all others similarly situated, Metzler 
Investment GmbH, on behalf of itself and all others 
similarly situated, 303030 Trading LLC, Atlantic Trad-
ing USA, LLC, Gary Francis, Nathaniel Haynes, 
Courtyard at Amwell II, LLC, Greenwich Commons II, 
LLC, Jill Court Associates II, LLC, Maidencreek Ven-
tures II LP, Raritan Commons, LLC, Lawrence W. 
Gardner, on behalf of themselves and all others similar-
ly situated, Mayor and City Council of Baltimore, City 
of New Britain Firefighters’ and Police Benefit Fund, 



 

(iii)  

on behalf of itself and all others similarly situated, Tex-
as Competitive Electric Holdings Company LLC, 
Guaranty Bank & Trust Company, Individually and on 
behalf of all others similarly situated, National Credit 
Union Administration Board, as Liquidating Agent of 
U.S. Central Federal Credit Union, Western Corporate 
Federal Credit Union, Members United Corporate 
Federal Credit Union, Southwest Corporate Federal 
Credit Union, and Constitution Corporate Federal 
Credit Union, City of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania In-
tergovernmental Cooperation Authority, Darby Finan-
cial Products, Capital Ventures International, Salix 
Capital US Inc., Prudential Investment Portfolios 2, 
FKA Dryden Core Investment Fund, on behalf of Pru-
dential Core Short-Term Bond Fund, Prudential Core 
Taxable Money Market Fund, City of Riverside, River-
side Public Financing Authority, East Bay Municipal 
Utility District, County of San Mateo, San Mateo Coun-
ty Joint Powers Financing Authority, City of Rich-
mond, Richmond Joint Powers Financing Authority, 
Successor Agency to the Richmond Community Rede-
velopment Agency, County of San Diego, County of 
Sonoma, David E. Sundstrom, in his official capacity as 
Treasurer of the county of Sonoma for and on behalf of 
the Sonoma County Treasury Pool Investment, Re-
gents of the University of California, San Diego Associ-
ation of Governments, County of Sacramento, The 
County of Mendocino, City of Houston, Bay Area Toll 
Authority, Joseph Amabile, Louie Amabile, individual-
ly & on behalf of Lue Trading, Inc., Norman Byster, 
Michael Cahill, Richard Deogracias, individually on be-
half of RCD Trading, Inc., Marc Federighi, individually 
on behalf of MCO Trading, Scott Federighi, individually 
on behalf of Katsco, Inc., Robert Furlong, individually 
on behalf of XCOP, Inc., David Cough, Brian Haggerty, 



 

(iv)  

individually on behalf of BJH Futures, Inc., David 
Klusendorf, Ronald Krug, Christopher Lang, John 
Monckton, Philip Olson, Brett Pankau, David Vec-
chione, individually on behalf of Vecchione & Associ-
ates, Randall Williams, John Henderson, 303 Proprie-
tary Trading LLC, Margery Teller, Nicholas Pesa, Ed-
uardo Restani, and Vito Spillone. 

Other non-petitioning parties to the proceeding in 
the court below are The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi 
UFJ, Ltd., Barclays Bank PLC, Barclays plc, Barclays 
Capital Inc., Citigroup Funding, Inc., Citi Swapco Inc., 
Citigroup Financial Products, Inc., Coöperatieve Ra-
bobank U.A. (f/k/a Coöperatieve Centrale Raif-
feisenBoerenleenbank B.A.), Credit Suisse Group AG, 
Credit Suisse International, Credit Suisse AG, Credit 
Suisse Securities (USA) LLC, Credit Suisse (USA), 
Inc., Deutsche Bank AG, Deutsche Bank Securities 
Inc., HSBC Securities (USA) Inc., HSBC USA, Inc., 
HSBC Finance Corporation, HSBC Holdings plc, 
HSBC Bank plc, HSBC Bank USA, N.A., J.P. Morgan 
Dublin plc (f/k/a J.P. Morgan Bank Dublin plc) (f/k/a/ 
Bear Stearns Bank plc), Lloyds Banking Group plc, 
Lloyds Bank plc (f/k/a Lloyds TSB Bank plc), HBOS 
plc, The Norinchukin Bank, Portigon AG (f/k/a WestLB 
AG), Westdeutsche ImmobilienBank AG, Royal Bank 
of Canada, The Royal Bank of Scotland Group plc, The 
Royal Bank of Scotland plc, RBS Securities Inc. (f/k/a 
Greenwich Capital Markets Inc.), Société Générale, 
UBS AG, UBS Securities LLC, UBS Limited, British 
Bankers’ Association, BBA Enterprises Ltd., and BBA 
LIBOR Ltd.   

 

 



 

(v)  

CORPORATE DISCLOSURE STATEMENT 

Bank of America Entities 

Petitioner Bank of America Corporation1 is a pub-
licly held company, does not have any parent corpora-
tion, and no publicly held company has an ownership 
interest of 10% or more in Bank of America Corpora-
tion. 

Petitioner Bank of America, N.A.2 is a National As-
sociation and is 100% owned by BANA Holding Corpo-
ration. BANA Holding Corporation is 100% owned by 
BAC North America Holding Company. BAC North 
America Holding Company is 100% owned by NB Hold-
ings Corporation. NB Holdings Corporation is 100% 
owned by Bank of America Corporation. 

                                                 
1 As to the following cases:  Gelboim v. Credit Suisse Grp. 

AG, No. 13-3565 (2d Cir.); Mayor and City Council of Baltimore v. 
Credit Suisse Grp. AG, Nos. 15-494, 15-498 (2d Cir.); Metzler Inv. 
GmbH v. Credit Suisse Grp. AG, No. 15-454 (2d Cir.); Amabile v. 
Bank of Am. Corp., Nos. 15-825, 15-830 (2d Cir.); Salix Capital US 
Inc. v. Banc of Am. Sec. LLC, Nos. 15-611, 15-620 (2d Cir.); 33-35 
Green Pond Assocs., LLC v. Bank of Am. Corp., No. 15-441 (2d 
Cir.); Courtyard at Amwell II, LLC v. Bank of Am. Corp., No. 15-
477 (2d Cir.); Guaranty Bank & Trust Co. v. Credit Suisse Grp. 
AG, No. 15-524 (2d Cir.). 

2 As to the following cases:  Gelboim v. Credit Suisse Grp. 
AG, No. 13-3565 (2d Cir.); Mayor and City Council of Baltimore v. 
Credit Suisse Grp. AG, Nos. 15-494, 15-498 (2d Cir.); Metzler Inv. 
GmbH v. Credit Suisse Grp. AG, No. 15-454 (2d Cir.); Salix Capi-
tal US Inc. v. Banc of Am. Sec. LLC, Nos. 15-611, 15-620 (2d Cir.); 
Courtyard at Amwell II, LLC v. Bank of Am. Corp., No. 15-477 
(2d Cir.); Guaranty Bank & Trust Co. v. Credit Suisse Grp. AG, 
No. 15-524 (2d Cir.). 



 

(vi)  

Petitioner Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith 
Incorporated (“MLPFS”)3 is 100% owned by NB Hold-
ings Corporation. NB Holdings Corporation is 100% 
owned by Bank of America Corporation. Effective No-
vember 1, 2010, Banc of America Securities LLC 
merged with and into MLPFS.  

 

Citibank Entities 

Petitioner Citigroup Inc.4 is a publicly held corpo-
ration, has no parent corporation, and no publicly held 
corporation owns 10% or more of its stock. 

Petitioner Citibank, N.A.5 is wholly owned by Cit-
icorp, which in turn is wholly owned by Citigroup Inc.  

                                                 
3 As to the following case:  Salix Capital US Inc. v. Banc of 

Am. Sec. LLC, Nos. 15-611, 15-620 (2d Cir.). 
4 As to the following cases:  Gelboim v. Credit Suisse Grp. 

AG, No. 13-3565 (2d Cir.); Mayor and City Council of Baltimore v. 
Credit Suisse Grp. AG, Nos. 15-494, 15-498 (2d Cir.); Metzler Inv. 
GmbH v. Credit Suisse Grp. AG, No. 15-454 (2d Cir.); Guaranty 
Bank & Trust Co. v. Credit Suisse Grp. AG, No. 15-524 (2d Cir.); 
City of Philadelphia v. Barclays Bank plc., 15-547 (2d Cir.); Salix 
Capital US Inc. v. Banc of Am. Sec. LLC, Nos. 15-611, 15-620 (2d 
Cir.); Prudential Inv. Portfolios 2. v. Bank of Am. Corp., No. 15-
627 (2d Cir.). 

5 As to the following cases:  Gelboim v. Credit Suisse Grp. 
AG, No. 13-3565 (2d Cir.); 33-35 Green Pond Assocs., LLC v. Bank 
of Am. Corp., No. 15-441 (2d Cir.); Metzler Inv. GmbH v. Credit 
Suisse Grp. AG, No. 15-454 (2d Cir.); Guaranty Bank & Trust Co. 
v. Credit Suisse Grp. AG, No. 15-524 (2d Cir.); Salix Capital US 
Inc. v. Banc of Am. Sec. LLC, Nos. 15-611, 15-620 (2d Cir.); Bay 
Area Toll Authority v. Bank of Am. Corp., 15-778 (2d Cir.); Ama-
bile v. Bank of Am. Corp., Nos. 15-825, 15-830 (2d Cir.). 



 

(vii)  

Petitioner Citigroup Global Markets Inc.6 is wholly 
owned by Citigroup Inc.  

Petitioner Citigroup Global Markets Limited7 is a 
subsidiary of Citigroup Global Markets Europe Ltd., 
which in turn is a subsidiary of Citigroup Global Mar-
kets Holdings Inc., which in turn is wholly owned by 
Citigroup Inc. 

 

JPMorgan Entities 

Petitioner JPMorgan Chase & Co.8 is a publicly 
held corporation.  JPMorgan Chase & Co. does not have 
a parent corporation and no publicly held corporation 
owns 10% or more of JPMorgan Chase & Co.’s stock. 

Petitioner JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.9 is a wholly 
owned subsidiary of JPMorgan Chase & Co., a publicly 
                                                 

6 As to the following cases:  Metzler Inv. GmbH v. Credit 
Suisse Grp. AG, No. 15-454 (2d Cir.); Salix Capital US Inc. v. 
Banc of Am. Sec. LLC, Nos. 15-611, 15-620 (2d Cir.). 

7 As to the following case:  Salix Capital US Inc. v. Banc of 
Am. Sec. LLC, Nos. 15-611, 15-620 (2d Cir.). 

8 As to the following cases:  Gelboim v. Credit Suisse Grp. 
AG, No. 13-3565 (2d Cir.); Mayor and City Council of Baltimore v. 
Credit Suisse Grp. AG, Nos. 15-494, 15-498 (2d Cir.); Metzler Inv. 
GmbH v. Credit Suisse Grp. AG, No. 15-454 (2d Cir.); Amabile v. 
Bank of Am. Corp., Nos. 15-825, 15-830 (2d Cir.); Darby Fin. 
Prods. v. Barclays Bank plc, No. 15-551 (2d Cir.); Salix Capital 
US Inc. v. Banc of Am. Sec. LLC, Nos. 15-611, 15-620 (2d Cir.); 33-
35 Green Pond Assocs., LLC v. Bank of Am. Corp., No. 15-441 (2d 
Cir.); Courtyard at Amwell II, LLC v. Bank of Am. Corp., No. 15-
477 (2d Cir.); Guaranty Bank & Trust Co. v. Credit Suisse Grp. 
AG, No. 15-524 (2d Cir.). 

9 As to the following cases:  Gelboim v. Credit Suisse Grp. 
AG, No. 13-3565 (2d Cir.); Mayor and City Council of Baltimore v. 
Credit Suisse Grp. AG, Nos. 15-494, 15-498 (2d Cir.); Metzler Inv. 



 

(viii)  

held corporation. No other publicly held corporation 
owns 10% or more of JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.’s 
stock. 

Petitioner J.P. Morgan Securities LLC10 is a wholly 
owned subsidiary of JPMorgan Broker-Dealer Hold-
ings, Inc., which, in turn, is a wholly owned subsidiary 
of JPMorgan Chase & Co.  No other publicly held cor-
poration owns 10% or more of J.P. Morgan Securities 
LLC’s stock.  

 

 

 

                                                                                                    
 
GmbH v. Credit Suisse Grp. AG, No. 15-454 (2d Cir.); Darby Fin. 
Prods. v. Barclays Bank plc, No. 15-551 (2d Cir.); Salix Capital 
US Inc. v. Banc of Am. Sec. LLC, Nos. 15-611, 15-620 (2d Cir.); 
Courtyard at Amwell II, LLC v. Bank of Am. Corp., No. 15-477 
(2d Cir.); Guaranty Bank & Trust Co. v. Credit Suisse Grp. AG, 
No. 15-524 (2d Cir.). 

10  As to the following cases:  Prudential Inv. Portfolios 2. v. 
Bank of Am. Corp., No. 15-627 (2d Cir.); Salix Capital US Inc. v. 
Banc of Am. Sec. LLC, Nos. 15-611, 15-620 (2d Cir.). 
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IN THE 

Supreme Court of the United States 
 

No. 16-     
 

BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION, ET AL.,  
Petitioners, 

v. 

ELLEN GELBOIM, ET AL.,  
Respondents. 

 
ON PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI TO THE 

UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 
FOR THE SECOND CIRCUIT 

 

PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI 

 

Petitioners respectfully petition for a writ of certi-
orari to review the judgment of the United States 
Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit in this case. 

INTRODUCTION 

Respondents allege that a group of banks violated 
Section 1 of the Sherman Act by agreeing to manipu-
late U.S. Dollar (“USD”) LIBOR, a reference rate used 
widely in financial transactions that is set through a col-
laborative process.  Respondents contend that they 
were injured by that alleged manipulation when they 
bought and sold financial instruments that refer or re-
late somehow to USD LIBOR.  Reversing the district 
court’s dismissal of the complaints, the Second Circuit 



2 

 

held that respondents’ allegations of collusion in the 
USD LIBOR-setting process were sufficient to plead a 
price-fixing claim under Section 1.   

The court of appeals’ decision is inconsistent with 
this Court’s repeated admonition that the antitrust laws 
are not designed to address business misconduct that 
does not impair competition.  The Sherman Act does not 
“transform cases involving business behavior that is [al-
legedly] improper … into treble-damages antitrust cas-
es” where “the competitive process itself does not suffer 
harm.”  NYNEX Corp. v. Discon, Inc., 525 U.S. 128, 137 
(1998).  Nor do antitrust plaintiffs have standing to seek 
relief unless their injuries “stem[] from a competition-
reducing aspect or effect of the defendant’s behavior.”  
Atlantic Richfield Co. v. USA Petroleum Co., 495 U.S. 
328, 344 (1990) (“ARCO”).    

Those settled principles should lead to dismissal of 
these cases (as the district court recognized).  USD 
LIBOR has never been the product of competition be-
tween banks or any other participants in the market for 
financial products.  It is set through a daily submission 
process that concededly “was never intended to be 
competitive.”  App. 66a.  Any alleged manipulation of 
the non-competitive USD LIBOR-setting process can-
not have impaired or displaced competition, because 
there was never any competition over LIBOR in the 
first place—and because competition in the actual mar-
ket for financial products continued unabated.  Alt-
hough respondents may be able to pursue other ave-
nues of relief, they do not allege an antitrust claim. 

The court of appeals’ contrary conclusion was 
premised on its determination that respondents had al-
leged per se unlawful price-fixing.  But respondents’ 
use of that label cannot substitute for alleging some re-
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straint on preexisting competition.  Every price-fixing 
case the court of appeals cited, unlike this case, in-
volved allegations of collusion or misconduct that re-
stricted some competitive process.  By allowing to pro-
ceed claims that are based on conduct that did not im-
pede any competitive process, and on an injury that 
cannot have flowed from any competitive harm, the de-
cision below takes antitrust law into uncharted—
indeed, forbidden—territory.   

Review is warranted for another reason, too.  To 
state an antitrust conspiracy claim, a plaintiff must 
plausibly plead an agreement in restraint of trade.  Bell 
Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 566 (2007).  Draw-
ing on established antitrust principles, this Court held 
in Twombly that allegations that are “merely consistent 
with” such an agreement, but are also equally con-
sistent with independent conduct, are insufficient.  Id. 
at 557. 

Here, as in Twombly, respondents alleged a sweep-
ing antitrust conspiracy based on circumstantial evi-
dence that does nothing to suggest that the defendants 
acted in concert rather than in parallel.  The court of 
appeals’ holding—that respondents may proceed to dis-
covery, even if their allegations “are susceptible to an 
equally likely interpretation” of parallel conduct—
cannot be reconciled with either Twombly or the deci-
sions of other circuits.  The importance of Twombly’s 
bar on pleadings that are “merely consistent with” col-
lusion is confirmed by the Court’s grant of review in 
Visa, Inc. v. Osborn, No. 15-961, which is likely to ad-
dress related issues. 

Both questions presented are exceedingly im-
portant to antitrust law and the global economy.  The 
legal issues go to the fundamental limits of antitrust 
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law.  As a practical matter, the Second Circuit’s deci-
sion may cast doubt on the process of setting USD LI-
BOR, which has been called “the world’s most im-
portant number” because of its widespread use in the 
global financial system.  Moreover, treble-damages 
judgments here (and in similar pending cases likely to 
be controlled by the decision below) could be astronom-
ical—the court of appeals suggested that such a judg-
ment could “bankrupt 16 of the world’s most important 
financial institutions and vastly extend the potential 
scope of antitrust liability in myriad markets.”  Review 
is therefore warranted. 

OPINIONS BELOW 

The court of appeals’ opinion (App. 1a-39a) is re-
ported at 823 F.3d 759.  The district court’s decision 
(App. 41a-169a) is reported at 935 F. Supp. 2d 666. 

JURISDICTION 

The court of appeals entered judgment on May 23, 
2016.  App. 1a.  On August 8, 2016, Justice Ginsburg ex-
tended the time for filing a petition for certiorari to 
September 20, 2016.  On September 13, 2016, Justice 
Ginsburg further extended the deadline to October 20, 
2016.  This Court has jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. 
§ 1254(1). 

STATUTES INVOLVED 

Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1, pro-
vides: 

Every contract, combination in the form of 
trust or otherwise, or conspiracy, in restraint of 
trade or commerce among the several States, 
or with foreign nations, is declared to be illegal. 
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Section 4 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 15(a), pro-
vides: 

[A]ny person who shall be injured in his busi-
ness or property by reason of anything forbid-
den in the antitrust laws may sue therefor … 
and shall recover threefold the damages by him 
sustained, and the cost of suit, including a rea-
sonable attorney’s fee. 

STATEMENT 

A. The Non-Competitive Process of Setting USD 
LIBOR 

Petitioners1 are financial institutions, including cur-
rent and former members of the British Bankers’ Asso-
ciation (“BBA”), a London-based trade association that 
administered the London Interbank Offered Rate, or 
LIBOR, for various currencies.  This case relates to 
U.S. Dollar (“USD”) LIBOR.  See App. 3a-5a. 

USD LIBOR is a set of benchmark rates referenced 
in financial transactions.  During the relevant period, 
USD LIBOR was calculated each business day in vari-
ous maturities or “tenors” (such as 1-month, 3-month, 
and 6-month) based on individual submissions from 16 
designated USD LIBOR panel banks.  Each panel bank 
agreed to follow the procedures set by the BBA for 
making USD LIBOR submissions.  See App. 4a-5a, 45a-
47a. 

                                                 
1 Certain petitioners have moved in certain cases in the dis-

trict court (as to which they are not petitioning) for dismissal of all 
claims against them for lack of personal jurisdiction.  For the 
avoidance of doubt, petitioners continue to assert their personal 
jurisdiction defenses notwithstanding the filing of this petition. 
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The submission process operated as follows:  Each 
day, at 11:00 a.m. London time, each panel bank report-
ed its estimates of the rates at which it believed it could 
borrow U.S. Dollars in a “reasonable market size” (i.e., 
a typical transaction) in various tenors from other 
banks in the London market.  See App. 4a-5a.  The re-
sponses to that hypothetical question were compiled 
and published by Thomson Reuters.  The published 
rate for a given day was the average of the middle eight 
submissions.  See id. 

As respondents conceded before the district court, 
“the process of setting LIBOR was never intended to 
be competitive.”  App. 66a.  Panel banks did not com-
pete over USD LIBOR, and USD LIBOR submissions 
were not considered bids or quotes on any market.  
USD LIBOR itself was not and is not traded.  See App. 
65a-66a, 72a; see also App. 129a-131a (discussing differ-
ence between USD LIBOR and Eurodollar futures con-
tract).   

Rather, USD LIBOR serves as a common reference 
that facilitates a global market in financial instruments.  
For example, a loan product might bear an interest rate 
of “LIBOR plus x.”  The availability of a single refer-
ence rate, set at a certain fixed time and place each day, 
makes it easier to complete financial transactions, par-
ticularly transactions with a floating term.  LIBOR is 
“the primary benchmark for short term interest rates 
globally.”  App. 47a. 

Regardless of how USD LIBOR was set, the actual 
price terms for financial instruments remained fully 
subject to market competition.  As the court of appeals 
acknowledged, “[a]lthough LIBOR [was] set jointly, 
the Banks remained horizontal competitors in the sale 
of financial instruments,” including instruments refer-
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encing USD LIBOR, and parties “remained free to ne-
gotiate the interest rates attached to [such] financial 
instruments.”  App. 5a, 19a. 

B. Respondents’ Allegations Of A Conspiracy To 
Manipulate USD LIBOR 

Respondents claim to be purchasers of financial in-
struments that refer to or are somehow affected by 
USD LIBOR.  See App. 3a.  They allege that, between 
August 2007 and December 2010, the panel banks con-
spired to manipulate USD LIBOR in violation of Sec-
tion 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1.   

In particular, respondents allege that, despite panel 
rules requiring independent submissions by each panel 
bank, the banks colluded with one another to make 
lower submissions than they would have made inde-
pendently, thereby depressing USD LIBOR.  See App. 
6a.  Respondents do not allege the occurrence of any 
meeting or any express agreement among the banks.  
Rather, they attempt to support their conspiracy theo-
ry with three kinds of circumstantial evidence. 

First, respondents assert that the banks had finan-
cial and reputational motives to report artificially low 
borrowing rates.  App. 37a.  As for the supposed finan-
cial motive, respondents argue that lower USD LIBOR 
benefitted panel banks financially by decreasing their 
interest rates on transactions where the banks were 
borrowers—even though the same banks were also 
lenders on other transactions, and thus would have 
been financially harmed by lower rates, see App. 39a.  
As to reputation, the banks allegedly wished to project 
financial strength by claiming that they could borrow at 
low rates.  But that alleged motive does little to sug-
gest collusion as opposed to unilateral conduct, because 
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each bank “‘had the same motive (namely, to protect its 
own reputation for creditworthiness) to engage inde-
pendently in the same misconduct.’”  App. 34a-35a.   

Second, respondents cite statistical studies purport-
ing to show that, during the relevant period, USD LI-
BOR was artificially low.  App. 7a.  But most of those 
studies took no position on whether that phenomenon 
was due to independent conduct or collusion.  And the 
sole study that did so purported to show increased var-
iation in the banks’ USD LIBOR submissions—i.e., less 
clustering of submissions around some ostensible com-
mon target—during the period when the banks were 
allegedly conspiring, which indicates that the banks 
were acting independently rather than cooperating.  
See CAJA411-414.   

Third, the “vast majority” of respondents’ allega-
tions of conspiracy are based on government settle-
ments.  App. 6a-7a.  None of those settlements, howev-
er, describes any agreement among panel banks to de-
press USD LIBOR.  Some of the cited settlements did 
not even involve USD LIBOR (which is the only 
benchmark at issue in this case), but rather involved 
different rates that were set by different panels of 
banks using different processes.2  Those settlements 
that do discuss USD LIBOR describe two categories of 
reported conduct:  First, sporadic attempts by certain 
traders at certain banks to move certain specific USD 
LIBOR submissions up or down on particular dates in 
order to benefit their trading positions, and second, ar-
tificially low submissions by some banks that were 

                                                 
2 For example, the RBS settlement noted by the court of ap-

peals, App. 7a n.5, describes misconduct related to Yen and Swiss 
Franc LIBOR, not USD LIBOR.  See Stmt. of Facts, No. 13 Cr. 
74, Dkt. No. 5-1 (D. Conn. Apr. 12, 2013).     
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made unilaterally due to reputational concerns in the 
midst of the financial crisis.3  Neither of these supports 
the “global conspiracy” alleged by respondents, e.g., 
OTC SAC ¶2, Dist Ct. Dkt. No. 406.  

C. Proceedings Below 

1. Respondents brought dozens of actions, includ-
ing numerous class actions, asserting various theories 
of liability against petitioners based on the alleged con-
spiracy to lower USD LIBOR.  The complaints allege 
that the manipulation of USD LIBOR affected an array 
of financial transactions, including over-the-counter in-
terest rate swaps, debt securities, and Eurodollar fu-
tures contracts.  In many instances, respondents did 
not contract with any of the panel banks, and in some 
they did not even purchase an instrument that directly 
incorporated USD LIBOR.  App. 48a-59a.  The common 
thread is that respondents all assert claims under Sec-
tion 1 of the Sherman Act, based on the theory that the 
alleged manipulation of USD LIBOR caused them to 
lose money.  App. 45a n.2.  Respondents’ actions were 
consolidated in the Southern District of New York.   

The district court dismissed respondents’ antitrust 
claims, ruling that they had failed to allege antitrust 
injury—i.e., an injury that “‘stems from a competition-
reducing aspect or effect of the defendant’s behavior.’”  
App. 63a (quoting ARCO, 495 U.S. at 344).  The district 
court observed that USD LIBOR-setting “was a coop-
erative endeavor wherein otherwise-competing banks 

                                                 
3 The Barclays settlements are illustrative.  See CAJA435-

442, 461-465, 510-519 (sporadic requests by certain traders for high 
or low USD LIBOR submissions to benefit their trading posi-
tions); CAJA445-452, 473-479, 523-531 (low USD LIBOR submis-
sions due to reputational concerns during the financial crisis).   
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agreed to submit estimates of their borrowing costs … 
to facilitate the BBA’s calculation of an interest rate 
index.”  App. 66a.  Thus, respondents’ alleged injuries 
did not flow from any impairment of the competitive 
process: 

[E]ven if … defendants subverted this coopera-
tive process by conspiring to submit artificial 
estimates …, it would not follow that plaintiffs 
have suffered antitrust injury.  Plaintiffs’ inju-
ry would have resulted from defendants’ mis-
representation, not from harm to competition. 

Id.   

The district court explained further that respond-
ents had not alleged any restraint in the market for fi-
nancial instruments or interbank loans, and that any 
effect on those markets in any event did not flow from 
“a failure of defendants to compete where they other-
wise would have.”  App. 68a.  Rather, respondents’ 
supposed injuries all flowed from “alleged collusion … 
in an arena in which defendants never did and never 
were intended to compete.”  Id.  Likening respondents’ 
alleged injury to those held insufficient in ARCO and 
Brunswick Corp. v. Pueblo Bowl-O-Mat, Inc., 429 U.S. 
477 (1977), the court explained that “collusion among 
defendants would not have allowed them to do anything 
that they could not have done” under normal competi-
tive conditions.  App. 71a-72a. 

2. The court of appeals reversed, holding that re-
spondents had stated a claim for a violation of Section 1 
of the Sherman Act.  App. 15a-28a.   

The court first held that respondents had pleaded a 
per se violation of the antitrust laws.  The court read 
the complaints to allege that USD LIBOR is “‘an insep-
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arable part of the price’” of financial transactions, and 
so “the claim is one of price-fixing.”  App. 15a.  Relying 
mainly on Catalano, Inc. v. Target Sales, Inc., 446 U.S. 
643 (1980) (per curiam) and United States v. Socony-
Vacuum Oil Co., 310 U.S. 150 (1940), the court rea-
soned that USD LIBOR “forms a component of the re-
turn from various LIBOR-denominated financial in-
struments, and the fixing of a component of price vio-
lates the antitrust laws.”  App. 15a.   

The court reached that conclusion even though, as it 
acknowledged elsewhere in its decision, the banks con-
tinued to compete with one another in the actual mar-
ket for financial products and transactions that might 
incorporate USD LIBOR, App. 5a, 19a, and even 
though any relationship between USD LIBOR and the 
“price” of the complex financial instruments respond-
ents traded was highly attenuated at best.  And the 
court never addressed the crucial point that distin-
guishes this case from Catalano and Socony:  In those 
cases, the defendants suppressed preexisting competi-
tion over a particular price component, whereas here, 
the supposed price component was never subject to any 
competitive process.  

The court next concluded that respondents had 
pleaded antitrust injury.  Generally, the court ob-
served, “when consumers, because of a conspiracy, 
must pay prices that no longer reflect ordinary market 
conditions, they suffer ‘injury of the type the antitrust 
laws were intended to prevent.’”  App. 18a (quoting 
Brunswick, 429 U.S. at 489).  Reiterating its conclusion 
that respondents had alleged per se unlawful price-
fixing, the court held that respondents’ injury flowed 
from the alleged conspiracy because respondents “got 
less for their money” as a result of USD LIBOR’s sup-
pression.  App. 22a.  The court rejected as irrelevant 
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that “the LIBOR-setting process was a ‘cooperative 
endeavor,’” App. 23a; in its view, respondents’ antitrust 
injury “flow[ed] from the corruption of the rate-setting 
process.”  Id.  Again, the court did not explain how 
“corruption” of a non-competitive process could consti-
tute a restraint on competition in any market. 

Finally, the court rejected petitioners’ argument 
that respondents had failed to plead an agreement 
among the banks to depress LIBOR, as opposed to (at 
most) independent parallel conduct with that effect.  
App. 34a-38a.  The court acknowledged petitioners’ ar-
gument that “the ‘pack’ behavior described in the com-
plaints is equally consistent with parallelism.”  App. 
38a.  “Maybe,” the court stated, “but at the motion‐to‐
dismiss stage, [respondents] must only put forth suffi-
cient factual matter to plausibly suggest an inference of 
conspiracy, even if the facts are susceptible to an equal-
ly likely interpretation” of lawful parallelism.  Id.  

REASONS FOR GRANTING THE PETITION  

I. THE COURT OF APPEALS CONTRAVENED THIS COURT’S 

DECISIONS BY ALLOWING ANTITRUST CLAIMS THAT 

ARE NOT BASED ON RESTRAINTS ON ANY COMPETI-

TIVE PROCESS 

The court of appeals allowed respondents’ antitrust 
claim to go forward even though the LIBOR-setting 
process was never a competitive one.  That decision 
conflicts with fundamental teachings of this Court’s an-
titrust decisions:  The purpose of the Sherman Act is to 
protect competition, not to serve as a code of good 
business behavior, and the antitrust laws are not vio-
lated unless competition is restrained.  Where “the 
competitive process itself does not suffer harm,” there 
is no violation of the Sherman Act.  NYNEX Corp. v. 
Discon, Inc., 525 U.S. 128, 137 (1998); see also Apex 
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Hosiery Co. v. Leader, 310 U.S. 469, 495 (1940) (“[T]his 
Court has never applied the Sherman Act in any case 
… unless … there was some form of restraint upon 
commercial competition ….”); Board of Trade City of 
Chi. v. United States, 246 U.S. 231, 238 (1918) (“The 
true test of legality is whether the restraint imposed … 
is such as may suppress or even destroy competition.”).  
Moreover, consistent with that basic principle, private 
plaintiffs may not bring suit under the antitrust laws 
unless their alleged injuries flow from a “competition-
reducing aspect or effect” of the asserted misconduct.  
Atlantic Richfield Co. v. USA Petroleum Co., 495 U.S. 
328, 344 (1990) (“ARCO”). 

The court of appeals never analyzed whether the 
conduct alleged here involved any restraint on competi-
tion.  Instead, it simply assumed as much, relying on 
respondents’ labelling of their claim as “price fixing” as 
well as per se illegal price-fixing cases that involved col-
lusion where there had once been competition.  But re-
spondents’ label cannot obscure what respondents 
themselves have conceded:  The process of setting USD 
LIBOR never involved competition; banks have never 
offered their own competing LIBORs or competed over 
the level of LIBOR.  The Sherman Act does not apply 
to conduct that impairs no competitive process.  By dis-
regarding that principle, the panel departed from this 
Court’s decisions and extended antitrust law beyond its 
proper domain.    

A. The Decision Below Contravenes This 
Court’s Decisions Holding That Only Impair-
ments Of Competition Violate The Antitrust 
Laws  

1. The Sherman Act prohibits only “restraints of 
trade” that impair or suppress some competitive pro-
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cess.  See, e.g., NYNEX, 525 U.S. at 136-137.  The prin-
ciple that the antitrust laws reach only conduct that 
impairs competition, not other business misconduct, 
pervades this Court’s Sherman Act decisions.  See, e.g., 
Brooke Grp. Ltd. v. Brown & Williamson Tobacco 
Corp., 509 U.S. 209, 251 (1993) (purpose of Sherman and 
Clayton Acts is “protecting competition”); United 
States v. Colgate Co., 250 U.S. 300, 307 (1919) (“The 
purpose of the Sherman Act is to prohibit monopolies, 
contracts and combinations which … interfere with the 
free exercise of their rights by those engaged, or who 
wish to engage, in trade and commerce—in a word to 
preserve the right of freedom to trade.”); see also, e.g., 
Associated Gen. Contractors, Inc. v. California State 
Council of Carpenters, 459 U.S. 519, 535-538 (1983) 
(“AGC”) (Act’s “central interest i[s] protecting the eco-
nomic freedom of participants in the relevant market”).  

2. The court of appeals never examined whether 
alleged collusion in the USD LIBOR-setting process 
restrained any preexisting competition, even though 
the district court’s analysis was based on its recognition 
that this process was never competitive.  App. 65a-74a.  
Rather, for the court of appeals, the analysis began and 
ended with respondents’ description of the alleged mis-
conduct as per se unlawful horizontal price-fixing:  
“Since appellants allege that the LIBOR ‘must be char-
acterized as an inseparable part of the price,’ and since 
we must accept that allegation as true for present pur-
poses, the claim is one of price-fixing.”  App. 15a.  

But the decisions cited by the court of appeals show 
why this case is fundamentally different from per se un-
lawful price-fixing:  Each one involved competitors who 
began colluding where they had once competed.  For 
instance, the court relied heavily on this Court’s Socony 
decision, which involved horizontal collusion to fix a 
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base component of wholesale gasoline prices.  United 
States v. Socony-Vacuum Oil Co., 310 U.S. 150, 216 
(1940).  In Socony, horizontal competitors in the whole-
sale market initially competed to purchase their gaso-
line in so-called “spot” markets, and average spot-
market prices were used as an industry benchmark.  
These competitors colluded in the spot markets, driving 
spot market supply down and spot prices up.  Id. at 167-
168.  “[R]educ[ing] the play of the forces of supply and 
demand” in the spot markets was thus the crux of the 
scheme.  Id. at 220.   

Similarly, Catalano, another price-component case 
on which the court heavily relied, undisputedly in-
volved the suppression of competition.  Before the 
agreement at issue, “wholesalers had competed with 
each other with respect to trade credit,” but “[a]fter 
entering into the agreement, [they] uniformly refused 
to extend any credit at all.”  Catalano, Inc. v. Target 
Sales, Inc., 446 U.S. 643, 644-645 (1980) (per curiam).  
Fixing this credit component of price, previously set by 
competition, was obviously per se unlawful; the only is-
sue was whether respondents could argue that their 
conduct was “harmless” notwithstanding the “virtually 
self-evident” per se violation.  Id. at 648-649.  The deci-
sion in Blue Shield of Virginia v. McCready, 457 U.S. 
465 (1982) (cited at App. 21a-22a), also involved the ob-
vious suppression of competition—a collective boycott 
of psychologists by health insurers.  Id. at 468-469, 483.  
And Plymouth Dealers’ Association of Northern Cali-
fornia v. United States, 279 F.2d 128 (9th Cir. 1960) 
(cited at App. 16a), involved a uniform price list agreed 
to by car dealers that operated as a “boundary” on 
prices in the retail car market.  Id. at 134. 

Those decisions required the impairment of some 
competitive process even though they involved alleged 
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per se unlawful conduct.  When a plaintiff properly al-
leges a per se unlawful restraint of trade, such as price-
fixing between competitors, courts are allowed to as-
sume that such restraints have anticompetitive effects, 
because judicial experience has proven as much.  See 
Arizona v. Maricopa Cty. Med. Soc’y, 457 U.S. 332, 345 
(1982) (“The aim and result of every price-fixing 
agreement … is the elimination of one form of competi-
tion.”); United States v. Joint-Traffic Ass’n, 171 U.S. 
505, 565 (1898) (“The natural, direct, and necessary ef-
fect of … the [price-fixing] agreement is to prevent any 
competition whatever between the parties to it.”).  But 
that principle does not authorize courts to presume the 
existence of a per se unlawful restraint of trade itself, 
which is what the court of appeals did here.  See, e.g., 
NYNEX, 525 U.S. 136-137; see also infra Part I.A.3. 

The court of appeals also invoked cases (at App. 
24a) holding that the manipulation of cooperative pro-
cesses to suppress competition can violate the Sherman 
Act.  But in those cases, too, the alleged conspirators 
used a cooperative process as a means to suppress 
competition in which they would have otherwise en-
gaged.  See, e.g., Allied Tube & Conduit Corp. v. Indian 
Head, Inc., 486 U.S. 492, 507 (1988) (members of trade 
association entered an “implicit agreement not to trade 
in [a particular] type of electrical conduit”); cf. Maple 
Flooring Mfrs.’ Ass’n v. United States, 268 U.S. 563, 
586 (1925) (association members who discussed indus-
try “without however reaching or attempting to reach 
any agreement … restraining competition, d[id] not 
thereby engage in unlawful restraint of commerce”).  
Here, in sharp contrast, the panel banks never compet-
ed regarding USD LIBOR, and they continued to en-
gage in vigorous competition in the market for financial 
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transactions.  No competition was restrained by their 
actions.4   

Labeling USD LIBOR a “price” or a “component of 
price” does not obviate the inquiry into whether its al-
leged manipulation impaired existing competition.  The 
court mistakenly thought itself bound to accept plain-
tiffs’ characterization as true, App. 15a, but a “price” in 
the antitrust sense is properly labeled as such only 
when “fixing” it “eliminat[es] one form of competition,” 
Arizona, 457 U.S. at 345; see also Texaco Inc. v. 
Dagher, 547 U.S. 1, 6 (2006) (distinguishing between 
“price fixing in a literal sense” and “in the antitrust 
sense”).  Respondents contend only that USD LIBOR 
was set improperly—not that any competition was ever 
eliminated.  Moreover, treating the alleged manipula-
tion of USD LIBOR as per se unlawful fixing of a 
“price” would be proper only if the anticompetitive 
economic impact of supposed LIBOR manipulation was 
“immediately obvious” (as it is in real cases of horizon-
tal price-fixing).  Leegin Creative Leather Prods., Inc. 
v. PSKS, Inc., 551 U.S. 877, 887 (2007).  But here re-
spondents have proceeded exclusively on their per se 

                                                 
4 Allied Tube further notes that alleged abuse of cooperative 

processes should not be analyzed under the per se rule, 486 U.S. at 
501, which further undermines the court of appeals’ mechanical 
invocation of that rule in this case.  See Broadcast Music, Inc. v. 
Columbia Broad. Sys., Inc., 441 U.S. 1, 23 (1979) (“[C]ooperative 
arrangements are ... not usually unlawful, at least not as price-
fixing schemes.”); SD3, LLC v. Black & Decker, 801 F.3d 412, 436 
(4th Cir. 2015) (rejecting antitrust claims relating to standard-
setting activity and noting that the “few cases” finding antitrust 
liability in that context all involved some “market-closing effect”), 
cert. denied, 136 S. Ct. 2485 (2016); cf. Texaco Inc. v. Dagher, 547 
U.S. 1, 7-8 (2006) (“[I]t would be inconsistent with this Court’s an-
titrust precedents to condemn the internal pricing decisions of a 
legitimate joint venture as per se unlawful.”). 
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theory even though the supposed link between LIBOR 
and the actual “price” of traded financial products is, at 
most, highly attenuated.5   

By mistakenly labeling the USD LIBOR rate an 
obvious component of “price” and then jumping to treat 
this as a per se case, the court of appeals elided the rel-
evant inquiry—whether respondents ever alleged a re-
straint on any competitive process—and overlooked 
respondents’ failure to do so.  The court’s conflation of 
this case with inapposite per se price-fixing cases like 
Socony led it astray.   

3. Had the Second Circuit followed this Court’s 
precedents, it would have dismissed respondents’ 
claims for want of any allegation that the banks re-
strained preexisting competition.  See, e.g., NYNEX, 
525 U.S. at 135-137.   

It is undisputed that “the process of setting [USD] 
LIBOR was never intended to be competitive.”  App. 
66a.  USD LIBOR was set through a hypothetical exer-
cise that was distinct from the market-based “play of 
the forces of supply and demand” that are antitrust 
law’s purview.  Socony, 310 U.S. at 220.  Moreover, as 

                                                 
5 In other words, even if LIBOR manipulation could be con-

sidered a restraint of trade, it would be one whose economic ef-
fects are counterintuitive, complex, and novel to the courts.  Con-
sider, for example, a simple floating rate bond that will pay an in-
terest rate of LIBOR plus a competitively determined margin of 
x%.  The “price” of the bond, which fluctuates on the market, re-
flects a host of factors unrelated to LIBOR, including the discount 
rate used to determine the present value of the expected cash 
flow, supply and demand, age-to-maturity, and credit ratings.  
Whether or not allegedly lower LIBOR would have had any effect 
on market price or total bond returns in a competitive market is 
far from obvious.  And any link is even less obvious for the much 
more complex types of financial transactions at issue in this case. 
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the court of appeals acknowledged, in the actual market 
for financial products, including products referencing 
LIBOR, “the [b]anks remained horizontal competitors,” 
and the parties “remained free to negotiate the interest 
rates attached to particular financial instruments.”  
App. 5a, 19a.  Because USD LIBOR was never set 
through a competitive process to begin with, any al-
leged deviation from the normal submissions process—
whether or not actionable under some other legal theo-
ry—did not restrain or impair competition.  Whatever 
harm respondents may have suffered, they alleged no 
violation of the antitrust laws. 

That was this Court’s conclusion in NYNEX, a case 
that also involved assertions of per se unlawful conduct 
and deception, and supposed consumer price effects.  
There, a phone company allegedly set up a kickback 
scheme:  The company switched to a higher-cost ven-
dor, passed on the increased costs to consumers, and 
then issued a rebate to the new vendor that was fun-
neled back to the company.  525 U.S. at 131-132.  This 
Court explained that the allegations in NYNEX—a 
competing vendor lost business due to an asserted per 
se unlawful boycott, the scheme increased rates for 
consumers, and the company deceived regulators who 
approved the rates—were insufficient to establish an 
antitrust violation without some “harm … to the com-
petitive process, i.e., to competition itself.”  525 U.S. at 
133-137.  Whatever injuries may have resulted for con-
sumers or regulators or competitors in NYNEX, they 
did not “naturally flow[]” from the market being ren-
dered “less competitive.”  Id. at 136.  Here, as in 
NYNEX, the absence of any reduction in preexisting 
competition is dispositive. 

The fact that “per se violations … are presumed il-
legal,” App. 25a, did not deter this Court in NYNEX 
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from rejecting conclusory assertions of per se unlawful 
misconduct.  Rather, recognizing that the alleged kick-
backs and deception did not create “a less competitive 
market,” this Court refused to allow assertions of per se 
unlawfulness to “transform cases involving business 
behavior that is [allegedly] improper … into treble-
damages antitrust cases” where “the competitive pro-
cess itself does not suffer harm.”  525 U.S. 136-137; cf. 
Dagher, 547 U.S. at 6 (no per se rule where joint pricing 
policy was “not a pricing agreement between compet-
ing entities with respect to their competing products”).   

The Second Circuit’s decision also conflicts with de-
cisions of other courts of appeals that have rejected an-
titrust liability premised on conduct that does not re-
strain competition.  For example, Rambus Inc. v. FTC, 
522 F.3d 456 (D.C. Cir. 2008), involved a company’s al-
leged use of deception to evade a price cap and increase 
consumer prices.  The FTC alleged that Rambus made 
submissions to a standard-setting body without disclos-
ing that it had patents in some of the standards under 
consideration.  Id. at 459-462.  The FTC found an anti-
trust violation, but the D.C. Circuit reversed, explain-
ing that Rambus’s alleged deception did not violate the 
antitrust laws because it did not “inflict[] any harm on 
competition.”  Id. at 467.  The court acknowledged that 
Rambus’s scheme had “enabl[ed] a monopolist to 
charge higher prices than it otherwise could have 
charged,” but concluded that Rambus’s “end-run 
around price constraints, even when deceptive or 
fraudulent,” did not involve any reduction in the level 
of competition in the market.  Id. at 459, 466 (discussing 
NYNEX).   

In Rambus as in NYNEX, the fact that some people 
“got less for their money,” App. 22a, as a result of the 
conduct at issue was irrelevant to whether the anti-
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trust laws had been violated.  The dispositive issue was 
that no restraint was imposed on the competitive pro-
cess.  The decision here cannot be reconciled with the 
D.C. Circuit’s decision in Rambus, or with similar deci-
sions from other courts of appeals.6 

4. The court of appeals’ articulation of the com-
petitive harm in this case reveals how far it strayed be-
yond the limits of antitrust law. 

In the court’s view, the essence of the competitive 
harm here was an alleged “warping” or “corruption of 
the rate-setting process.”  App. 23a, 25a.  The court ap-
peared to conclude that nothing beyond this “corrup-
tion” needed to be pleaded; “the crucial allegation is 
that the Banks circumvented the LIBOR setting rules, 
and th[e] joint [LIBOR-setting] process thus turned 
into collusion.”  App. 24a.   

But not all collusion or “corruption” is a violation of 
the antitrust laws; only collusion that impairs competi-
tion is.  See, e.g., NYNEX, 525 U.S. at 135-136; Brooke 
Grp., 509 U.S. at 225 (antitrust laws “do not create a 
federal law of unfair competition or ‘purport to afford 
remedies for all torts committed by or against persons 
engaged in interstate commerce.’” (quoting Hunt v. 
                                                 

6 See also, e.g., Forsyth v. Humana, Inc., 114 F.3d 1467, 1477-
1478 (9th Cir. 1997) (dismissing claim where insurers’ alleged kick-
back scheme raised rates, but plaintiff did “not explain how the 
scheme reduced competition in the relevant market”), aff’d on oth-
er grounds, 525 U.S. 299 (1999); Schuylkill Energy Res., Inc. v. 
Pennsylvania Power & Light Co., 113 F.3d 405, 414 (3d Cir. 1997) 
(where rates were set by public commission and “not the market,” 
complaints about “artificially high” rates were “not within the 
purview of the antitrust laws”); Schachar v. American Acad. of 
Ophthalmology, Inc., 870 F.2d 397, 400 (7th Cir. 1989) (dismissing 
alleged conspiracy because even if defendant’s “statements should 
be false or misleading …, the remedy is not antitrust litigation”). 
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Crumboch, 325 U.S. 821, 826 (1945)).  And the court of 
appeals never explained how the alleged misconduct 
here, which occurred in a process that was never com-
petitive (or meant to be competitive) in the first place, 
could have limited competition.  As the result here 
shows, the court’s “corruption” formulation permits an-
titrust claims where there is no impairment of competi-
tion at all.   

B. The Decision Below Also Contravenes The 
Rule That An Antitrust Plaintiff Must Plead 
Injury Flowing From Reduced Competition 

Even if an antitrust plaintiff pleads an actual re-
straint of trade (which respondents did not), that is not 
enough.  The plaintiff’s injury must also stem from the 
“competition-reducing aspect or effect of the defend-
ant’s behavior.”  ARCO, 495 U.S. at 344.  Without alleg-
ing such an antitrust injury—that is, an injury flowing 
from reduced competition—a plaintiff has no standing 
to seek damages under the antitrust laws.  See id. at 
334, 342; Brunswick Corp. v. Pueblo Bowl-o-Mat, Inc., 
429 U.S. 477, 489 (1977).  “[E]ven in cases involving per 
se violations,” plaintiffs are “still required to show that 
the conspiracy caused them an injury for which the an-
titrust laws provide relief.”  ARCO, 495 U.S. at 344-345 
(quotation marks and italics omitted); see also, e.g., 
AGC, 459 U.S. at 529.   

Unlike the court of appeals, the district court cor-
rectly followed this Court’s precedents.  The district 
court recognized that respondents had alleged no im-
pairment of competition based on LIBOR-related cor-
ruption or misrepresentations because USD LIBOR-
setting was never a competitive process to begin with.  
App. 66a-68a.  Accordingly, it held that respondents 
had asserted no loss or injury flowing from some “com-
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petition-reducing” aspect of the banks’ alleged conduct, 
ARCO, 495 U.S. at 344.  App. 66a-74a.   

The court of appeals’ ruling on antitrust injury, by 
contrast, relieved respondents of their obligation to 
plead a loss stemming from reduced competition.  That 
error followed directly from—and must therefore fall 
with—the court’s mistaken conclusion that respondents 
had properly pleaded a violation of Section 1 merely by 
calling their claim a price-fixing claim.  See App. 28a 
(“[A]ppellants are consumers claiming injury from a 
horizontal price-fixing conspiracy.  They have accord-
ingly plausibly alleged antitrust injury.”).  Indeed, the 
court’s reliance on its per se price-fixing framework in 
assessing antitrust standing was particularly improper 
because the per se rule does not relieve plaintiffs of 
their independent obligation to show that their alleged 
injury flows from some anticompetitive aspect of the 
allegedly unlawful restraint.  ARCO, 495 U.S. at 344-
345.   

The court of appeals reasoned that respondents had 
pleaded antitrust injury because consumers allegedly 
“got less for their money” and had to “pay prices that 
no longer reflect[ed] ordinary market conditions,” leav-
ing them in a “worse position” financially than they 
would have been if USD LIBOR had been higher.  App. 
18a, 22a, 23a.  But this Court has rejected the notion 
that a plaintiff can establish antitrust injury merely by 
claiming that it would have been wealthier but for a de-
fendant’s alleged misconduct.  See Brunswick, 429 U.S. 
at 488 (“[W]hile respondents’ loss occurred ‘by reason 
of’ the unlawful acquisitions, it did not occur ‘by reason 
of’ that which made the acquisitions unlawful.”); see al-
so, e.g., Cargill, Inc. v. Monfort of Colo., Inc., 479 U.S. 
104, 115 (1986) (“The loss of profits to the competitors 
in Brunswick was not of concern under the antitrust 
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laws, since it resulted only from continued competi-
tion.”).7  That respondents allegedly “got less for their 
money” in various financial transactions says nothing 
about whether that injury occurred (if at all) as a result 
of the reduction of competition in some separate mar-
ket.  See NYNEX, 525 U.S. at 133-137 (higher consum-
er prices not relevant to whether competition had been 
reduced); see also, e.g., Brooke Grp., 509 U.S. at 224 
(“That below-cost pricing may impose painful losses on 
its target is of no moment to the antitrust laws if com-
petition is not injured.”). 

Outside the Second Circuit, courts of appeals have 
uniformly recognized that a plaintiff cannot establish 
antitrust injury where, as here, supposed financial loss-
es stem from alleged misrepresentations, frauds, or 
rules infractions, rather than the suppression of compe-
tition.  See, e.g., Novell, Inc. v. Microsoft Corp., 731 F.3d 
1064, 1080 (10th Cir. 2013) (“[T]he conduct Novell com-
plains about (deception) is divorced from the conduct 
that allegedly caused harm to it and to consumers (the 
refusal to deal).”); Bassett v. NCAA, 528 F.3d 426, 434 
(6th Cir. 2008) (“[A]ppellant’s injury, … was the result 
of [NCAA] rules violations.”); McDonald v. Johnson & 
Johnson, 722 F.2d 1370, 1377 (8th Cir. 1983) (“The inju-
ries to the plaintiffs flowed from the alleged fraud and 
breach of contract, not from suppressed competition.”); 
Turner v. Johnson & Johnson, 809 F.2d 90, 102 (1st Cir. 

                                                 
7 The court of appeals dismissed Brunswick and ARCO as 

standing “[a]t most … for the proposition that competitors who 
complain of low fixed prices do not suffer antitrust injury.”  App. 
27a.  But the antitrust-injury requirement is broader, and is not 
satisfied when a plaintiff’s claimed losses result from “continued 
competition,” rather than some impairment of competition.  See, 
e.g., Cargill, 479 U.S. at 115. 
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1986) (“The alleged injury … flowed from the alleged 
fraud and not from suppressed competition.”). 

Under this Court’s cases, the result here should 
have been the same.  Respondents’ supposed injury 
does not “stem[] from a competition-reducing aspect,” 
ARCO, 495 U.S. at 344, of alleged corruption in the 
USD LIBOR submission process because that process 
was admittedly never competitive, and cannot be as-
sumed as such for antitrust-injury purposes.  And it 
does not “stem[] from a competition-reducing … ef-
fect,” id., of such supposed corruption because competi-
tion in the financial products market was never im-
paired, see App. 5a, 19a.   

Just as the substantive reach of the Sherman Act is 
limited to restraints on the competitive process, see, 
e.g., NYNEX, 525 U.S. at 136; Brooke Grp., 509 U.S. at 
225, so too is the scope of injuries that may be remedied 
by Sherman Act claims, see, e.g., Brunswick, 429 U.S. 
at 488.  Where a defendant’s alleged conduct does noth-
ing to restrain competition—and a plaintiff’s losses thus 
cannot flow from any such restraint—the antitrust laws 
are not implicated.  The Second Circuit’s contrary deci-
sion warrants review. 

II. THE COURT OF APPEALS’ NEW ANTITRUST CONSPIRA-

CY PLEADING STANDARD CONFLICTS WITH TWOMBLY 

AND CREATES A CIRCUIT SPLIT 

The court of appeals’ decision also warrants review 
because it departed from the standard set by this Court 
in Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly for pleading anti-
trust conspiracies.  Under Twombly, allegations that 
are “merely consistent with” an antitrust conspiracy—
allegations of “parallel conduct that could just as well 
be independent action”—are insufficient.  550 U.S. 544, 
557 (2007).  Yet the Second Circuit applied a fundamen-
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tally inconsistent rule, and created a circuit split, by 
holding that respondents could proceed to discovery by 
pleading facts “susceptible to an equally likely interpre-
tation” of lawful parallelism.  App. 38a.  This Court 
should resolve the split created by the Second Circuit’s 
decision.  At the very least, it should hold this petition 
pending a decision in Visa v. Osborn, which is likely to 
delve into related issues. 

A. Twombly involved an alleged nationwide con-
spiracy by incumbent regional telephone companies 
(the “ILECs”) to divide territory and suppress new 
competition.  550 U.S. at 549-550.  As in this case, the 
allegations drew entirely on circumstantial evidence.  
Id. at 551.  The district court dismissed the complaint 
as supporting only consciously parallel behavior, and 
the Second Circuit reinstated the claim.  Reversing, 
this Court held that it is insufficient, in the antitrust 
context, to plead parallel conduct that is equally con-
sistent with both an antitrust conspiracy and other pos-
sible explanations.   

Twombly represented a straightforward applica-
tion of this Court’s antitrust precedents.  This Court 
had already rejected the use, at summary judgment 
and trial, of standards of proof that were “consistent 
with conspiracy, but just as much in line with a wide 
swath of rational and competitive business strategy.”  
550 U.S. at 554 (emphasis added) (citing Monsanto Co. 
v. Spray-Rite Serv. Corp., 465 U.S. 752 (1984), and 
Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Corp., 475 
U.S. 574 (1986)).  Twombly applied to the pleading 
stage the lessons of experience about the “false infer-
ences” of conspiracy that could be drawn from allega-
tions of “parallel conduct that could just as well be in-
dependent action.”  550 U.S. at 554, 557 (emphasis add-
ed); see Matsushita, 475 U.S. at 593 (“In Monsanto, we 
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emphasized that courts should not permit factfinders to 
infer conspiracies when such inferences are implausi-
ble.”); Monsanto, 465 U.S. at 763 (“Permitting an 
agreement to be inferred [from facts consistent with 
parallelism] could deter or penalize perfectly legitimate 
conduct.”). 

Twombly also emphasized serious practical concerns 
about the cost of industry-wide antitrust conspiracy 
cases like this one.  “[A]ntitrust discovery can be ex-
pensive” and is subject to only “modest” judicial checks; 
such “potentially enormous” “discovery expense[s] will 
push cost-conscious defendants to settle even anemic 
cases.”  550 U.S. at 558-559.    

Twombly thus held that an antitrust plaintiff must 
plead facts that are more than “merely consistent with” 
an agreement to restrain trade.  550 U.S. at 557.  Alle-
gations that are in “neutral territory”—i.e., that plead 
conscious parallel conduct “without that further cir-
cumstance pointing toward a meeting of the minds”—
are insufficient.  Id.  Indeed, the Court specifically not-
ed that a plausible claim would not be pleaded where 
“‘defendants’ allegedly conspiratorial actions could 
equally have been prompted by lawful, independent 
goals which do not constitute a conspiracy.’”  Id. at 566-
567; see id. at 557 (“parallel conduct that could just as 
well be independent action” insufficient). 

B. Petitioners argued below that the allegations 
supporting collusion were at most equally consistent 
with parallel, independent submissions of lower LIBOR 
figures, made to appear healthier during a time of eco-
nomic crisis.  “Maybe,” the court of appeals responded, 
“but at the motion‐to‐dismiss stage, appellants must 
only put forth sufficient factual matter to plausibly 
suggest an inference of conspiracy, even if the facts are 
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susceptible to an equally likely interpretation” of mere 
parallelism.  App. 38a (emphasis added).  That state-
ment of the law merely adds the word “plausibly” to a 
proposition that this Court expressly rejected.  See 
Twombly, 550 U.S. at 566-567 (“parallel conduct that 
could just as well be independent action” does not sup-
port a plausible claim).8 

Moreover, although the court of appeals also stated 
that the “complaints contain numerous allegations that 
clear the bar of plausibility,” App. 36a, the allegations 
that the court relied on are strikingly similar to those 
this Court rejected as insufficient in Twombly.  Here, 
as in Twombly, respondents alleged that the panel 
banks had “a common motive to conspire,” namely “in-
creased profits and the projection of financial sound-
ness,” App. 37a, that could equally have inspired them 
to take the same exact actions in parallel.  Cf. Twombly, 
550 U.S. at 566 (“‘[E]ach ILEC has reason to want to 
avoid dealing with [new competitors]’ and ‘each ILEC 
would attempt to keep [them] out, regardless of the ac-
tions of the other ILECs.’”).  Here, as in Twombly, re-
spondents also alleged parallelism, including with sta-
tistical evidence that showed parallel, lower-than-
expected LIBOR submissions but did not establish an 
agreement.  Compare App. 7a, 37a-38a & n.20 with 
Twombly, 550 U.S. at 564-565.  And here, as in 
Twombly, respondents also relied on ambiguous state-
ments by company officials that do not show the exist-
ence of an interfirm agreement (and certainly not an 

                                                 
8 The court of appeals cited as support for this rule its prior 

decision in Anderson News, L.L.C. v. American Media, Inc., 680 
F.3d 162, 184 (2d Cir. 2012).  See App. 38a.  But Anderson News, 
unlike this case, involved significant allegations of an actual 
agreement to engage in a conspiracy, based on conversations be-
tween company executives.  680 F.3d at 186-189.   
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agreement among all panel banks).  Compare App. 36a-
37a n.19 (noting bank official’s statement that particu-
lar proposed submission “would have been 20 basis 
points above the next highest submission,” without any 
allegations suggesting that this was anything more 
than an educated guess)9 with Twombly, 550 U.S. at 551 
(noting ILEC CEO’s similarly ambiguous statement 
that entering competitor’s territory “‘might be a good 
way to turn a quick dollar but that doesn’t make it 
right’”).   

Even taken in combination, none of this suggests 
more than independent, parallel conduct.  Twomby, 550 
U.S. at 557.  Yet faced with allegations very similar to 
those in Twombly, in an antitrust conspiracy case of 
similar, industry-wide scope, raising the same key con-
cerns about massive discovery expense and the risk of 
false inferences from circumstantial evidence, the court 
of appeals allowed respondents to proceed based on al-
legations of “parallel conduct that could just as well be 
independent action.”  Id. at 557.   

C. In other circuits, unlike in the Second Circuit, 
allegations that are consistent with conspiracy but 
“susceptible to an equally likely interpretation” of law-
ful parallel conduct, App. 38a, do not state a plausible 
antitrust conspiracy claim.     

For example, the rule applied by the Fourth Circuit 
in SD3, LLC v. Black & Decker—that allegations that 
are equally consistent with lawful parallel conduct can-
not support an antitrust conspiracy claim—would have 

                                                 
9 This statement is respondents’ basis for contending that one 

bank “knew, in advance of the submission deadline, the proposed 
confidential submissions of every … panel bank.”  App. 36a-37a & 
n.19 (quoting OTC SAC ¶ 108, Dist. Ct. Dkt. No. 406).  It cannot 
support the contention.  
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resulted in a different decision here.  Black & Decker 
involved allegations that “major table-saw manufactur-
ers conspired to … corrupt a private safety-standard-
setting process, … with the aim of keeping [the plain-
tiff’s table-saw safety] technology off the market.”  801 
F.3d at 418 The plaintiffs alleged that the defendants’ 
representatives dominated a standard-setting panel 
that rejected their safety technology, voting “‘as a bloc’ 
to ‘thwart’” its adoption.  Id. at 420.  The plaintiffs al-
leged a motive to conspire—the increased cost of the 
new technology if it became the industry standard, and 
the increased risk of lawsuits if the standard was 
adopted for any company that did not implement it.  Id. 
at 419.  The plaintiffs also alleged that, having thwarted 
the adoption of their technology as an industry stand-
ard, the defendants engaged in a “fake effort” to pro-
mote alternative standards to keep plaintiffs’ technolo-
gy off the market.  Id. at 421. 

The Fourth Circuit rejected this conspiracy theory 
as insufficient to state a claim.  As that court explained, 
the plaintiffs might have pleaded that the standard-
setting body had gotten it “wrong” in rejecting their 
technology, but even coupled with the parallel actions 
of the defendants in voting the “wrong” way as a bloc, 
the allegations were “equally consistent with legal be-
havior,” and thus insufficient as a matter of law.  Black 
& Decker, 801 F.3d at 437.10   

Other circuits similarly reject as insufficient allega-
tions that are equally consistent with parallel conduct.  

                                                 
10 Black & Decker allowed a separate alleged antitrust con-

spiracy—supported by detailed allegations of “an actual agree-
ment to boycott”—to proceed to discovery.  801 F.3d at 433-434.  
Even those allegations of collusion among the same defendants did 
not change the outcome as to the standard-setting conspiracy. 



31 

 

See In re Musical Instruments & Equip. Antitrust 
Litig., 798 F.3d 1186, 1194 (9th Cir. 2015) (“‘Allegations 
of facts that could just as easily suggest rational, legal 
business behavior by the defendants as they could sug-
gest an illegal conspiracy’” are insufficient to plead a § 1 
violation (emphasis added) (quoting Kendall v. Visa 
U.S.A., Inc., 518 F.3d 1042, 1049 (9th Cir. 2008)); In re 
Travel Agent Comm’n Antitrust Litig., 583 F.3d 896, 
910 (6th Cir. 2009) (“[I]t is just as likely that Ameri-
can’s 2001 commission cap was an effort to reduce its … 
costs, with the ancillary hope that its competitors 
would follow its lead.” (emphasis added)). 

The importance of this question is only confirmed by 
this Court’s grant of certiorari in Osborn.  Osborn in-
volves the question whether alleged participation in a 
business association that administers ATM access fee 
rules is sufficient to support an antitrust conspiracy 
claim.  Pet.’s Br., No. 15-961, at i, 11-13.  The court of 
appeals held that it was, because the defendants’ al-
leged involvement suggested that they “used the … as-
sociations to adopt and enforce a supracompetitive pric-
ing regime for ATM access fees.”  Osborn v. Visa Inc., 
797 F.3d 1057, 1067 (D.C Cir. 2015).  Petitioners in Os-
born contend that the case against them should have 
been dismissed because the pleadings were “‘merely 
consistent with’” concerted action, and were also con-
sistent with unilateral action.  Pet.’s Br., No. 15-961 at 
13 (quoting Twombly, 550 U.S. at 557).   

Osborn demonstrates that the issues raised here as 
to Twombly’s “merely consistent with” formulation, 
particularly as applied in the trade association context 
and particularly in cases that rely wholly on circum-
stantial allegations, are worthy of review.  This Court 
would at a minimum be justified in holding this petition 
pending a decision in Osborn.  Indeed, it would be justi-
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fied in vacating the decision below and remanding if it 
accepts the Osborn petitioners’ argument that alleged 
conduct that advances, and is explained entirely by, 
unilateral interests cannot support an antitrust con-
spiracy.  That is the case here:  The banks’ alleged con-
duct is completely consistent with their independent 
interests in projecting financial health amidst a global 
liquidity crunch.  See, e.g., App. 34a-35a.   

The Second Circuit’s decision creates a sharp circuit 
split.  This Court should grant review to reaffirm that 
the Court meant what it said in Twombly when it re-
jected conspiracy allegations that are “merely con-
sistent with” collusion.  550 U.S. at 557. 

III. THE QUESTIONS PRESENTED ARE EXCEEDINGLY IM-

PORTANT TO ANTITRUST LAW AND THE GLOBAL 

ECONOMY  

The decision of the court of appeals creates grave un-
certainty in an area where predictability is essential.  By 
allowing this case to move forward, the court of appeals 
expanded the ambit of the Sherman Act (with its poten-
tial for enormous treble-damages awards) to cases in 
which plaintiffs allege misrepresentations and “corrup-
tion” but not that any competitive process is impaired, 
or was ever in existence.  This Court has long held that 
the antitrust laws were not meant to serve the function 
of general “‘unfair competition’ laws, business tort laws, 
or regulatory laws, [which] provide remedies for various 
‘competitive practices thought to be offensive to proper 
standards of business morality.’”  NYNEX, 525 U.S. at 
137 (quoting 3 Areeda & Hovenkamp, Antitrust Law 
¶651d (rev. ed. 1996)); see also Brooke Grp., 509 U.S. at 
225.  The decision below puts that basic proposition in 
doubt, and extends antitrust law to a realm where Con-
gress never intended it to hold sway.  
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Just as the court of appeals’ interpretation of the 
Sherman Act (including its related ruling on antitrust 
injury) to encompass non-competitive processes im-
properly expands the scope of antitrust liability, its rul-
ing, contrary to Twombly, that allegations that are 
equally supportive of lawful conduct and conspiracy 
survive dismissal inappropriately allows antitrust 
claims to proceed based on little more than speculation.  
As a result, antitrust defendants will be subject to cost-
ly discovery and the in terrorem threat of a substantial 
verdict, based on unsubstantiated inferences from ac-
tions in a non-competitive setting that are equally con-
sistent with unilateral, non-collusive activity.  See 
Twombly, 550 U.S. at 566-567.   

The possibility for expensive discovery and massive 
damages is at its zenith in this case.  Discovery in the 
government investigations of only a handful of the pan-
el banks reached into the millions of pages, and alleged 
class damages here are premised on global transactions 
in financial instruments by over a dozen international 
money center banks over a three-year period—
potentially “trillions of dollars’ worth of financial trans-
actions.”  App. 31a.  The need for clarity on these fun-
damental legal issues is particularly acute because the 
wrong result here could be economically devastating.  
Such substantial economic stakes cannot be allowed to 
rest on legal theories that should not even take re-
spondents past the pleadings stage. 

Review is important for the further reason that the 
Second Circuit’s decision will have an impact on a sig-
nificant number of cases in which the questions pre-
sented here might otherwise have continued to perco-
late.  There are now many financial benchmark cases 
arising in the Southern District of New York involving 
inherently cooperative rate-setting processes like USD 
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LIBOR.  Collectively, those cases involve financial 
stakes even more immense than this multi-district liti-
gation alone—and in three of them (other than this 
one), district courts have held that plaintiffs pleaded no 
antitrust injury.  See 7 West 57th Street Realty Co. v. 
Citigroup, Inc., 2015 WL 1514539, at *15-*20 (S.D.N.Y. 
Mar. 31, 2015); Mayfield v. British Bankers’ Ass’n, 2014 
WL 10449597, at *3 (S.D.N.Y. July 22, 2014); Laydon v. 
Mizuho Bank, Ltd., 2014 WL 1280464, at *7-*8 
(S.D.N.Y. Mar. 28, 2014); but see Alaska Elec. Pension 
Fund v. Bank of Am. Corp., 2016 WL 1241533, at *6-*7 
(S.D.N.Y. Mar. 28, 2016). 

The majority of these financial-benchmark cases 
arise within the Second Circuit because it includes the 
nation’s financial center.  It is unlikely that another 
court of appeals will have occasion to consider whether 
and how cooperative benchmark-setting processes may 
be subject to antitrust liability.  And to the extent 
those other cases cannot be distinguished from this one, 
future Second Circuit panels will be “bound by the de-
cision[] of [the] prior panel[]” absent this Court’s re-
view.  In re Zarnel, 619 F.3d 156, 168 (2d Cir. 2010).   

Because the Second Circuit failed to apply this 
Court’s antitrust precedents in this especially high-
stakes context, review is warranted. 



35 

 

CONCLUSION 

The petition for a writ of certiorari should be 
granted. 

Respectfully submitted. 
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INTRODUCTION 

Before:  JACOBS, RAGGI, and LYNCH, Circuit 
Judges. 

Plaintiffs-appellants, comprising individuals and en-
tities that held diverse financial instruments, allege that 
the defendant banks colluded to depress a benchmark 
incorporated into those instruments, thereby decreas-
ing the instruments’ financial returns in violation of Sec-
tion One of the Sherman Act.  The United States Dis-
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trict Court for the Southern District of New York 
(Buchwald, J.) dismissed the lawsuit for failure to allege 
antitrust injury.  We vacate the judgment and remand 
for further proceedings consistent with this opinion. 

* * * 

DENNIS JACOBS, Circuit Judge: 

Appellants purchased financial instruments, mainly 
issued by the defendant banks, that carried a rate of 
return indexed to the London Interbank Offered Rate 
(“LIBOR”), which approximates the average rate at 
which a group of designated banks can borrow money.  
Appellees, 16 of the world’s largest banks (“the 
Banks”), were on the panel of banks that determined 
LIBOR each business day based, in part, on the Banks’ 
individual submissions.  It is alleged that the Banks col-
luded to depress LIBOR by violating the rate-setting 
rules, and that the payout associated with the various 
financial instruments was thus below what it would 
have been if the rate had been unmolested.  Numerous 
antitrust lawsuits against the Banks were consolidated 
into a multi-district litigation (“MDL”). 

The United States District Court for the Southern 
District of New York (Buchwald, J.) dismissed the liti-
gation in its entirety on the ground that the complaints 
failed to plead antitrust injury, which is one component 
of antitrust standing.  The district court reasoned that 
the LIBOR-setting process was collaborative rather 
than competitive, that any manipulation to depress LI-
BOR therefore did not cause appellants to suffer anti-
competitive harm, and that they have at most a fraud 
claim based on misrepresentation.  The complaints 
were thus dismissed on the ground that they failed to 
allege harm to competition. 
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We vacate the judgment on the ground that:  (1) 
horizontal price-fixing constitutes a per se antitrust vio-
lation; (2) a plaintiff alleging a per se antitrust violation 
need not separately plead harm to competition; and (3) 
a consumer who pays a higher price on account of hori-
zontal price-fixing suffers antitrust injury.  Since the 
district court did not reach the second component of an-
titrust standing—a finding that appellants are efficient 
enforcers of the antitrust laws—we remand for further 
proceedings on the question of antitrust standing.  The 
Banks urge affirmance on the alternative ground that 
no conspiracy has been adequately alleged; we reject 
this alternative. 

BACKGROUND 

“Despite the legal complexity of this case, the fac-
tual allegations are rather straightforward.”  In re: LI-
BOR-Based Fin. Instruments Antitrust Litig., 935 F. 
Supp. 2d 666, 677 (S.D.N.Y. 2013) (“LIBOR I”).  Appel-
lants entered into a variety of financial transactions at 
interest rates that reference LIBOR.  Because LIBOR 
is a component or benchmark used in countless busi-
ness dealings, it has been called “the world’s most im-
portant number.”1  Issuers of financial instruments typ-
ically set interest rates at a spread above LIBOR, and 
the interest rate is frequently expressed in terms of the 
spread.  LIBOR rates are reported for various inter-
vals, such as one month, three months, six months, and 
twelve months. 

The LIBOR-based financial instruments held by 
the appellants included:  (1) asset swaps, in which the 

                                                 
1 See Mark Broad, The world’s most important number? BBC 

NEWS (October 20, 2008 10:29 p.m.), http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/
business/7680552.stm. 
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owner of a bond pegged to a fixed rate pays that fixed 
rate to a bank or investor while receiving in return a 
floating rate based on LIBOR; (2) collateralized debt 
obligations, which are structured asset-backed securi-
ties with multiple tranches, the most senior of which 
pay out at a spread above LIBOR; and (3) forward rate 
agreements, in which one party receives a fixed inter-
est rate on a principal amount while the counterparty 
receives interest at the fluctuating LIBOR on the same 
principal amount at a designated endpoint.  These ex-
amples are by no means exhaustive. 

The Banks belong to the British Bankers’ Associa-
tion (“BBA”), the leading trade association for the fi-
nancial-services sector in the United Kingdom.  During 
the relevant period, the BBA was a private association 
that was operated without regulatory or government 
oversight and was governed by senior executives from 
twelve banks.2  The BBA began setting LIBOR on 
January 1, 1986, using separate panels for different 
currencies.  Relevant to this appeal, the U.S. Dollar 
(“USD”) LIBOR panel was composed of 16 member 
banks of the BBA. 

The daily USD LIBOR was set as follows.  All 16 
banks were initially asked:  “At what rate could you 
borrow funds, were you to do so by asking for and then 
accepting inter-bank offers in a reasonable market size 
just prior to 11 a.m.?”  Each bank was to respond on the 
basis of (in part) its own research, and its own credit 
and liquidity risk profile.  Thomson Reuters later com-
piled each bank’s submission and published the submis-

                                                 
2 These banks included Barclays Bank PLC (“Barclays”), 

Citibank NA, Credit Suisse, Deutsche Bank AG, HSBC Bank plc, 
J.P. Morgan Europe Ltd., and the Royal Bank of Scotland plc 
(“RBS”). 
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sions on behalf of the BBA.  The final LIBOR was the 
mean of the eight submissions left after excluding the 
four highest submissions and the four lowest.  Among 
the many uses and advantages of the LIBOR-setting 
process is the ability of parties to enter into floating-
rate transactions without extensive negotiation of 
terms. 

Three key rules governed the LIBOR-setting pro-
cess:  each panel bank was to independently exercise 
good faith judgment and submit an interest rate based 
upon its own expert knowledge of market conditions; 
the daily submission of each bank was to remain confi-
dential until after LIBOR was finally computed and 
published; and all 16 individual submissions were to be 
published along with the final daily rate and would thus 
be “transparent on an ex post basis.”3  Thus any single 
bank would be deterred from submitting an outlying 
LIBOR bid that would risk negative media attention 
and potential regulatory or government scrutiny.  Col-
lectively, these three rules were intended as “safe-
guards ensuring that LIBOR would reflect the forces of 
competition in the London interbank loan market.”4 

Although LIBOR was set jointly, the Banks re-
mained horizontal competitors in the sale of financial 
instruments, many of which were premised to some de-
gree on LIBOR.  With commercial paper, for example, 

                                                 
3 “Second Consolidated Amended Complaint,” Mayor & City 

Council of Baltimore & City of New Britain Firefighters’ & Police 
Benefit Fund, Texas Competitive Electric Holdings Company 
LLC v. Credit Suisse Group AG et al., In re: LIBOR‐Based Fin. 
Instruments Antitrust Litig., No. 1:11‐md‐2262 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 10, 
2013) at 24 ¶ 62 (Doc. 406) (hereinafter “OTC Second Amended 
Complaint”). 

4 Id. ¶ 65. 
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the Banks received cash from purchasers in exchange 
for a promissory obligation to pay an amount based, in 
part, on LIBOR at a specified maturity date (usually 
nine months); in such transactions, the Banks were bor-
rowers and the purchasers were lenders.  Similarly, 
with swap transactions, the Banks received fixed in-
come streams from purchasers in exchange for variable 
streams that incorporated LIBOR as the reference 
point. 

A LIBOR increase of one percent would have al-
legedly cost the Banks hundreds of millions of dollars.  
Moreover, since during the relevant period the Banks 
were still reeling from the 2007 financial crisis, a high 
LIBOR submission could signal deteriorating finances 
to the public and the regulators. 

Appellants allege that the Banks corrupted the 
LIBOR-setting process and exerted downward pres-
sure on LIBOR to increase profits in individual finan-
cial transactions and to project financial health.  In a 
nutshell, appellants contend that, beginning in 2007, the 
Banks engaged in a horizontal price-fixing conspiracy, 
with each submission reporting an artificially low cost 
of borrowing in order to drive LIBOR down.  The com-
plaints rely on two sources. 

The vast majority of allegations follow directly 
from evidence collected in governmental investiga-
tions.5  The United States Department of Justice 

                                                 
5 See, e.g., “Second Amended Complaint,” The City of Phila-

delphia & The Pennsylvania Intergovernmental Cooperation Au-
thority v. Bank of America Corporation et al., In re: LIBOR‐Based 
Fin. Instruments Litig., No. 1:11‐md‐2262 (S.D.N.Y. Oct. 6, 2014) 
at 33 ¶ 104 (Doc. 667) (“[A] Barclays manager conceded in a re-
cently‐disclosed liquidity call to the FSA to the extent that, um, 
the LIBORs have been understated, are we guilty of being part 
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(“DOJ”) unearthed numerous potentially relevant 
emails, communications, and documents, some of which 
are referenced in the complaints and only a few of 
which are referenced for illustrative purposes.  
Prompted by the DOJ investigations, three banks—
Barclays, UBS, and RBS—have reached settlements 
over criminal allegations that they manipulated and 
fixed LIBOR. 

In addition, the complaints rely on statistics.  The 
DOJ compiled evidence that from June 18, 2008 until 
April 14, 2009, UBS’s individual three-month LIBOR 
submissions were identical to the later-published LI-
BOR benchmark that was based on all 16 submissions; 
the statistical probability that UBS independently pre-
dicted LIBOR exactly over approximately ten consecu-
tive months is minuscule.  Furthermore, prior to 2007, 
the value of LIBOR had moved in tandem with the 
Federal Reserve Eurodollar Deposit Rate (“FRED”), 
with LIBOR tracking slightly above FRED.  Beginning 
in 2007, however, the two rates switched positions, and 
LIBOR did not consistently again rise above FRED 
until around October 2011, when the European Com-
mission began an inquiry into allegations of LIBOR-
fixing.  The complaints adduce other analyses and phe-
nomena to support the hypothesis that the Banks con-
spired to depress LIBOR. 

                                                                                                    
of the pack?  You could say we are.” (bolding and emphasis in 
original) (internal quotation marks omitted)); id. at 41 ¶ 122 (“UBS 
managers directed that the bank’s USD Libor submissions be arti-
ficially suppressed so as to place UBS in the middle of the pack 
of panel bank submissions ….” (bolding and emphasis in original) 
(internal quotation marks omitted)); id. at 47 ¶ 140 (“One RBS 
trader gloated, [i]t’s just amazing how Libor fixing can make you 
that much money ….  It’s a cartel now in London.” (bolding and 
emphasis in original) (internal quotation marks omitted)). 
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Procedural History 

This sprawling MDL involves a host of parties, 
claims, and theories of liability; the present appeal has 
taken a circuitous route to this Court, having already 
once been to the Supreme Court. 

Four groups of plaintiffs filed complaints that be-
came subject to the Banks’ motions to dismiss; three of 
the complaints were purported class actions.  The 
members of one putative class are the purchasers of 
“‘hundreds of millions of dollars in interest rate swaps 
directly from at least one [d]efendant in which the rate 
of return was tied to LIBOR.’”  LIBOR I, 935 F. Supp. 
2d at 681 (quoting OTC Second Amended Complaint at 
7 ¶ 12).  The district court helpfully labeled this group 
as over-the-counter (“OTC”) plaintiffs; the lead OTC 
plaintiffs are the Mayor and City Council of Baltimore 
and the City of New Britain Firefighters and Police 
Benefit Fund.  The members of the second putative 
class are bondholders who allege that the conspiracy 
reduced the returns on debt securities in which they 
held an interest.  The lead bondholder plaintiffs are:  
Ellen Gelboim, the sole beneficiary of an individual re-
tirement account that owned a LIBOR-based debt se-
curity issued by General Electric Capital Corporation; 
and Linda Zacher, a similarly situated beneficiary with 
rights to a LIBOR-based debt security issued by Israel. 

Third, the Schwab plaintiffs, who filed three sepa-
rate amended complaints,6 each assert injuries substan-

                                                 
6 The first of these was filed by Schwab Bank, which consists 

of the following entities:  (i) the Charles Schwab Corporation; (ii) 
Charles Schwab Bank, N.A., a wholly‐owned subsidiary of the 
Charles Schwab Corporation; and (iii) Charles Schwab & Co, Inc., 
another wholly‐owned subsidiary of the Charles Schwab Corpora-
tion.  The second amended complaint is attributable to the Schwab 
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tially similar to those claimed by the OTC and bond-
holder plaintiffs.  Finally, the members of the third pu-
tative class (the Exchange-based plaintiffs) claim injury 
from the purchase and trading of contracts based on 
U.S. dollars deposited in commercial banks abroad (Eu-
rodollar futures contracts).  The buyer of a typical Eu-
rodollar futures contract pays the seller a fixed price at 
the outset and the seller in exchange pays the buyer a 
“settlement price” at the end date, calculated on the 
basis of the three-month LIBOR.  Options on Eurodol-
lar futures contracts can be traded, and their value de-
pends on the settlement price.  The seven lead plain-
tiffs7 allege that the Banks’ “suppression of LIBOR 
caused Eurodollar contracts to trade and settle at arti-

                                                                                                    
Bond plaintiffs, who are comprised of:  (i) Schwab Short‐Term 
Bond Market Fund, (ii) Schwab Total Bond Market Fund, and (iii) 
Schwab U.S. Dollar Liquid Assets Fund.  Finally, the Schwab 
Money amended complaint has seven plaintiffs:  (i) Schwab Money 
Market Fund, (ii) Schwab Value Advantage Money Fund, (iii) 
Schwab Retirement Advantage Money Fund, (iv) Schwab Inves-
tor Money Fund, (v) Schwab Cash Reserves, (vi) Schwab Advisor 
Cash Reserves, and (vii) Schwab YieldPlus Fund.  Contingent in-
terests of Schwab YieldPlus Fund have passed to plaintiff Schwab 
YieldPlus Fund Liquidation Trust.  See In re: LIBOR‐Based Fin. 
Instruments Antitrust Litig., No. 1:11md2262 (S.D.N.Y. Apr. 30, 
2012) (Docs. 146‐148). 

7 These seven plaintiffs are:  (1) Metzler Investment GmbH, a 
German company that launched and manages investment funds 
trading in Eurodollar futures; (2) FTC Futures Fund SICAV and 
(3) FTC Futures Fund PCC Ltd., funds based in Luxembourg and 
Gibraltar, respectively, that each trade Eurodollar futures; (4) At-
lantic Trading USA, LLC and (5) 303030 Trading, LLC, Illinois 
limited liability companies that likewise trade Eurodollar futures; 
and (6) Gary Francis and (7) Nathanial Haynes, Illinois residents 
engaged in the same course of business.  See LIBOR I, 935 F. 
Supp. 2d at 683. 
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ficially high prices,” reducing gains made in trades.  
LIBOR I, 935 F. Supp. 2d at 683. 

The Exchange-based plaintiffs commenced pro-
ceedings on April 15, 2011; the OTC plaintiffs followed a 
couple of months later; and numerous individual cases 
accumulated.  The Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Liti-
gation transferred and consolidated the cases in the 
Southern District of New York.  See In re: LIBOR-
Based Fin. Instruments Antitrust Litig., 802 F. Supp. 
2d 1380, 1381 (J.P.M.L. 2011).  The Schwab and bond-
holder plaintiffs subsequently enlisted.  In addition to 
the federal antitrust claims, the complaints assert nu-
merous federal and state law causes of action irrelevant 
to this appeal.8  After each group of plaintiffs amended 
their respective complaints, the Banks moved to dis-
miss.  Several new complaints were added.  As a man-
agement measure, the district court stayed the filing of 
new complaints until resolution of the pending motions 
to dismiss.  See LIBOR I, 935 F. Supp. 2d at 677. 

The motions to dismiss were granted based on the 
finding that none of the appellants “plausibly alleged 
that they suffered antitrust injury, thus, on that basis 
alone, they lack standing.”  Id. at 686.  This ruling rest-
ed on three premises: 

[1] “Plaintiffs’ injury would have resulted from 
[d]efendants’ misrepresentation, not from harm 
to competition,” because the LIBOR-setting 
process was cooperative, not competitive.  Id. 
at 688. 

[2] Although the complaints “might support an 
allegation of price fixing,” antitrust injury is 

                                                 
8 The exception is the bondholder plaintiffs’ complaint, which 

asserts solely federal antitrust claims. 
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lacking because the complaints did not allege 
restraints on competition in pertinent markets 
and therefore failed to “indicate that plaintiffs’ 
injury resulted from an anticompetitive aspect 
of defendants’ conduct.”  Id. 

[3] Supreme Court precedent forecloses a find-
ing of antitrust injury if “the harm alleged … 
could have resulted from normal competitive 
conduct” as here, because LIBOR could have 
been depressed if “each defendant decided in-
dependently to misrepresent its borrowing 
costs to the BBA.”  Id. at 690. 

The district court rejected the notion that LIBOR op-
erated as a proxy for competition and distinguished 
cases cited by appellants on the ground that they in-
volved “harm to competition which is not present here.”  
Id. at 693. 

The ensuing motions to amend, made by the OTC, 
bondholder, and Exchange-based plaintiffs, were de-
nied on the ground that, given “the number of original 
complaints that had been filed” and “the obvious moti-
vation to craft sustainable first amended complaints 
containing all factual and legal allegations that support-
ed plaintiffs’ claims, the [district court] was entitled to 
rely on those pleadings to contain the strongest possi-
ble statement of plaintiffs’ case based on the collective 
skills of plaintiffs’ counsel.”  In re: LIBOR-Based Fin. 
Instruments Antitrust Litig., 962 F. Supp. 2d 606, 626 
(S.D.N.Y. 2013) (“LIBOR II”).  The denial of the mo-
tions to amend was also premised on the alternative 
ground of futility because the proposed amendments 
lacked allegations “that the process of competition was 
harmed because defendants failed to compete with each 



12a 

 

other or otherwise interacted in a manner outside the 
bounds of legitimate competition.”  Id. at 627-28. 

Appeals filed by the bondholder plaintiffs and the 
Schwab plaintiffs in 2013 were dismissed sua sponte for 
lack of subject matter jurisdiction “because a final or-
der ha[d] not been issued by the district court as con-
templated by 28 U.S.C. § 1291, and the orders appealed 
from did not dispose of all claims in the consolidated ac-
tion.”  In re: LIBOR-Based Fin. Instruments Antitrust 
Litig., Nos. 13-3565(L) & 13-3636(Con), 2013 WL 
9557843, at *1 (2d Cir. Oct. 30, 2013).  On a writ of certi-
orari, the Supreme Court unanimously reversed, hold-
ing that “[p]etitioners’ right to appeal ripened when the 
[d]istrict [c]ourt dismissed their case, not upon eventu-
al completion of multidistrict proceedings in all of the 
consolidated cases.”  Gelboim v. Bank of Am. Corp., 135 
S. Ct. 897, 902 (2015). 

To alleviate any ensuing risks of piecemeal litiga-
tion, the Supreme Court highlighted Federal Rule of 
Civil Procedure 54(b), which provides for the entry of 
partial judgment on a single or subset of claims:  
“[d]istrict courts may grant certifications under that 
Rule, thereby enabling plaintiffs in actions that have 
not been dismissed in their entirety to pursue immedi-
ate appellate review.”  Id. at 906.  Numerous plaintiffs 
in the MDL action availed themselves of this mecha-
nism, and these appeals were consolidated on April 15, 
2015.  See In re: LIBOR-Based Fin. Instruments Anti-
trust Litig., No. 13-3565 (2d Cir. Apr. 15, 2015) (Doc. 
231).  After extensive briefing on both sides, including 
the submission of numerous amicus briefs, this appeal is 
now ripe for disposition. 
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DISCUSSION 

“We review the grant of a motion to dismiss de no-
vo, accepting as true all factual claims in the complaint 
and drawing all reasonable inferences in the plaintiff’s 
favor.”  Fink v. Time Warner Cable, 714 F.3d 739, 740-
41 (2d Cir. 2013).  The denial of leave to amend is simi-
larly reviewed de novo because the denial was “based 
on an interpretation of law, such as futility.”  Panther 
Partners Inc. v. Ikanos Commc’ns., Inc., 681 F.3d 114, 
119 (2d Cir. 2012). 

An antitrust plaintiff must show both constitutional 
standing and antitrust standing.  See Associated Gen. 
Contractors of Calif., Inc. v. Calif. State Council of 
Carpenters, 459 U.S. 519, 535 n.31 (1983) (“Harm to the 
antitrust plaintiff is sufficient to satisfy the constitu-
tional standing requirement of injury in fact, but the 
court must make a further determination whether the 
plaintiff is a proper party to bring a private antitrust 
action.”); Port Dock & Stone Corp. v. Oldcastle, North-
east, Inc., 507 F.3d 117, 121 (2d Cir. 2007) (“Antitrust 
standing is distinct from constitutional standing, in 
which a mere showing of harm will establish the neces-
sary injury.”).  Like constitutional standing, antitrust 
standing is a threshold inquiry resolved at the pleading 
stage.  See Gatt Commc’ns. v. PMC Assocs., L.L.C., 711 
F.3d 68, 75 (2d Cir. 2013).  In this case, the harm com-
ponent of constitutional standing is uncontested, and 
easily satisfied by appellants’ pleading that they were 
harmed by receiving lower returns on LIBOR-
denominated instruments as a result of defendants’ 
manipulation of LIBOR.  See Sanner v. Bd. of Trade of 
City of Chi., 62 F.3d 918, 924 (7th Cir. 1995) (holding 
that farmers who sold crop at allegedly depressed pric-
es suffered harm sufficient for Article III standing). 
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Less clear is appellants’ demonstration of an anti-
trust violation and antitrust standing.  The interplay 
between these two concepts has engendered substan-
tial confusion.9  To avoid a quagmire, this Court (among 
others) assumes “the existence of a violation in ad-
dressing the issue of [antitrust] standing.”  Daniel v. 
Am. Bd. of Emergency Med., 428 F.3d 408, 437 (2d Cir. 
2005) (“Thus, while the issue of an antitrust violation in 
this case is by no means clear, for purposes of this ap-
peal we assume the alleged violation and assess only 
plaintiffs’ standing to pursue their claim.”).  This expe-
dient can cause its own problems.10  The district court 
proceeded directly to the question of antitrust injury—
omitting any mention of antitrust violation—but then 
elided the distinction between antitrust violation and 
antitrust injury by placing considerable weight on ap-
pellants’ failure to show “harm to competition.”  LIBOR 
I, 935 F. Supp. 2d at 688.  Although we would not ordi-
narily consider whether the complaints state an anti-
trust violation when assessing antitrust standing, it is 
easy to blur the distinction between an antitrust viola-
tion and an antitrust injury, as the district court did; so 
we will examine both for purposes of judicial economy. 

                                                 
9 See SAS of P.R., Inc. v. P.R. Tel. Co., 48 F.3d 39, 43 (1st Cir. 

1995) (“[C]ourts sometimes have difficulty, well justified in certain 
cases, in separating standing or antitrust injury issues from two 
other problems:  whether there has been an antitrust violation at 
all, and whether the plaintiff has suffered any injury causally (in 
the ‘but for’ sense) related to the challenged conduct.”). 

10 See Gatt, 711 F.3d at 76 n.9 (“The conditional phrasing of 
this step of the analysis hints at its difficulty.  When assessing an-
titrust injury, we assume that the practice at issue is a violation of 
the antitrust laws, and are, thus, in the difficult position of positing 
a rationale for the antitrust laws’ prohibition of conduct that may, 
in fact, not be prohibited.” (citation omitted)). 
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I.  ANTITRUST VIOLATION 

To avoid dismissal, appellants had to allege an anti-
trust violation stemming from the Banks’ transgression 
of Section One of the Sherman Act:  “Every contract, 
combination in the form of trust or otherwise, or con-
spiracy, in restraint of trade or commerce among the 
several States, or with foreign nations, is declared to be 
illegal.”  15 U.S.C. § 1; see Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 
550 U.S. 544, 553-63 (2007).  Schematically, appellants’ 
claims are uncomplicated.  They allege that the Banks, 
as sellers, colluded to depress LIBOR, and thereby in-
creased the cost to appellants, as buyers, of various 
LIBOR-based financial instruments, a cost increase re-
flected in reduced rates of return.  In short, appellants 
allege a horizontal price-fixing conspiracy, “perhaps the 
paradigm of an unreasonable restraint of trade.”  
NCAA v. Bd. of Regents of Univ. of Okla., 468 U.S. 85, 
100 (1984). 

Since appellants allege that the LIBOR “must be 
characterized as an inseparable part of the price,” and 
since we must accept that allegation as true for present 
purposes, the claim is one of price-fixing.  Catalano, 
Inc. v. Target Sales, Inc., 446 U.S. 643, 648 (1980).  In 
urging otherwise, the Banks argue that LIBOR is not 
itself a price, as it is not itself bought or sold by anyone.  
The point is immaterial.  LIBOR forms a component of 
the return from various LIBOR-denominated financial 
instruments, and the fixing of a component of price vio-
lates the antitrust laws.  See id.; see also United States 
v. Socony-Vacuum Oil Co., 310 U.S. 150, 222 (1940) 
(“[P]rices are fixed … if the range within which pur-
chases or sales will be made is agreed upon, if the pric-
es paid or charged are to be at a certain level or on as-
cending or descending scales, if they are to be uniform, 
or if by various formulae they are related to the market 
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prices.  They are fixed because they are agreed upon.” 
(emphasis added)); Plymouth Dealers’ Ass’n of No. 
Cal. v. United States, 279 F.2d 128, 132 (9th Cir. 1960) 
(holding that use of a common fixed list price constitut-
ed price-fixing despite independently negotiated depar-
tures from said list price). 

Horizontal price-fixing conspiracies among compet-
itors are unlawful per se, that is, without further in-
quiry.  See Leegin Creative Leather Prods., Inc. v. 
PSKS, Inc., 551 U.S. 877, 886 (2007) (“Restraints that 
are per se unlawful include horizontal agreements 
among competitors to fix prices ….”); Catalano, 446 
U.S. at 647 (“A horizontal agreement to fix prices is the 
archetypal example of such a practice [that is plainly 
anticompetitive].  It has long been settled that [such] 
an agreement to fix prices is unlawful per se.”).  The un-
familiar context of appellants’ horizontal price-fixing 
claims provides no basis to disturb application of the 
per se rule.  See Arizona v. Maricopa Cty. Med. Soc’y, 
457 U.S. 332, 349 (1982) (“We are equally unpersuaded 
by the argument that we should not apply the per se 
rule in this case because the judiciary has little anti-
trust experience in the health care industry.  The ar-
gument quite obviously is inconsistent with Socony-
Vacuum.  In unequivocal terms, we stated that, 
‘[w]hatever may be its peculiar problems and charac-
teristics, the Sherman Act, so far as price-fixing 
agreements are concerned, establishes one uniform rule 
applicable to all industries alike.’” (alteration in origi-
nal) (quoting Socony-Vacuum, 310 U.S. at 222)). 

Appellants have therefore plausibly alleged an an-
titrust violation attributable to the Banks, for which 
appellants seek damages. 
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II.  ANTITRUST STANDING 

Although appellants charge the Banks with hatch-
ing and executing a horizontal price-fixing conspiracy, a 
practice that is per se unlawful, they are not “absolve[d] 
… of the obligation to demonstrate [antitrust] stand-
ing.”  Daniel, 428 F.3d at 437.  Two issues bear on anti-
trust standing: 

[1] have appellants suffered antitrust injury? 

[2] are appellants efficient enforcers of the anti-
trust laws? 

The second raises a closer question in this case. 

The efficient enforcer inquiry turns on:  (1) whether 
the violation was a direct or remote cause of the injury; 
(2) whether there is an identifiable class of other per-
sons whose self-interest would normally lead them to 
sue for the violation; (3) whether the injury was specu-
lative; and (4) whether there is a risk that other plain-
tiffs would be entitled to recover duplicative damages 
or that damages would be difficult to apportion among 
possible victims of the antitrust injury.  See Port Dock, 
507 F.3d at 121-22; see also Associated Gen. Contrac-
tors, 459 U.S. at 540-44.  Built into the analysis is an as-
sessment of the “chain of causation” between the viola-
tion and the injury.  Associated Gen. Contractors, 459 
U.S. at 540. 

The district court, having found that appellants 
failed to plausibly allege antitrust injury, had no occa-
sion to consider the efficient enforcer factors.  We con-
clude that, although the district court erred in finding 
that appellants suffered no antitrust injury, remand is 
necessary for proper consideration of the efficient en-
forcer factors. 
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A.  ANTITRUST INJURY 

Section 4 of the Clayton Act provides: 

[A]ny person who shall be injured in his busi-
ness or property by reason of anything forbid-
den in the antitrust laws may sue … in any dis-
trict court of the United States in the district in 
which the defendant resides or is found or has 
an agent, without respect to the amount in con-
troversy, and shall recover threefold the dam-
ages by him sustained, and the cost of suit, in-
cluding a reasonable attorney’s fee. 

15 U.S.C. § 15(a).  The Supreme Court construes the 
Clayton Act to require a showing of antitrust injury.  
See Brunswick Corp. v. Pueblo Bowl-O-Mat, Inc., 429 
U.S. 477, 489 (1977) (“We therefore hold that the plain-
tiffs … must prove more than injury causally linked to 
an illegal presence in the market.  Plaintiffs must prove 
antitrust injury, which is to say injury of the type the 
antitrust laws were intended to prevent and that flows 
from that which makes defendants’ acts unlawful.”).  
An antitrust injury “should reflect the anticompetitive 
effect of the violation or of anticompetitive acts made 
possible by the violation.”  Id.  It is therefore evident 
that “‘Congress did not intend the antitrust laws to 
provide a remedy in damages for all injuries that might 
conceivably be traced to an antitrust violation.’”  Asso-
ciated Gen. Contractors, 459 U.S. at 534 (quoting Ha-
waii v. Standard Oil Co., 405 U.S. 251, 263 n.14 (1972)). 

Appellants have pled antitrust injury.  Generally, 
when consumers, because of a conspiracy, must pay 
prices that no longer reflect ordinary market condi-
tions, they suffer “injury of the type the antitrust laws 
were intended to prevent and that flows from that 
which makes defendants’ acts unlawful.”  Brunswick, 
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429 U.S. at 489.  See Kirtsaeng v. John Wiley & Sons, 
Inc., 133 S. Ct. 1351, 1363 (2013) (“‘[T]he principal ob-
jective of antitrust policy is to maximize consumer wel-
fare by encouraging firms to behave competitively.’” 
(alteration in original) (quoting 1 Areeda & 
Hovenkamp, Antitrust Law ¶ 100, p. 4 (3d ed. 2006))); 
NCAA, 468 U.S. at 106-07 (“The anticompetitive con-
sequences of this arrangement are apparent …. Price is 
higher and output lower than they would otherwise be, 
and both are unresponsive to consumer preference.  
This latter point is perhaps the most significant, since 
‘Congress designed the Sherman Act as a consumer 
welfare prescription.’” (emphasis added) (quoting 
Reiter v. Sonotone Corp., 442 U.S. 330, 343 (1979))); 
State of New York v. Hendrickson Bros., Inc., 840 F.2d 
1065, 1079 (2d Cir. 1988) (“In general, the person who 
has purchased directly from those who have fixed pric-
es at an artificially high level in violation of the anti-
trust laws is deemed to have suffered the antitrust in-
jury within the meaning of § 4 of the Clayton Act ….”). 

True, appellants remained free to negotiate the in-
terest rates attached to particular financial instru-
ments; however, antitrust law is concerned with influ-
ences that corrupt market conditions, not bargaining 
power.  “Any combination which tampers with price 
structures is engaged in an unlawful activity.  Even 
though the members of the price-fixing group were in 
no position to control the market, to the extent that 
they raised, lowered, or stabilized prices they would be 
directly interfering with the free play of market forc-
es.”  Socony-Vacuum, 310 U.S. at 221; see also Plym-
outh Dealers’ Ass’n, 279 F.2d at 132 (“[T]he fact that 
the dealers used the fixed uniform list price in most in-
stances only as a starting point, is of no consequence.  It 
was an agreed starting point; it had been agreed upon 
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between competitors; it was in some instances in the 
record respected and followed; it had to do with, and 
had its effect upon, price.” (footnote omitted)).  This 
consideration may well bear upon contested issues of 
causation, but it does not foreclose antitrust injury.11 

This conclusion is settled by Supreme Court prece-
dents beginning with Socony-Vacuum, the “seminal 
case” holding that horizontal “price fixing remains per 
se unlawful.”  Todd v. Exxon Corp., 275 F.3d 191, 198 
(2d Cir. 2001).  The defendant oil companies in Socony-
Vacuum collusively raised the spot market prices for 
oil, which (like LIBOR) were determined by averaging 
submitted price quotes; this conduct violated Section 
One because “[p]rices rose and jobbers and consumers 
in the Mid-Western area paid more for their gasoline 
than they would have paid but for the conspiracy.  
Competition was not eliminated from the markets; but 
it was clearly curtailed, since restriction of the supply 
of gasoline … reduced the play of the forces of supply 
and demand.”  Socony-Vacuum, 310 U.S. at 220.  Alt-
hough the price-fixing conspiracy was not solely re-
sponsible for the increased prices, “[t]here was ample 
evidence that the buying programs at least contributed 
to the price rise and the stability of the spot markets, 
and to increases in the price of gasoline sold in the Mid-

                                                 
11 See Knevelbaard Dairies v. Kraft Foods, Inc., 232 F.3d 979, 

989 (9th Cir. 2000) (“[T]hat argument merely denies that the plain-
tiffs were damaged in fact.  It does not speak to the complaint, 
which alleges that the plaintiffs were damaged when the defend-
ants fixed milk prices at artificially low levels and thereby caused 
plaintiffs to receive[] less for milk than they otherwise would have 
received in the absence of the defendants’ unlawful conduct.  These 
disputed claims of causation and injury cannot be decided on a 
Rule 12(b)(6) motion.” (alteration in original) (internal quotation 
marks omitted)). 
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Western area …. That other factors also may have con-
tributed to that rise and stability of the markets is im-
material.”  Id. at 219 (emphasis added).  Similarly, “the 
fact that sales on the spot markets were still governed 
by some competition [wa]s of no consequence.”  Id. at 
220. 

Socony-Vacuum deemed horizontal price-fixing il-
legal without further inquiry because horizontal price-
fixing is anathema to an economy predicated on the un-
disturbed interaction between supply and demand.  See 
id. at 221 (“If the so-called competitive abuses were to 
be appraised here, the reasonableness of prices would 
necessarily become an issue in every price-fixing case.  
In that event the Sherman Act would soon be emascu-
lated; its philosophy would be supplanted by one which 
is wholly alien to a system of free competition; it would 
not be the charter of freedom which its framers intend-
ed.”); id. at 224 n.59 (“The effectiveness of price-fixing 
agreements is dependent upon many factors, such as 
competitive tactics, position in the industry, [and] the 
formula underlying price policies.  Whatever economic 
justification particular price-fixing agreements may be 
thought to have, the law does not permit an inquiry into 
their reasonableness.  They are … banned because of 
their actual or potential threat to the central nervous 
system of the economy.” (emphasis added)). 

Building upon Socony-Vacuum, the Supreme Court 
ruled in Blue Shield of Va. v. McCready, 457 U.S. 465 
(1982), that a subscriber to an insurance plan suffered 
antitrust injury by reason of the insurer’s decision, 
made in collusion with a psychiatric society, to reim-
burse subscribers for psychotherapy performed by 
psychiatrists but not psychologists:  “[a]s a consumer of 
psychotherapy services entitled to financial benefits 
under the Blue Shield plan, we think it clear that 
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McCready was ‘within that area of the economy … en-
dangered by [that] breakdown of competitive condi-
tions’ resulting from Blue Shield’s selective refusal to 
reimburse.”  Id. at 480-81 (second alternation in origi-
nal) (quoting In re Multidistrict Vehicle Air Pollution 
M.D.L. No. 31, 481 F.2d 122, 129 (9th Cir. 1973)). 

Brunswick’s expansive definition of “anticompeti-
tive effect” relieves a Section Four plaintiff of 
“‘prov[ing] an actual lessening of competition in order 
to recover ….’ [W]hile an increase in price resulting 
from a dampening of competitive market forces is as-
suredly one type of injury for which § 4 potentially of-
fers redress, that is not the only form of injury remedi-
able under § 4.”  Id. at 482-83 (citation omitted) (quot-
ing Brunswick, 429 U.S. at 489 n.14).  The consumer in 
McCready was found to have pled a cognizable anti-
trust injury, having charged “a purposefully anticom-
petitive scheme …. Although [she] was not a competitor 
of the conspirators, the injury she suffered was inextri-
cably intertwined with the injury the conspirators 
sought to inflict on psychologists and the psychothera-
py market.”  Id. at 483-84. 

As in McCready, the anticompetitive effect of the 
Banks’ alleged conspiracy would be that consumers got 
less for their money.  The Supreme Court has warned 
of the antitrust dangers lurking in the activities of pri-
vate standard-setting associations:  “There is no doubt 
that the members of such associations often have eco-
nomic incentives to restrain competition and that the 
product standards set by such associations have a seri-
ous potential for anticompetitive harm …. Accordingly, 
private standard-setting associations have traditionally 
been objects of antitrust scrutiny.”  Allied Tube & 
Conduit Corp. v. Indian Head, Inc., 486 U.S. 492, 500 
(1988) (footnote and citation omitted). 
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Appellants have plausibly alleged antitrust injury.  
They have identified an “illegal anticompetitive prac-
tice” (horizontal price-fixing), have claimed an actual 
injury placing appellants in a “‘worse position’ as a con-
sequence” of the Banks’ conduct, and have demonstrat-
ed that their injury is one the antitrust laws were de-
signed to prevent.  Gatt, 711 F.3d at 76 (quoting 
Brunswick, 429 U.S. at 486). 

*  *  * 
The district court’s contrary conclusion rested in 

part on the syllogism that since the LIBOR-setting 
process was a “cooperative endeavor,” there could be 
no anticompetitive harm.  LIBOR I, 935 F. Supp. 2d at 
688.  But appellants claim violation (and injury in the 
form of higher prices) flowing from the corruption of 
the rate-setting process, which (allegedly) turned a 
process in which the Banks jointly participated into 
conspiracy.  “[T]he machinery employed by a combina-
tion for price-fixing is immaterial.”  Socony-Vacuum, 
310 U.S. at 223.12  The district court drew a parallel be-
tween the LIBOR-setting process and the collaborative 
venture in Allied Tube (though the standard-setting in 
Allied Tube likewise posed antitrust concerns):  “Like 
the LIBOR-setting process, the process of forming the 
safety standard [in Allied Tube] was a cooperative en-
deavor by otherwise-competing companies under the 
auspices of a trade association.”  LIBOR I, 935 F. Supp. 
2d at 693.  The Banks were indeed engaged in a joint 
                                                 

12 A leading antitrust treatise has similarly seized on this de-
fect.  See IIA Areeda & Hovenkamp, Antitrust Law ¶ 337 p. 100 
n.3 (4th ed. 2014) (labeling LIBOR I a “troublesome holding that 
purchasers of instruments subject to LIBOR rate manipulation 
did not suffer antitrust injury because LIBOR agreements were 
never intended to be anticompetitive but rather the product of 
joint production”). 
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process, and that endeavor was governed by rules put 
in place to prevent collusion.  But the crucial allegation 
is that the Banks circumvented the LIBOR-setting 
rules, and that joint process thus turned into collusion.  
See, e.g., Allied Tube, 486 U.S. at 506-07 (“[P]rivate 
standard-setting by associations comprising firms with 
horizontal and vertical business relations is permitted 
at all under the antitrust laws only on the understand-
ing that it will be conducted in a nonpartisan manner 
offering procompetitive benefits ….”); Maple Flooring 
Mfrs.’ Ass’n v. United States, 268 U.S. 563, 582-83 
(1925) (distinguishing between dissemination of perti-
nent information that stabilizes production and price, 
which is not unlawful, and improper use of that infor-
mation through “any concerted action which operates 
to restrain the freedom of action of those who buy and 
sell”). 

Equally unsound was the district court’s dismissal 
on the ground that appellants failed to plead harm to 
competition.  See LIBOR I, 935 F. Supp. 2d at 688-89.  
“[A] § 4 plaintiff need not ‘prove an actual lessening of 
competition in order to recover.’”  McCready, 457 U.S. 
at 482 (quoting Brunswick, 427 U.S. at 489 n.14).  If 
proof of harm to competition is not a prerequisite for 
recovery, it follows that allegations pleading harm to 
competition are not required to withstand a motion to 
dismiss when the conduct challenged is a per se viola-
tion.  See Maricopa Cty., 457 U.S. at 351 (“The anti-
competitive potential inherent in … price-fixing 
agreements justifies their facial invalidation even if 
procompetitive justifications are offered for some.”); 
Catalano, 446 U.S. at 650 (“[S]ince price-fixing agree-
ments have been adjudged to lack any redeeming vir-
tue, [they are] conclusively presumed illegal without 
further examination ….” (internal quotation marks 
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omitted)).13  The Third Circuit made that point in Pace 
Elecs., Inc. v. Canon Comput. Sys., Inc., 213 F.3d 118, 
123-24 (3d Cir. 2000): 

[W]e believe that requiring a plaintiff to 
demonstrate that an injury stemming from a 
per se violation of the antitrust laws caused an 
actual adverse effect on a relevant market in 
order to satisfy the antitrust injury require-
ment comes dangerously close to transforming 
a per se violation into a case to be judged under 
the rule of reason …. Implicit in the [Supreme] 
Court’s approach is that a plaintiff who had suf-
fered loss as a result of an anticompetitive as-
pect of a per se restraint of trade agreement 
would have suffered antitrust injury, without 
demonstrating that the challenged practice had 
an actual, adverse economic effect on a relevant 
market. 

Appellants have alleged an anticompetitive ten-
dency:  the warping of market factors affecting the 
prices for LIBOR-based financial instruments.  No fur-
ther showing of actual adverse effect in the market-
place is necessary.  This attribute separates evaluation 
of per se violation—which are presumed illegal—from 
rule of reason violations, which demand appraisal of 

                                                 
13 Although these cases apply the per se rule to price‐fixing 

agreements generally, the Supreme Court has clarified that “the 
rule of reason, not a per se rule of unlawfulness, [is] the appropri-
ate standard to judge vertical price restraints.”  Leegin, 551 U.S. 
at 899.  This has no bearing on this case in which appellants allege 
a horizontal price‐fixing conspiracy. 
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the marketplace consequences that flow from a par-
ticular violation.14 

The district court observed that LIBOR did not 
“necessarily correspond to the interest rate charged for 
any actual interbank loan.”  LIBOR I, 935 F. Supp. 2d 
at 689.  This is a disputed factual issue that must be re-
served for the proof stage.  But even if none of the ap-
pellants’ financial instruments paid interest at LIBOR, 
Socony-Vacuum allows an antitrust claim based on the 
influence that a conspiracy exerts on the starting point 
for prices.  See In re High Fructose Corn Syrup Anti-
trust Litig., 295 F.3d 651, 656 (7th Cir. 2002) (“The third 
trap is failing to distinguish between the existence of a 
conspiracy and its efficacy.  The defendants point out 
that many of the actual sales … were made at prices 
below the defendants’ list prices, and they intimate … 
that therefore even a bald-faced agreement to fix list 
prices would not be illegal in this industry …. That is 
wrong.  An agreement to fix list prices is … a per se 
violation of the Sherman Act even if most or for that 
matter all transactions occur at lower prices.”). 

The district court deemed it significant that appel-
lants could have “suffered the same harm under normal 
circumstances of free competition.”  LIBOR I, 935 F. 
Supp. 2d at 689.  True; but antitrust law relies on the 
probability of harm when evaluating per se violations.  
See Catalano, 446 U.S. at 649 (“[T]he fact that a prac-
tice may turn out to be harmless in a particular set of 

                                                 
14 See Capital Imaging Assocs., P.C. v. Mohawk Valley Med. 

Assocs., Inc., 996 F.2d 537, 543 (2d Cir. 1993) (“In the general run 
of cases a plaintiff must prove an antitrust injury under the rule of 
reason.  Under this test plaintiff bears the initial burden of show-
ing that the challenged action has had an actual adverse effect on 
competition as a whole in the relevant market ….”). 
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circumstances will not prevent its being declared un-
lawful per se.”). 

The test fashioned by the district court was based 
on an over-reading of Brunswick and of Atlantic Rich-
field Co. v. USA Petroleum Co., 495 U.S. 328 (1990) 
(“ARCO”).  At most, these cases stand for the proposi-
tion that competitors who complain of low fixed prices 
do not suffer antitrust injury.  See ARCO, 495 U.S. at 
345-46 (“We decline to dilute the antitrust injury re-
quirement here because we find that there is no need to 
encourage private enforcement by competitors of the 
rule against vertical, maximum price fixing …. 
[P]roviding the competitor a cause of action would not 
protect the rights of dealers and consumers under the 
antitrust laws.”).  Neither ARCO nor Brunswick treat-
ed antitrust injury as one that could not have been suf-
fered under normal competitive conditions.15  As ARCO 
explains:  “[t]he antitrust injury requirement ensures 
that a plaintiff can recover only if the loss stems from a 
competition-reducing aspect or effect of the defendant’s 
behavior”; rigging a price component to thwart ordi-
nary market conditions is one such “aspect or effect.”  
495 U.S. at 344.  The district court opinion emphasizes 
that appellants “have not alleged any structural effect 
wherein defendants improved their position relative to 
their competitors.”  LIBOR I, 935 F. Supp. 2d at 692.  
However, appellants sustained their burden of showing 
injury by alleging that they paid artificially fixed high-

                                                 
15 The district court’s musing that the same harm could have 

occurred if the defendants each “independently” submitted a “LI-
BOR quote that was artificially low” is similarly inapt and amounts 
to forcing antitrust plaintiffs to rule out the possibility of unilateral 
action causing their asserted injury; this notion is unsupported by 
precedent.  LIBOR I, 935 F. Supp. 2d at 691. 
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er prices.  Whether the Banks’ competitors were also 
injured is not decisive, and possibly not germane.16 

*  *  * 
“Congress did not intend to allow every person 

tangentially affected by an antitrust violation to main-
tain an action …. [T]he potency of the [§ 4] remedy im-
plies the need for some care in its application.”  
McCready, 457 U.S. at 477.  At the same time, the “un-
restrictive language of the section, and the avowed 
breadth of the congressional purpose” in enacting this 
remedial provision “cautions [courts] not to cabin § 4 in 
ways that will defeat its broad remedial objective.”  Id.  
Accommodation of both aims requires courts to consid-
er “the relationship of the injury alleged with those 
forms of injury about which Congress was likely to 
have been concerned, in making … conduct unlawful 
and in providing a private remedy under § 4.”  Id. at 
478.  The Sherman Act safeguards consumers from 
marketplace abuses; appellants are consumers claiming 
injury from a horizontal price-fixing conspiracy.  They 
have accordingly plausibly alleged antitrust injury. 

B.  THE EFFICIENT ENFORCER FACTORS17 

The second question that bears on antitrust stand-
ing is whether appellants satisfy the efficient enforcer 

                                                 
16 This Court has said in dicta that harm to competition is 

necessary to show antitrust injury.  See Paycom Billing Servs., 
Inc. v. Mastercard Int’l, Inc., 467 F.3d 283, 294 (2d Cir. 2006) 
(“Without harm to competition, there can be no antitrust injury 
and consequently, no antitrust standing.”).  This position cannot be 
reconciled with Supreme Court precedent. 

17 Judge Lynch does not join this section, believing that it is 
unnecessary to the resolution of the case and that it is preferable 
to allow the district court to address the question first, with the 
aid of briefing. 
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factors.  See Daniel, 428 F.3d at 443 (“Even if we were 
to conclude that the plaintiffs had adequately stated an 
antitrust injury, that would not necessarily establish 
their standing to sue in this case.  ‘A showing of anti-
trust injury is necessary, but not always sufficient,’ to 
establish standing.” (quoting Cargill, Inc. v. Monfort of 
Colo., Inc., 479 U.S. 104, 110 n.5 (1986))).  The district 
court did not reach this issue because it dismissed for 
lack of antitrust injury.  We are not in a position to re-
solve these issues, which may entail further inquiry, 
nor are we inclined to answer the several relevant 
questions without prior consideration of them by the 
district court. 

The four efficient enforcer factors are:  (1) the “di-
rectness or indirectness of the asserted injury,” which 
requires evaluation of the “chain of causation” linking 
appellants’ asserted injury and the Banks’ alleged 
price-fixing; (2) the “existence of more direct victims of 
the alleged conspiracy”; (3) the extent to which appel-
lants’ damages claim is “highly speculative”; and (4) the 
importance of avoiding “either the risk of duplicate re-
coveries on the one hand, or the danger of complex ap-
portionment of damages on the other.”  Associated Gen. 
Contractors, 459 U.S. at 540-45. 

These factors require close attention here given 
that there are features of this case that make it like no 
other, and potentially bear upon whether the aims of 
the antitrust laws are most efficiently advanced by ap-
pellants through these suits. 

There are many other enforcement mechanisms at 
work here.  In addition to the plaintiffs in the numerous 
lawsuits consolidated here, the Banks’ conduct is under 
scrutiny by government organs, bank regulators and 
financial regulators in a considerable number of coun-
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tries.  This background context bears upon the need for 
appellants as instruments for vindicating the Sherman 
Act. 

The factors are considered in order. 

A. Causation.  As to the “directness or indirect-
ness of the asserted injury,” id. at 540, a number of 
questions arise, including the relevant market (whether 
for LIBOR-denominated instruments, for interest-
bearing products generally, or simply for money) and 
the antitrust standing of those plaintiffs who did not 
deal directly with the Banks.  Umbrella standing con-
cerns are most often evident when a cartel controls on-
ly part of a market, but a consumer who dealt with a 
non-cartel member alleges that he sustained injury by 
virtue of the cartel’s raising of prices in the market as a 
whole.  See generally In re Processed Egg Prods. Anti-
trust Litig., No. 08-MD-2002, 2015 WL 5544524, at *14 
(E.D. Pa. Sept. 18, 2015); William H. Page, The Scope of 
Liability for Antitrust Violations, 37 STAN. L. REV. 
1445, 1465-74 (1985).  The antitrust standing of umbrel-
la purchasers under such circumstances has produced a 
split in authority among our sister circuits.  Compare 
U.S. Gypsum Co. v. Ind. Gas Co., 350 F.3d 623, 627 (7th 
Cir. 2003) (“A cartel cuts output, which elevates price 
throughout the market; customers of fringe firms 
(sellers that have not joined the cartel) pay this higher 
price, and thus suffer antitrust injury, just like custom-
ers of the cartel’s members.”), and In re Beef Indus. 
Antitrust Litig., 600 F.2d 1148, 1171 n.24 (5th Cir. 1979) 
(“It is immaterial whether or not a steer purchased 
from a plaintiff found its way into the hands of a con-
spirator retailer.  It is enough if, as alleged, the con-
spirators’ activities caused a general depression in 
wholesale prices and the intermediary purchasing from 
a plaintiff based his pricing decision on the depressed 
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wholesale beef price.”), with Mid-West Paper Prods. 
Co. v. Cont’l Grp. Inc., 596 F.2d 573, 580-87 (3d Cir. 
1979) (noting risk that treble damages, spreading be-
yond area of defendants’ direct sales, “‘would result in 
an overkill, due to an enlargement of the private weap-
on to a caliber far exceeding that contemplated by Con-
gress’” (quoting Calderone Enters. Corp. v. United Art-
ists Theatre Circuit, Inc., 454 F.2d 1292, 1295 (2d Cir. 
1971)). 

At first glance, here there appears to be no differ-
ence in the injury alleged by those who dealt in LI-
BOR-denominated instruments, whether their transac-
tions were conducted directly or indirectly with the 
Banks.  At the same time, however, if the Banks control 
only a small percentage of the ultimate identified mar-
ket, see LIBOR I, 935 F. Supp. 2d at 679 (observing 
that “LIBOR affects the pricing of trillions of dollars’ 
worth of financial transactions”), this case may raise 
the very concern of damages disproportionate to 
wrongdoing noted in Mid-West Paper, 596 F.3d at 580-
87.  Requiring the Banks to pay treble damages to eve-
ry plaintiff who ended up on the wrong side of an inde-
pendent LIBOR-denominated derivative swap would, if 
appellants’ allegations were proved at trial, not only 
bankrupt 16 of the world’s most important financial in-
stitutions, but also vastly extend the potential scope of 
antitrust liability in myriad markets where derivative 
instruments have proliferated. 

B. Existence of More Direct Victims.  This consid-
eration seems to bear chiefly on whether the plaintiff is 
a consumer or a competitor, and in this litigation appel-
lants allege status as consumers.  But consumer status 
is not the end of the inquiry; the efficient enforcer cri-
teria must be established irrespective of whether the 
plaintiff is a consumer or a competitor.  See Sunbeam 
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Television Corp. v. Nielsen Media Research, Inc., 711 
F.3d 1264, 1273 (11th Cir. 2013).  Implicit in the inquiry 
is recognition that not every victim of an antitrust vio-
lation needs to be compensated under the antitrust 
laws in order for the antitrust laws to be efficiently en-
forced.  Moreover, one peculiar feature of this case is 
that remote victims (who acquired LIBOR-based in-
struments from any of thousands of non-defendant 
banks) would be injured to the same extent and in the 
same way as direct customers of a the Banks.  The 
bondholders, for example, purchased their bonds from 
other sources.  Crediting the allegations of the com-
plaints, an artificial depression in LIBOR would injure 
anyone who bought bank debt pegged to LIBOR from 
any bank anywhere.  So in this case directness may 
have diminished weight. 

C. Speculative Damages.  “‘The most elementary 
conceptions of justice and public policy require that the 
wrongdoer shall bear the risk of the uncertainty which 
his own wrong has created.’”  In re DDAVP Direct 
Purchaser Antitrust Litig., 585 F.3d 677, 689 (2d Cir. 
2009) (alteration omitted) (quoting Bigelow v. RKO 
Radio Pictures, Inc., 327 U.S. 251, 265 (1946)).  Still, 
highly speculative damages is a sign that a given plain-
tiff is an inefficient engine of enforcement. 

Any damages estimate would require evidence to 
“‘support a just and reasonable estimate’ of damages,” 
and it is difficult to see how appellants would arrive at 
such an estimate, even with the aid of expert testimo-
ny.  U.S. Football League v. Nat’l Football League, 842 
F.2d 1335, 1378 (2d Cir. 1988) (quoting Bigelow, 327 
U.S. at 264).  At the same time, some degree of uncer-
tainty stems from the nature of antitrust law.  See J. 
Truett Payne Co., Inc. v. Chrysler Motors Corp., 451 
U.S. 557, 566 (1981) (“Our willingness to accept a de-
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gree of uncertainty in these cases rests in part on the 
difficulty of ascertaining business damages as com-
pared, for example, to damages resulting from a per-
sonal injury or from condemnation of a parcel of land.  
The vagaries of the marketplace usually deny us sure 
knowledge of what plaintiff’s situation would have been 
in the absence of the defendant’s antitrust violation.”).  
Impediments to reaching a reliable damages estimate 
often flow from the nature and complexity of the al-
leged antitrust violation.  See DDAVP, 585 F.3d at 689. 

The issue here is whether the damages would nec-
essarily be “highly speculative.”  Associated Gen. Con-
tractors, 459 U.S. at 542.  And as to that, this case pre-
sents some unusual challenges.  The disputed transac-
tions were done at rates that were negotiated, notwith-
standing that the negotiated component was the incre-
ment above LIBOR.  And the market for money is 
worldwide, with competitors offering various incre-
ments above LIBOR, or rates pegged to other bench-
marks, or rates set without reference to any benchmark 
at all. 

D. Duplicative Recovery and Complex Damage 
Apportionment.  The complaints reference government 
and regulatory investigations and suits, which are in-
deed the basis for many of the allegations made and 
documents referenced in the complaints.  The transac-
tions that are the subject of investigation and suit are 
countless and the ramified consequences are beyond 
conception.  Related proceedings are ongoing in at least 
several countries.  Some of those government initia-
tives may seek damages on behalf of victims, and for 
apportionment among them.  Others may seek fines, 
injunctions, disgorgement, and other remedies known 
to United States courts and foreign jurisdictions.  It is 
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wholly unclear on this record how issues of duplicate 
recovery and damage apportionment can be assessed. 

*  *  * 
The efficient enforcer factors reflect a “concern 

about whether the putative plaintiff is a proper party 
to ‘perform the office of a private attorney general’ 
and thereby ‘vindicate the public interest in antitrust 
enforcement.’”  Gatt, 711 F.3d at 80 (quoting Associat-
ed Gen. Contractors, 459 U.S. at 542).  We remand for 
the district court to consider these matters in the first 
instance. 

III 

The Banks urge affirmance on the alternative 
ground that appellants have not adequately alleged 
conspiracy.  The district court’s opinion expressed no 
view on this issue, having dismissed appellants’ case for 
lack of antitrust standing.  But there is no point in re-
manding f or consideration of this question because the 
district court expressed its position in a recent decision 
adjudicating motions to dismiss new complaints that 
asserted claims identical to those presently before us:18  
“parallel conduct need not imply a conspiracy, and cer-
tainly not where each supposed conspiracy inde-
pendently had the same motive (namely, to protect its 
own reputation for creditworthiness) to engage inde-
pendently in the same misconduct …. Plaintiffs’ re-
maining allegations do not support the pleading of a 

                                                 
18 These complaints were filed by new plaintiffs, including the 

Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (“Freddie Mac”), who 
sought to join the present appeal as amici.  That motion was denied 
because these plaintiffs elected not to join the appeal at the outset 
as instructed by Gelboim.  See In re: LIBOR‐Based Fin. Instru-
ments Antitrust Litig., No. 13‐3565 (2d Cir. Sept. 18, 2015) (Doc. 
557). 
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broad-based conspiracy to manipulate USD LIBOR for 
traders’ benefit or to suppress LIBOR during the fi-
nancial crisis.”  In re LIBOR-Based Fin. Instruments 
Antitrust Litig., No. 11 MDL 2262, 2015 WL 4634541, 
at *41-*44 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 4, 2015) (“LIBOR IV”).  The 
parties have briefed this issue on appeal; judicial econ-
omy is accordingly served by our consideration of the 
question now.  To survive dismissal, “the plaintiff need 
not show that its allegations suggesting an agreement 
are more likely than not true or that they rule out the 
possibility of independent action, as would be required 
at later litigation stages such as a defense motion for 
summary judgment, or a trial.”  Anderson News, L.L.C. 
v. Am. Media, Inc., 680 F.3d 162, 184 (2d Cir. 2012) (ci-
tations omitted).  Rather, “[b]ecause plausibility is a 
standard lower than probability, a given set of actions 
may well be subject to diverging interpretations, each 
of which is plausible …. The choice between two plausi-
ble inferences that may be drawn from factual allega-
tions is not a choice to be made by the court on a Rule 
12(b)(6) motion.”  Id. at 184-85 (citations omitted).  
Skepticism of a conspiracy’s existence is insufficient to 
warrant dismissal; “a well-pleaded complaint may pro-
ceed even if it strikes a savvy judge that actual proof of 
those facts is improbable, and ‘that a recovery is very 
remote and unlikely.’”  Twombly, 550 U.S. at 556 (quot-
ing Scheuer v. Rhodes, 416 U.S. 232, 236 (1974)). 

“In order to establish a conspiracy in violation of 
§ 1 … proof of joint or concerted action is required; 
proof of unilateral action does not suffice.”  Anderson 
News, 680 F.3d at 183.  “‘Circumstances must reveal a 
unity of purpose or a common design and understand-
ing, or a meeting of minds in an unlawful arrange-
ment.’”  Id. (quoting Monsanto Co. v. Spray-Rite Ser-
vice Corp., 465 U.S. 752, 764 (1984)).  It follows, then, 
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that a “complaint alleging merely parallel conduct is not 
sustainable.”  Id. at 184.  At the same time, “conspira-
cies are rarely evidenced by explicit agreements” and 
“nearly always must be proven through ‘inferences that 
may fairly be drawn from the behavior of the alleged 
conspirators.’”  Id. at 183 (quoting Michelman v. Clark-
Schwebel Fiber Glass Corp., 534 F.2d 1036, 1043 (2d 
Cir. 1976)).  “At the pleading stage, a complaint claim-
ing conspiracy, to be plausible, must plead ‘enough fac-
tual matter (taken as true) to suggest that an agree-
ment was made ….’”  Id. at 184 (quoting Twombly, 550 
U.S. at 556). 

The line separating conspiracy from parallelism is 
indistinct, but may be crossed with allegations of “in-
terdependent conduct,” “accompanied by circumstantial 
evidence and plus factors.”  Mayor & City Council of 
Balt. v. Citigroup, Inc., 709 F.3d 129, 136 (2d Cir. 2013) 
(quoting Todd, 275 F.3d at 198).  These plus factors in-
clude:  (1) “‘a common motive to conspire’”; (2) “‘evi-
dence that shows that the parallel acts were against the 
apparent individual economic self-interest of the al-
leged conspirators’”; and (3) “‘evidence of a high level of 
interfirm communications.’”  Id. (quoting Twombly v. 
Bell Atl. Corp., 425 F.3d 99, 114 (2d Cir. 2005)).  
“[T]hese plus factors are neither exhaustive nor exclu-
sive, but rather illustrative of the type of circumstances 
which, when combined with parallel behavior, might 
permit a jury to infer the existence of an agreement.”  
Id. n.6. 

Close cases abound on this issue, but this is not one 
of them; appellants’ complaints contain numerous alle-
gations that clear the bar of plausibility.19  These alle-

                                                 
19 See, e.g., OTC Second Amended Complaint at 33 ¶ 87 

(“Barclays also knew that the other panel banks, acting as a pack, 
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gations evince a common motive to conspire—increased 
profits and the projection of financial soundness—as 
well as a high number of interfirm communications, in-
cluding Barclays’ knowledge of other banks’ confiden-
tial individual submissions in advance.  The parallelism 
is accompanied by plus factors plausibly suggesting a 
conspiracy, to say nothing of the economic evidence in 
the complaints—such as the LIBOR-FRED diver-

                                                                                                    
were submitting USD LIBOR rates that were too low.  Barclays’ 
employees revealed that all of the Contributor Panel banks, in-
cluding Barclays, were submitting rates that were too low.” 
(bolding and emphasis in original) (internal quotation marks omit-
ted)); id. at 36 ¶ 92 (“On May 21, 2008, a Wall Street Journal re-
porter asked UBS, by email, why back in mid‐April … UBS had 
been paying 12 basis points for [commercial paper] more than it 
was posting as a Libor quote?  The senior manager … forwarded a 
proposed answer … stating:  the answer would be because the 
whole street was doing the same and because we did not want 
to be an outlier in the libor fixings, just like everybody else.” 
(bolding and emphasis in original) (internal quotation marks omit-
ted)); id. at 40 ¶ 108 (“For example, a November 29, 2007 email 
shows that Barclays knew, in advance of the submission deadline, 
the proposed confidential submissions of every USD LIBOR pan-
el bank. 

On 29 November 2007, all the contributing banks’ sub-
missions for one month US dollar LIBOR increased by a 
range of 35 to 48 basis points.  Barclays’ submission in-
creased from 4.86 on 28 November to 5.3 on 29 Novem-
ber (an increase of 44 basis points).  The offer that Bar-
clays saw in the market was 30 basis points higher, at 
5.60.  Barclays’ Submitter had intended to submit a rate 
of 5.50 on that day.  However he was overruled on a con-
ference call during which the submissions were dis-
cussed, as a rate of 5.50 was expected to draw negative 
media attention (as this would have been 20 basis 
points above the next highest submission).  Manager E 
said on the call that it’s going to cause a sh*t storm.”). 

(bolding and emphasis in original). 
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gence—further supporting an inference of conspiracy.20  
The Banks argue that the “pack” behavior described in 
the complaints is equally consistent with parallelism.  
Maybe; but at the motion-to-dismiss stage, appellants 
must only put forth sufficient factual matter to plausi-
bly suggest an inference of conspiracy, even if the facts 
are susceptible to an equally likely interpretation.  See 
Anderson News, 680 F.3d at 184 (“Because plausibility 
is a standard lower than probability, a given set of ac-
tions may well be subject to diverging interpretations, 
each of which is plausible.”). 

Because appellants have plausibly alleged the ex-
istence of an inter-bank conspiracy, the district court’s 
decision cannot be affirmed on the alternative basis 
urged by the Banks. 

IV. 

This decision is of narrow scope.  It may be that the 
influence of the corrupted LIBOR figure on competi-
tion was weak and potentially insignificant, given that 
the financial transactions at issue are complex, LIBOR 
was not binding, and the worldwide market for financial 
instruments—nothing less than the market for mon-
ey—is vast, and influenced by multiple benchmarks.  
                                                 

20 See also OTC Second Amended Complaint at 44 ¶¶ 116‐17 
(“Further demonstrating UBS submitters’ stunning ability to con-
sistently target the actual published LIBOR rates despite a vola-
tile market, the DOJ found that from June 18, 2008, and continuing 
for approximately the same 10 month period, UBS’s 3‐month LI-
BOR submissions were identical to the published LIBOR fix, and 
largely consistent with the published LIBOR fix in the other ten-
ors.  Using probability analysis, the consulting expert then calcu-
lated the likelihood to be less than 1 % that UBS could have 
achieved this remarkable consistency based on consideration of the 
prior day’s interquartile range LIBOR Panel Bank submissions.” 
(bolding and emphasis in original)). 
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The net impact of a tainted LIBOR in the credit market 
is an issue of causation reserved for the proof stage; at 
this stage, it is plausibly alleged on the face of the com-
plaints that a manipulation of LIBOR exerted some in-
fluence on price.  The extent of that influence and the 
identity of persons who can sue, among other things, 
are matters reserved for later. 

Moreover, common sense dictates that the Banks 
operated not just as borrowers but also as lenders in 
transactions that referenced LIBOR.  Banks do not 
stockpile money, any more than bakers stockpile yeast.  
It seems strange that this or that bank (or any bank) 
would conspire to gain, as a borrower, profits that 
would be offset by a parity of losses it would suffer as a 
lender.  On the other hand, the record is undeveloped 
and it is not even established that the Banks used LI-
BOR in setting rates for lending transactions.  Never-
theless, the potential of a wash requires further devel-
opment and can only be properly analyzed at later 
stages of the litigation. 

Although novel features of this case raise a number 
of fact issues, we think it is clear that, once appellants’ 
allegations are taken as true (as must be done at this 
stage), they have plausibly alleged both antitrust viola-
tion and antitrust injury and thus, have cleared the mo-
tion-to-dismiss bar.  It is accordingly unnecessary for 
us to reach or decide whether the district court erred 
by denying appellants leave to amend their complaints. 

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, we vacate the judgment 
of the district court and remand for further proceedings 
consistent with this opinion. 
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APPENDIX B 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

 
Nos. 11 MD 2262 (NRB) 

 

IN RE: 
LIBOR-BASED FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

ANTITRUST LITIGATION. 

THIS DOCUMENT RELATES TO:  ALL CASES 

 

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER 

 

NAOMI REICE BUCHWALD 
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE 

I.  Introduction 

These cases arise out of the alleged manipulation of 
the London InterBank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”), an in-
terest rate benchmark that has been called “the world’s 
most important number.”  British Bankers’ Ass’n, BBA 
LIBOR: The World’s Most Important Number Now 
Tweets Daily (May 21, 2009), http://www.bbalibor.com/
news-releases/bba-libor-the-worlds-most-importantnum
ber-now-tweets-daily.  As numerous newspaper arti-
cles over the past year have reported, domestic and 
foreign regulatory agencies have already reached set-
tlements with several banks involved in the LIBOR-
setting process, with penalties reaching into the billions 
of dollars. 
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The cases presently before us do not involve gov-
ernmental regulatory action, but rather are private 
lawsuits by persons who allegedly suffered harm as a 
result of the suppression of LIBOR.  Starting in mid-
2011, such lawsuits began to be filed in this District and 
others across the country.  On August 12, 2011, the Ju-
dicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation transferred sev-
eral such cases from other districts to this Court for 
“coordinated or consolidated pretrial proceedings.”  In 
re Libor-Based Fin. Instruments Antitrust Litig., 802 
F. Supp. 2d 1380, 1381 (J.P.M.L. 2011); see also 28 
U.S.C. § 1407 (2006). 

On June 29, 2012, defendants filed motions to dis-
miss.  Four categories of cases are subject to defend-
ants’ motions to dismiss:  cases brought by (1) over-the-
counter (“OTC”) plaintiffs, (2) exchange-based plain-
tiffs, (3) bondholder plaintiffs, and (4) Charles Schwab 
plaintiffs (the “Schwab plaintiffs”).  The first three cat-
egories each involve purported class actions, and each 
has a single lead action.  The lead action for the OTC 
plaintiffs is Mayor and City Council of Baltimore v. 
Bank of America (11 Civ. 5450); the lead action for the 
exchange-based plaintiffs is FTC Capital GmbH v. 
Credit Suisse Group (11 Civ. 2613), and the lead action 
for the bondholder plaintiffs is Gelboim v. Credit Suisse 
Group (12 Civ. 1025).  By contrast, the Schwab plain-
tiffs do not seek to represent a class, but rather have 
initiated three separate cases:  Schwab Short-Term 
Bond Market Fund v. Bank of America Corp. (11 Civ. 
6409), Charles Schwab Bank, N.A. v. Bank of America 
Corp. (11 Civ. 6411), and Schwab Money Market Fund 
v. Bank of America Corp. (11 Civ. 6412). 

Subsequent to defendants’ filing of their motion to 
dismiss, several new complaints were filed.  It quickly 
became apparent to us that information relating to this 
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case would continue indefinitely to come to light, that 
new complaints would continue to be filed, and that 
waiting for the “dust to settle” would require an unac-
ceptable delay in the proceedings. 

Therefore, on August 14, 2012, we issued a Memo-
randum and Order imposing a stay on all complaints not 
then subject to defendants’ motions to dismiss, pending 
the present decision.  In re LIBOR-Based Fin. Instru-
ments Antitrust Litig., No. 11 MD 2262, 2012 WL 
3578149 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 14, 2012).  Although we en-
couraged the prompt filing of new complaints, see id. at 
*1 n.2, we determined that the most sensible way to 
proceed would be to wait on addressing those cases un-
til we had clarified the legal landscape through our de-
cision on defendants’ motions. 

For the reasons stated below, defendants’ motions 
to dismiss are granted in part and denied in part.  With 
regard to plaintiffs’ federal antitrust claim1 and RICO 
claim, defendants’ motions are granted.  With regard to 
plaintiffs’ commodities manipulation claims, defendants’ 
motions are granted in part and denied in part.  Finally, 
we dismiss with prejudice the Schwab plaintiffs’ Cart-
wright Act claim and the exchange-based plaintiffs’ 
state-law claim, and we decline to exercise supple-
mental jurisdiction over the remaining state-law claims. 

                                                 
1 Because each amended complaint asserts only one federal 

antitrust claim, we will refer in the singular to plaintiffs’ federal 
antitrust “claim.”  Similarly, because each of the Schwab amended 
complaints asserts one RICO claim and one Cartwright Act claim, 
we will refer in the singular to the Schwab plaintiffs’ RICO “claim” 
and Cartwright Act “claim.” 
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II.  Background 

Despite the legal complexity of this case, the factu-
al allegations are rather straightforward.  Essentially, 
they are as follows:  Defendants are members of a panel 
assembled by a banking trade association to calculate a 
daily interest rate benchmark.  Each business day, de-
fendants submit to the association a rate that is sup-
posed to reflect their expected costs of borrowing U.S. 
dollars from other banks, and the association computes 
and publishes the average of these submitted rates.  
The published average is used as a benchmark interest 
rate in financial instruments worldwide.  According to 
plaintiffs, defendants conspired to report rates that did 
not reflect their good-faith estimates of their borrowing 
costs, and in fact submitted artificial rates over the 
course of thirty-four months.  Because defendants al-
legedly submitted artificial rates, the final computed 
average was also artificial.  Plaintiffs allege that they 
suffered injury because they held positions in various 
financial instruments that were negatively affected by 
defendants’ alleged fixing of the benchmark interest 
rate. 

As one would expect, the parties’ primary factual 
disagreement concerns whether defendants conspired 
to submit artificial rates and whether they in fact did 
so.  Plaintiffs have included in their complaints exten-
sive evidence that allegedly supports their allegations 
on these points, and defendants, were this case to pro-
ceed to trial, would surely present evidence to the con-
trary with equal vigor.  However, our present task is 
not to resolve the parties’ factual disagreements, but 
rather to decide defendants’ motions to dismiss.  These 
motions raise numerous issues of law, issues that, alt-
hough they require serious legal analysis, may be re-
solved without heavy engagement with the facts.  
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Therefore, we will set out in this section only those fac-
tual allegations necessary to provide context for our 
decision, and will cite further allegations later as ap-
propriate.  This section will begin by explaining what 
LIBOR is and will then discuss defendants’ alleged 
misconduct and how it allegedly injured plaintiffs. 

A.  LIBOR 

LIBOR is a benchmark interest rate disseminated 
by the British Bankers’ Association (the “BBA”), a 
“leading trade association for the U.K. banking and fi-
nancial services sector.”  OTC Am. Compl. ¶ 42 (quot-
ing BBA, About Us, http://www.bba.org.uk/about-us 
(last visited Mar. 29, 2013)).2  LIBOR is calculated for 
ten currencies, including the U.S. dollar (“USD LI-
BOR”).  Id. ¶ 43.  For each of the currencies, the BBA 
has assembled a panel of banks whose interest rate 
submissions are considered in calculating the bench-
mark (a “Contributor Panel”); each member of the Con-
tributor Panel must be a bank that “is regulated and 
authorized to trade on the London money market.”  Id. 
¶ 46.  The Contributor Panel for USD LIBOR, the only 

                                                 
2 The six amended complaints subject to defendants’ motions 

to dismiss are essentially identical in their allegations regarding 
the background of this case and the misconduct that defendants 
allegedly committed.  Therefore, in section A, providing back-
ground on LIBOR, and section B, discussing defendants’ alleged 
misconduct, we will cite exclusively to the OTC Amended Com-
plaint, with the understanding that parallel allegations are con-
tained in most or all of the other amended complaints.  By con-
trast, the primary areas in which the amended complaints differ 
are in their allegations of who the plaintiffs are, how they were 
allegedly injured, and what claims they are asserting against de-
fendants.  Accordingly, in Part C, when we discuss plaintiffs’ al-
leged injury, we will explore the allegations particular to specific 
amended complaints. 
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rate at issue in this case, consisted at all relevant times 
of sixteen banks.  The defendants here, or one of their 
affiliates, are each members of that panel. 

Each business day, the banks on a given LIBOR 
Contributor Panel answer the following question, with 
regard to the currency for which the bank sits on the 
Contributor Panel:  “At what rate could you borrow 
funds, were you to do so by asking for and then accept-
ing inter-bank offers in a reasonable market size just 
prior to 11 am?”  Id. ¶ 48.  Importantly, this question 
does not ask banks to report an interest rate that they 
actually paid or even an average of interest rates that 
they actually paid; rather, it inquires at what rate the 
banks “predict they can borrow unsecured funds from 
other banks in the London wholesale money market.”  
Id. ¶ 44.  Each bank will answer this question with re-
gard to fifteen maturities, or tenors, ranging from 
overnight to one year.  Id.; Settlement Agreement Be-
tween Dep’t of Justice, Criminal Div., and Barclays 
(June 26, 2012), Appendix A, ¶ 5, Ex. 3, Scherrer Decl. 
[hereinafter DOJ Statement].  The banks submit rates 
in response to this question (“LIBOR quotes” or “LI-
BOR submissions”) each business day by 11:10 AM 
London time to Thomson Reuters, acting as the BBA’s 
agent.  OTC. Am. Compl. ¶ 47; DOJ Statement ¶ 3.  
Each bank “must submit its rate without reference to 
rate contributed by other Contributor Panel banks.”  
DOJ Statement ¶ 6. 

After receiving quotes from each bank on a given 
panel, Thomson Reuters determines the LIBOR for 
that day (the “LIBOR fix”) by ranking the quotes for a 
given maturity in descending order and calculating the 
arithmetic mean of the middle two quartiles.  OTC Am. 
Compl. ¶ 48; DOJ Statement ¶ 4.  For example, suppose 
that on a particular day, the banks on the Contributor 
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Panel for U.S. dollars submitted the following quotes 
for the three-month maturity (“three-month USD LI-
BOR”):  4.0%, 3.9%, 3.9%, 3.9%, 3.8%, 3.8%, 3.7%, 3.6%, 
3.5%, 3.5%, 3.4%, 3.3%, 3.3%, 3.1%, 3.0%, and 3.0%.  The 
quotes in the middle two quartiles would be:  3.8%, 
3.8%, 3.7%, 3.6%, 3.5%, 3.5%, 3.4%, and 3.3%.  The 
arithmetic mean of these quotes, 3.575%, would be the 
LIBOR fix for that day. 

Thomson Reuters publishes the new LIBOR fix 
each business day by approximately 11:30 AM London 
time.  DOJ Statement ¶ 5.  In addition to publishing the 
final fix, “Thomson Reuters publishes each Contributor 
Panel bank’s submitted rates along with the names of 
the banks.”  Id.  Therefore, it is a matter of public 
knowledge not only what the LIBOR fix is on any given 
business day, but also what quote each bank submitted 
and how the final fix was calculated. 

LIBOR is “the primary benchmark for short term 
interest rates globally.”  OTC Am. Compl. ¶ 44.  For 
example, market actors “commonly set the interest 
rate on floating-rate notes [in which the seller of the 
note pays the buyer a variable rate] as a spread against 
LIBOR,” such as LIBOR plus 2%, and “use LIBOR as 
a basis to determine the correct rate of return on short-
term fixed-rate notes [in which the seller of the note 
pays the buyer a fixed rate] (by comparing the offered 
rate to LIBOR).”  In short, LIBOR “affects the pricing 
of trillions of dollars’ worth of financial transactions.”  
Id. ¶ 45. 

B.  Defendants’ Alleged Misconduct 

According to plaintiffs, “Defendants collusively and 
systematically suppressed LIBOR during the Class Pe-
riod,” defined as August 2007 to May 2010.  OTC Am. 
Compl. ¶ 2; see also id. ¶¶ 4-8; Exchange Am. Compl. 
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¶ 1.  Defendants allegedly did so by each submitting an 
artificially low LIBOR quotes to Thomson Reuters 
each business day during the Class Period.  OTC Am. 
Compl. ¶ 6. 

Plaintiffs argue that defendants had two primary 
motives for suppressing LIBOR.  First, “well aware 
that the interest rate a bank pays (or expects to pay) on 
its debt is widely, if not universally, viewed as embody-
ing the market’s assessment of the risk associated with 
that bank, Defendants understated their borrowing 
costs (thereby suppressing LIBOR) to portray them-
selves as economically healthier than they actually 
were.”  OTC Am. Compl. ¶ 5.  Moreover, “because no 
one bank would want to stand out as bearing a higher 
degree of risk than its fellow banks, each Defendant 
shared a powerful incentive to collude with its co-
Defendants to ensure it was not the ‘odd man out.’”  Id. 
¶ 52.  Second, “artificially suppressing LIBOR allowed 
Defendants to pay lower interest rates on LIBOR-
based financial instruments that Defendants sold to in-
vestors, including [plaintiffs], during the Class Period.”  
Id. ¶ 5; see also id. ¶ 53. 

Plaintiffs devote the bulk of their complaints to 
amassing evidence that LIBOR was fixed at artificially 
low levels during the Class Period.  For one, plaintiffs 
offer statistical evidence showing that LIBOR diverged 
during the Class Period from benchmarks that it would 
normally track.  First, each defendant’s LIBOR quotes 
allegedly diverged over the Class Period from its prob-
abilities of default, as calculated by experts retained by 
plaintiffs.  OTC Am. Compl. ¶¶ 57-66.  A bank’s proba-
bility of default should correlate positively with its cost 
of borrowing, based on the basic principle that “inves-
tors require a higher … rate of return as a premium for 
taking on additional risk exposure.”  Id. ¶ 59.  However, 
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plaintiffs’ experts found “a striking negative correlation 
between USD-LIBOR panel bank’s LIBOR quotes and 
[probabilities of default] during 2007 and 2008.”  Id. 
¶ 66.  This suggests that defendants “severely de-
pressed LIBOR during that time.”  Id. 

Second, LIBOR diverged during the Class Period 
from another comparable benchmark, the Federal Re-
serve Eurodollar Deposit Rate (the “Fed Eurodollar 
Rate”).  Eurodollars are defined as “U.S. dollars depos-
ited in commercial banks outside the United States.”  
Exchange Am. Compl. ¶ 200 (quoting CME Group, Eu-
rodollar Futures, http://www.cmegroup.com/trading/
interest-rates/files/IR148_Eurodollar_Futures_Fact_
Card.pdf).  Like LIBOR, the Fed Eurodollar Rate “re-
flect[s] the rates at which banks in the London Euro-
dollar money market lend U.S. dollars to one another,” 
OTC Am. Compl. ¶ 68, though because LIBOR is based 
on the interest rate that banks expect lenders to offer 
them (an “offered rate”), whereas the Fed Eurodollar 
Rate is based on what banks are willing to pay to bor-
row (a “bid rate”), “the Fed’s Eurodollar rate should be 
less than LIBOR.”  Scott Peng et al., Citigroup, Special 
Topic: Is LIBOR Broken?, Apr. 10, 2008.  However, 
plaintiffs’ experts found that LIBOR was lower than 
the Fed Eurodollar Rate, and that individual defend-
ants’ LIBOR quotes were also lower than the Fed Eu-
rodollar Rate, for most of the Class Period.  OTC Am. 
Compl. ¶¶ 67-88.  According to plaintiffs, this finding 
suggests not only that “suppression of LIBOR occurred 
during the Class Period,” but also that defendants con-
spired to suppress LIBOR, as “[t]he sustained period 
during which the [Fed Eurodollar Rate]—LIBOR 
Spread fell and remained starkly negative … is not 
plausibly achievable absent collusion among Defend-
ants.”  Id. ¶ 88. 
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In addition to the above statistical analysis, plain-
tiffs cite “publicly available analyses by academics and 
other commentators” which “collectively indicate IL-
BOR was artificially suppressed during the Class Peri-
od.”  Id. ¶ 89.  For instance, plaintiffs discuss studies 
that found “variance between [banks’] LIBOR quotes 
and their contemporaneous cost of buying default in-
surance … on debt they issued during [the Class Peri-
od].”  Id. ¶ 90; see also id. ¶¶ 90-103.  Plaintiffs also 
note commentators’ findings that defendants’ LIBOR 
quotes “demonstrated suspicious ‘bunching’ around the 
fourth lowest quote submitted by the 16 banks,” which 
“suggests Defendants collectively depressed LIBOR by 
reporting the lowest possible rates that would not be 
excluded from the calculation of LIBOR on a given day.  
Id. ¶ 105; see also id. ¶¶ 105-13. 

Plaintiffs further observe that “during 2008 and 
2009 at least some of [defendants’] LIBOR quotes were 
too low in light of the dire financial circumstances the 
banks faced.”  Id. ¶ 128.  For instance, the LIBOR 
submissions of Citigroup, RBS, and WestLB were sus-
piciously low given the financial troubles facing those 
banks during the Class Period.  Id. ¶¶ 128-38. 

Finally, plaintiffs allege that they were not aware 
of defendants’ manipulation “until March 15, 2011, when 
UBS released its annual report 20-F stating that it had 
received subpoenas from the Department of Justice, 
the SEC, the CFTC, as well as an information request 
from the Japanese Financial Supervisory Agency, all 
relating to its interest rate submissions to the BBA.”  
Id. ¶ 205.  UBS had explained that these investigations 
addressed “whether there were improper attempts by 
UBS, either acting on its own or together with others, 
to manipulate LIBOR at certain times.”  Plaintiffs 
maintain that, even though several news articles had 
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warned as early as spring 2008 that LIBOR was suspi-
ciously low,3 these warnings did not provide notice of 
defendants’ alleged manipulation of LIBOR because 
they were counteracted by public statements from the 
BBA and individual defendants that provided alterna-
tive explanations for why LIBOR had failed to track 
comparable benchmarks.  Id. ¶¶ 192-204. 

Following the filing of plaintiffs’ amended com-
plaints on April 30, 2012, several governmental agen-
cies disclosed that they had reached settlements with 
Barclays with regards to Barclays’ submission of artifi-
cial LIBOR quotes.  Although plaintiffs were not able 
to incorporate information from these settlements into 
their amended complaints, they have submitted to the 
Court, in the course of opposing defendants’ motions to 
dismiss, settlement documents issued by the Criminal 
Division of the Department of Justice, the Commodities 
Futures Trading Commission (the “CFTC”), and the 
United Kingdom Financial Services Authority (the 
“FSA”).  See DOJ Statement; CFTC Settlement Order 
(June 27, 2012) [hereinafter CFTC Order], Ex. 4, 
Scherrer Decl.; FSA Final Notice (June 27, 2012), Ex. 5, 
Scherrer Decl. [hereinafter FSA Notice]. 

These agencies found that Barclays had engaged in 
“wrongful conduct spann[ing] from at least 2005 
through at least 2009,” at times “on an almost daily ba-
sis.”  CFTC Order 2.  Specifically: 

During the period from at least mid-2005 
through the fall of 2007, and sporadically there-
after into 2009, Barclays based its LIBOR 

                                                 
3 These articles will be discussed in detail below in the con-

text of whether plaintiffs’ commodities manipulation claims are 
time-barred. 
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submissions for U.S. Dollar (and at limited 
times other currencies) on the requests of Bar-
clays’ swaps traders, including former Barclays 
swaps traders, who were attempting to affect 
the official published LIBOR, in order to bene-
fit Barclays’ derivatives trading positions; 
those positions included swaps and futures 
trading positions …. 

Id.  The agencies documented instances in which Bar-
clays’ LIBOR submitters had accommodated requests 
from traders for an artificially high LIBOR quote as 
well as instances where the LIBOR submitters had ac-
commodated requests for an artificially low LIBOR 
quote.  See, e.g., id. at 7-11.  In addition to this manipu-
lation to benefit daily trading positions, leading to ei-
ther an artificially high or artificially low LIBOR quote, 
the agencies found that from “late August 2007 through 
early 2009,” Barclays’s LIBOR submitters, “[p]ursuant 
to a directive by certain members of Barclays’ senior 
management,” consistently submitted artificially low 
LIBOR quotes “in order to manage what [Barclays] be-
lieved were inaccurate and negative public and media 
perceptions that Barclays had a liquidity problem.”  Id. 
at 3. 

C.  Plaintiffs’ Alleged Injury 

As discussed above, the present motions to dismiss 
apply to the amended complaints of four groups of 
plaintiffs:  the OTC, bondholder, exchange-based, and 
Schwab plaintiffs.  Each of these groups alleges that it 
suffered a distinct injury as a result of defendants’ al-
leged misconduct.  We will address each group in turn. 
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1.  OTC Plaintiffs 

The lead OTC plaintiffs are the Mayor and City 
Council of Baltimore (“Baltimore”) and the City of New 
Britain Firefighters’ and Police Benefit Fund (“New 
Britain”).  Baltimore “purchased hundreds of millions of 
dollars in interest rate swaps directly from at least one 
Defendant in which the rate of return was tied to LI-
BOR.”  OTC Am. Compl. ¶ 12.  New Britain “purchased 
tens of millions of dollars in interest rate swaps directly 
from at least one Defendant in which the rate of return 
was tied to LIBOR.”  Id. ¶ 13.  These plaintiffs seek to 
represent a class of “[a]ll persons or entities … that 
purchased in the United States, directly from a De-
fendant, a financial instrument that paid interest in-
dexed to LIBOR … any time during the [Class Peri-
od].”  Id. ¶ 34.  According to plaintiffs, they suffered 
injury as a result of defendants’ alleged misconduct be-
cause their financial instruments provided that they 
would receive payments based on LIBOR, and when 
defendants allegedly suppressed LIBOR, plaintiffs re-
ceived lower payments from defendants.  See id. ¶¶ 8, 
219. 

2.  Bondholder Plaintiffs 

The lead bondholder plaintiffs are Ellen Gelboim 
(“Gelboim”) and Linda Zacher (“Zacher”).  Gelboim “is 
the sole beneficiary of her Individual Retirement Ac-
count that during the Class Period owned a … LIBOR-
Based Debt Security issued by General Electric Capital 
Corporation.”  Bondholder Am. Compl. ¶ 15.  Similarly, 
Zacher “is the sole beneficiary of her late husband’s In-
dividual Retirement Account that during the Class Pe-
riod owned a … LIBOR-Based Debt Security issued by 
the State of Israel.”  Id. ¶ 16.  These plaintiffs seek to 
represent the following class:   
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[A]ll [persons] who owned (including beneficial-
ly in ‘street name’) any U.S. dollar-
denominated debt security (a) that was as-
signed a unique identification number by the 
[Committee on Uniform Securities Identifica-
tion Procedures] system; (b) on which interest 
was payable at any time [during the Class Pe-
riod]; and (c) where that interest was payable 
at a rate expressly linked to the U.S. Dollar Li-
bor rate. 

Id. ¶ 1; see also id. ¶ 198.  This class excludes holders of 
debt securities to the extent that their securities were 
“issued by any Defendant as obligor.”  Id.  Plaintiffs al-
lege that they suffered injury as a result of defendants’ 
alleged misconduct because they “receiv[ed] manipu-
lated and artificially depressed amounts of interest on 
[the] [d]ebt [s]ecurities they owned during the Class 
Period.”  Id. ¶ 14. 

3.  Exchange-Based Plaintiffs 

In order to place the exchange-based plaintiffs’ 
claims in context, we will first provide a brief overview 
of Eurodollar futures contracts.  We will then summa-
rize who plaintiffs are and how they allege they were 
injured. 

a.  Eurodollar Futures Contracts 

A futures contract “is an agreement for the sale of 
a commodity on a specific date (the ‘delivery date’).”  In 
re Amaranth Natural Gas Commodities Litig., 269 
F.R.D. 366, 372 (S.D.N.Y. 2010).  The seller of a futures 
contract, known as the “short,” agrees to deliver the 
commodity specified in the contract to the buyer, 
known as the “long,” on the delivery date.  See id.  
However, in most cases, the commodity never actually 



55a 

 

changes hands; rather, “[m]ost investors close out of 
their positions before the delivery dates,” id., such as 
by entering into offsetting contracts whereby the com-
modity delivery requirements cancel out and “[t]he dif-
ference between the initial purchase or sale price and 
the price of the offsetting transaction represents the 
realized profit or loss,” Exchange Am. Compl. ¶ 208. 

Although many futures contracts are based on an 
underlying commodity that is a physical good, such as 
copper, others are not.  One such futures contract is a 
Eurodollar futures contract, which is “the most actively 
traded futures contract[] in the world.”  Id. ¶ 201; see 
also DOJ Statement 4 (“In 2009, according to the Fu-
tures Industry Association, more than 437 million Eu-
rodollar futures contracts were traded ….”).  Eurodol-
lar futures contracts, traded on the Chicago Mercantile 
Exchange (the “CME”), Exchange Am. Compl. ¶ 201, 
are based on an “underlying instrument” of a “Eurodol-
lar Time Deposit having a principal value of USD 
$1,000,000 with a three-month maturity.”  CME Group, 
Eurodollar Futures: Contract Specifications, 
http://www.cmegroup.com/trading/interest-rates/stir/
eurodollar_contract_specifications.html (last visited 
Mar. 29, 2013).  “Eurodollars are U.S. dollars deposited 
in commercial banks outside the United States.”  CME 
Group, Eurodollar Futures, http://www.cmegroup.com/
trading/interest-rates/files/IR148_Eurodollar_Futures_
Fact_Card.pdf. 

Eurodollar futures contracts do not require the 
seller actually to deliver cash deposits to the buyer, but 
rather provide that at the end of the contract, the “set-
tlement date,” the seller pays the buyer a specified 
price.  The price at settlement “is equal to 100 minus 
the three-month Eurodollar interbank time deposit 
rate,” which rate is defined as the USD three-month 
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LIBOR fix on the contract’s last trading day.  CME 
Group, Eurodollar Futures Final Settlement Proce-
dure, http://www.cmegroup.com/trading/interest-rates/
files/finalsettlement-procedure-eurodollar-futures.pdf.  
Like other futures contracts, Eurodollar futures con-
tracts may be traded prior to settlement, and their 
trading price will reflect “the market’s prediction of the 
[three]-month [USD] LIBOR on [the contract’s last 
trading day].”  DOJ Statement ¶ 9. 

Finally, options on Eurodollar futures contracts are 
also traded on the CME.  Exchange Am. Compl. ¶ 210.  
A trader might purchase a “call,” which gives him “the 
right, but not the obligation, to buy the underlying Eu-
rodollar futures contract at a certain price—the strike 
price.”  Id.  A trader could also purchase a “put,” giving 
him “the right, but not the obligation, to sell the under-
lying Eurodollar futures contract at the strike price.”  
Id.  The price at which a Eurodollar option trades “is 
affected by the underlying price of the Eurodollar fu-
tures contract, which, in turn, is directly affected by the 
reported LIBOR.”  Id. 

b.  Plaintiffs and Their Alleged Injury 

There are seven lead exchange-based plaintiffs.  
Plaintiff Metzler Investment GmbH (“Metzler”) is a 
German company that launched and managed invest-
ment funds which traded Eurodollar futures.  Ex-
change Am. Compl. ¶ 20.  Plaintiffs FTC Futures Fund 
SICAV (“FTC SICAV”) and FTC Futures Fund PCC 
Ltd. (“FTC PCC”) are each funds, based in Luxem-
bourg and Gibraltar, respectively, which traded Euro-
dollar futures.  Id. ¶¶ 21-22.  Plaintiffs Atlantic Trading 
USA, LLC (“Atlantic”) and 303030 Trading LLC 
(“303030”) are both Illinois limited liability companies 
with principal places of business in Illinois and which 
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traded Eurodollar futures.  Id. ¶¶ 23-24.  Finally, plain-
tiffs Gary Francis (“Francis”) and Nathanial Haynes 
(“Haynes”) are both residents of Illinois who traded 
Eurodollar futures.  Id. ¶¶ 25-26.  These plaintiffs seek 
to represent a class of “all persons … that transacted in 
Eurodollar futures and options on Eurodollar futures 
on exchanges such as the CME [during the Class Peri-
od] and were harmed by Defendants’ manipulation of 
LIBOR.”  Id. ¶ 221. 

Plaintiffs allege that they suffered injury from de-
fendants’ alleged manipulation of LIBOR.  According to 
plaintiffs, defendants’ suppression of LIBOR caused 
Eurodollar contracts to trade and settle at artificially 
high prices.  Id. ¶¶ 215-16.  Plaintiffs purchased Euro-
dollar contracts during the Class Period, id. ¶ 214, and 
“the direct and foreseeable effect of the Defendants’ 
intentional understatements of their LIBOR rate was 
to cause Plaintiffs and the Class to pay supracompeti-
tive prices for [their] CME Eurodollar futures con-
tracts.”  Id. ¶ 217. 

4.  Schwab Plaintiffs 

The last group of plaintiffs comprises the Schwab 
plaintiffs.  As discussed above, these plaintiffs do not 
seek to represent a class, but rather have filed three 
separate amended complaints.  First, the “Schwab 
Bank” amended complaint has three plaintiffs.4  Plain-
tiff The Charles Schwab Corporation is a Delaware 
corporation with its principal place of business in Cali-
fornia.  Schwab Bank Am. Compl. ¶ 17.  Plaintiff 
Charles Schwab Bank, N.A., is a national banking asso-
ciation which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The 

                                                 
4 The “Schwab Bank” action is Charles Schwab Bank, N.A. v. 

Bank of America Corp. (11 Civ. 6411). 
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Charles Schwab Corporation and is organized under 
the laws of Arizona, with its principal place of business 
in Nevada.  Id. ¶ 18.  Finally, Plaintiff Charles Schwab 
& Co., Inc., is a California corporation and a wholly 
owned subsidiary of The Charles Schwab Corporation, 
which through its division Charles Schwab Treasury, 
manages the investments of Charles Schwab Bank, 
N.A.  Id. ¶ 19.  Each of these plaintiffs “purchased or 
held LIBOR-based financial instruments during the 
[Class Period].”  Id. ¶¶ 17-19. 

Second, the “Schwab Bond” amended complaint al-
so has three plaintiffs.5  Plaintiff Schwab Short-Term 
Bond Market fund is “a series of Schwab Investments, 
an open-end, management investment company orga-
nized under Massachusetts law.”  Schwab Bond Am. 
Compl. ¶ 17.  Plaintiff Schwab Total Bond Market Fund 
“is also a series of Schwab Investments.”  Id. ¶ 18.  Fi-
nally, plaintiff Schwab U.S. Dollar Liquid Assets Fund 
is a fund managed in California and which is “a series of 
Charles Schwab Worldwide Funds plc, an investment 
company with variable capital, incorporated in Ire-
land.”  Id. ¶ 19.  Each of these plaintiffs “purchased or 
held LIBOR-based financial instruments during the 
[Class Period].”  Id. ¶¶ 17-19. 

Third, the “Schwab Money” amended complaint has 
seven plaintiffs.6  Plaintiff Schwab Money Market Fund 
is “a series of The Charles Schwab Family of Funds, an 
open-end investment management company organized 
as a Massachusetts business trust.”  Schwab Money 

                                                 
5 The “Schwab Bank” action is Charles Schwab Bank, N.A. v. 

Bank of America Corp. (11 Civ. 6411). 
6 The “Schwab Money” action is Schwab Money Market Fund 

v. Bank of America Corp. (11 Civ. 6412). 
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Am. Compl. ¶ 17.  Plaintiffs Schwab Value Advantage 
Money Fund, Schwab Retirement Advantage Money 
Fund, Schwab Investor Money Fund, Schwab Cash Re-
serves, and Schwab Advisor Cash Reserves are each 
also “a series of The Charles Schwab Family of Funds.”  
Id. ¶¶ 18-22.  Finally, Plaintiff Schwab YieldPlus Fund 
is “a series of Schwab Investments, an open-end in-
vestment management company organized as a Massa-
chusetts business trust.”  Id. ¶ 23.  “Contingent inter-
ests of Schwab YieldPlus Fund have passed to Plaintiff 
Schwab YieldPlus Fund Liquidation Trust.”  Id.  Each 
of these plaintiffs “purchased or held LIBOR-based fi-
nancial instruments during the [Class Period].”  Id. 
¶¶ 17-23. 

Plaintiffs argue that they were injured as a result 
of defendants’ alleged suppression of LIBOR, which 
“artificially depress[ed] the value of tens of billions of 
dollars in LIBOR-based financial instruments the 
[plaintiffs] held or purchased.”  Id. ¶ 194.  These finan-
cial instruments included floating-rate instruments 
paying a rate of return directly based on LIBOR, id. 
¶ 195, and fixed-rate instruments which plaintiffs de-
cided to purchase by comparing the instruments’ fixed 
rate of return with LIBOR, id. ¶ 197.  Plaintiffs pur-
chased both floating- and fixed-rate instruments direct-
ly from defendants, from subsidiaries or other affiliates 
of defendants, and from third parties.  Id. ¶¶ 196, 198-
99. 

III.  Discussion 

Under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6), a 
complaint may be dismissed for “failure to state a claim 
upon which relief can be granted.”  Fed. R. Civ. P. 
12(b)(6).  To avoid dismissal, a complaint must allege 
“enough facts to state a claim to relief that is plausible 
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on its face.”  Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 
570 (2007).  Where plaintiffs have not “nudged their 
claims across the line from conceivable to plausible, 
their complaint must be dismissed.”  Id.  In applying 
this standard, a court must accept as true all well-
pleaded factual allegations and must draw all reasona-
ble inferences in favor of the plaintiff.  See Erickson v. 
Pardus, 551 U.S. 89, 94 (2007) (per curiam); Kassner v. 
2nd Ave. Delicatessen, Inc., 496 F.3d 229, 237 (2d Cir. 
2007).  The Court may also “properly consider ‘matters 
of which judicial notice may be taken, or documents ei-
ther in plaintiff[’s] possession or of which plaintiff[] had 
knowledge and relied on in bringing suit.’”  Halebian v. 
Berv, 644 F.3d 122, 130 n.7 (2d Cir. 2011) (quoting 
Chambers v. Time Warner, Inc., 282 F.3d 147, 153 (2d 
Cir. 2002)). 

In the case at bar, defendants have moved to dis-
miss all of plaintiffs’ claims.  Our analysis will proceed 
in an order roughly based on the structure of the par-
ties’ briefing:  (1) antitrust claims, (2) exchange-based 
claims, (3) RICO claim, and (4) state-law claims. 

A.  Antitrust Claim 

Each amended complaint asserts a cause of action 
for violation of section 1 of the Sherman Act.  OTC Am. 
Compl. ¶¶ 220-26; Bondholder Am. Compl. ¶¶ 205-11; 
Exchange Am. Compl. ¶¶ 245-49; Schwab Bond Am. 
Compl. ¶¶ 202-08; Schwab Bank Am. Compl. ¶¶ 201-07; 
Schwab Money Am. Compl. ¶¶ 214-20.  The Schwab 
plaintiffs have also asserted a cause of action for viola-
tion of California’s antitrust statute, the Cartwright 
Act.  Schwab Bond Am. Compl. ¶¶ 239-45; Schwab 
Bank Am. Compl. ¶¶ 238-44; Schwab Money Am. 
Compl. ¶¶ 251-57.  Defendants have moved to dismiss 
these claims on four grounds:  (1) plaintiffs do not ade-
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quately plead a contract, combination, or conspiracy, (2) 
plaintiffs fail to allege a restraint of trade, (3) plaintiffs 
lack antitrust standing, and (4) indirect purchasers lack 
standing under Illinois Brick Co. v. Illinois, 431 U.S. 
720 (1977).  Because we find that the third ground, that 
plaintiffs lack antitrust standing, is a sufficient reason 
to dismiss plaintiffs’ antitrust claims, we need not reach 
the remaining grounds. 

Section 1 of the Sherman Act provides:  “Every 
contract, combination in the form of trust or otherwise, 
or conspiracy, in restraint of trade or commerce among 
the several States, or with foreign nations, is declared 
to be illegal.”  15 U.S.C. § 1 (2006).  The private right of 
action to enforce this provision is established in section 
4 of the Clayton Act: 

Except as provided in subsection (b) of this sec-
tion [relating to the amount of damages recov-
erable by foreign states and instrumentalities 
of foreign states], any person who shall be in-
jured in his business or property by reason of 
anything forbidden in the antitrust laws may 
sue therefor in any district court of the United 
States in the district in which the defendant re-
sides or is found or has an agent, without re-
spect to the amount in controversy, and shall 
recover threefold the damages by him sus-
tained, and the cost of suit, including a reason-
able attorney’s fee. 

Id. § 15.  Here, plaintiffs claim that they were injured 
by defendants’ alleged conspiracy in restraint of trade, 
in violation of section 1 of the Sherman Act, and accord-
ingly bring suit pursuant to section 4 of the Clayton 
Act. 
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To have standing under the Clayton Act, a private 
plaintiff must demonstrate (1) antitrust injury, and (2) 
“that he is a proper plaintiff in light of four ‘efficient en-
forcer’ factors” derived from the Supreme Court’s deci-
sion in Associated General Contractors v. California 
State Council of Carpenters (“AGC”), 459 U.S. 519 
(1983).  In re DDAVP Direct Purchaser Antitrust 
Litig., 585 F.3d 677, 688 (2d Cir. 2009).  Here, plaintiffs 
have not plausibly alleged that they suffered antitrust 
injury, thus, on that basis alone, they lack standing.  
We need not reach the AGC “efficient enforcer” factors. 

I.  Antitrust Injury 

a.  Antitrust Injury Defined 

As articulated by the Supreme Court in Atlantic 
Richfield Co. v. USA Petroleum Co., 495 U.S. 328, 334 
(1990) (“ARCO”), “antitrust injury” refers to injury 
“attributable to an anticompetitive aspect of the prac-
tice under scrutiny.”  Id.; see also Brunswick Corp. v. 
Pueblo Bowl-O-Mat, Inc., 429 U.S. 477, 489 (1977) 
(“Plaintiffs must prove antitrust injury, which is to say 
injury of the type the antitrust laws were intended to 
prevent and that flows from that which makes defend-
ants’ acts unlawful.  The injury should reflect the anti-
competitive effect either of the violation or of anticom-
petitive acts made possible by the violation.”).7  Alt-

                                                 
7 Here, plaintiffs have alleged that defendants violated the 

Sherman Act through a horizontal price-fixing conspiracy.  The 
element of defendants’ alleged price fixing which makes it unlaw-
ful, as with any conduct in violation of the antitrust laws, is its ef-
fect of restraining competition.  See Arizona v. Maricopa Cnty. 
Med. Soc’y, 457 U.S. 332, 345 (1982) (“The aim and result of every 
price-fixing agreement, if effective, is the elimination of one form 
of competition.  The power to fix prices, whether reasonably exer-
cised or not, involves power to control the market and to fix arbi-
trary and unreasonable prices …. Agreements which create such 
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hough conduct in violation of the Sherman Act might 
reduce, increase, or be neutral with regard to competi-
tion, a private plaintiff can recover for such a violation 
only where “the loss stems from a competition-reducing 
aspect or effect of the defendant’s behavior.”  ARCO, 
495 U.S. at 344 (emphasis in original).  Moreover, it is 
not enough that defendant’s conduct disrupted or dis-
torted a competitive market:  “Although all antitrust 
violations … ‘distort’ the market, not every loss stem-
ming from a violation counts as antitrust injury.”  Id. at 
339 n.8.  Therefore, a plaintiff must demonstrate not 
only that it suffered injury and that the injury resulted 
from defendants’ conduct, but also that the injury re-
sulted from the anticompetitive nature of defendant’s 
conduct.  See Nichols v. Mahoney, 608 F. Supp. 2d 526, 
543-44 (S.D.N.Y. 2009).  The rationale, of course, is that 
the Clayton Act’s rich bounty of treble damages and 
attorney’s fees should reward only those plaintiffs who 
further the purposes of the Sherman and Clayton Acts, 
namely, “protecting competition.”  Brooke Grp. Ltd. v. 
Brown & Williamson Tobacco Corp., 509 U.S. 209, 251 
(1993). 

b.  A Per Se Violation of the Sherman Act 
Does Not Necessarily Establish Antitrust Injury 

Critically, even when a plaintiff can successfully al-
lege a per se violation of section 1 of the Sherman Act, 
such as horizontal price fixing, the plaintiff will not 
have standing under section 4 of the Clayton Act unless 
he can separately demonstrate antitrust injury.  See 

                                                                                                    
potential power may well be held to be in themselves unreasonable 
or unlawful restraints, without the necessity of minute inquiry 
whether a particular price is reasonable or unreasonable as fixed 
….” (quoting United States v. Trenton Potteries Co., 273 U.S. 392, 
397-98 (1927))). 
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ARCO, 495 U.S. at 344 (“[P]roof of a per se violation 
and of antitrust injury are distinct matters that must 
be shown independently.” (quoting Phillip Areeda & 
Herbert Hovenkamp, Antitrust Law ¶ 334.2c, p. 330 
(1989 Supp.))); see also Paycom Billing Servs., Inc. v. 
Mastercard Int’l, Inc., 467 F.3d 283, 290 (2d Cir. 2006) 
(“Congress did not intend the antitrust laws to provide 
a remedy in damages for all injuries that might con-
ceivably be traced to an antitrust violation.” (quoting 
Associated Gen. Contractors, Inc. v. Cal. State Council 
of Carpenters, 459 U.S. 519, 534 (1983)) (internal quota-
tion marks omitted)).  In other words, even though a 
defendant might have violated the Sherman Act and 
thus be subject to criminal liability, it is a separate 
question whether Congress intended to subject the de-
fendant as well to civil liability, in particular to the 
plaintiffs suing. 

c.  California’s Cartwright Act also Requires 
Antitrust Injury 

The antitrust injury requirement also applies to 
claims pursuant to the Cartwright Act, Cal. Bus. & 
Prof. Code § 16700 et seq. (West 2012).  See Flagship 
Theatres of Palm Desert, LLC v. Century Theatres, 
Inc., 198 Cal. App. 4th 1366, 1378, 1380 (App. 2d Dist. 
2011) (“[F]ederal case law makes clear that the anti-
trust injury requirement also applies to other federal 
antitrust violations [beyond anticompetitive mergers].  
California case law holds that the requirement applies 
to Cartwright Act claims as well. … [T]he antitrust in-
jury requirement means that an antitrust plaintiff must 
show that it was injured by the anticompetitive aspects 
or effects of the defendant’s conduct, as opposed to be-
ing injured by the conduct’s neutral or even procompet-
itive aspects.”); Morrison v. Viacom, Inc., 66 Cal. App. 
4th 534, 548 (App. 1st Dist. 1998) (“The plaintiff in a 
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Cartwright Act proceeding must show that an antitrust 
violation was the proximate cause of his injuries. … An 
‘antitrust injury’ must be proved; that is, the type of 
injury the antitrust laws were intended to prevent, and 
which flows from the invidious conduct which renders 
defendants’ acts unlawful.” (alteration in original) 
(quoting Kolling v. Dow Jones & Co., 137 Cal. App. 3d 
709, 723 (App. 1st Dist. 1982))); id. (“Appellants failed 
to allege antitrust injury … because they have failed to 
allege any facts to show they suffered an injury which 
was caused by restraints on competition.”).  The com-
mon antitrust injury requirement derives from the 
Cartwright Act’s and Sherman Act’s common purpose.  
See Exxon Corp. v. Superior Court, 51 Cal. App. 4th 
1672, 1680 (App. 6th Dist. 1997) (citations omitted) 
(“The Cartwright Act, as the Sherman Antitrust Act, 
was enacted to promote free market competition and to 
prevent conspiracies or agreements in restraint or mo-
nopolization of trade.”). 

2.  Defendants’ Alleged Conduct Was Not 
Anticompetitive 

a.  The LIBOR-Setting Process Was Never 
Competitive 

Here, plaintiffs do not argue that the collaborative 
LIBOR-setting process itself violates the antitrust 
laws, but rather that defendants violated the antitrust 
laws by conspiring to set LIBOR at an artificial level.  
See, e.g., OTC Compl. ¶¶ 217-26.  According to plain-
tiffs: 

Defendants’ anticompetitive conduct had se-
vere adverse consequences on competition in 
that [plaintiffs] who traded in LIBOR-Based 
[financial instruments] during the Class Period 
were trading at artificially determined prices 
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that were made artificial as a result of Defend-
ants’ unlawful conduct.  As a consequence 
thereof, [plaintiffs] suffered financial losses and 
were, therefore, injured in their business or 
property. 

Id. ¶ 219; see also Tr. 17-18.8 

Although these allegations might suggest that de-
fendants fixed prices and thereby harmed plaintiffs, 
they do not suggest that the harm plaintiffs suffered 
resulted from any anticompetitive aspect of defendants’ 
conduct.  As plaintiffs rightly acknowledged at oral ar-
gument, the process of setting LIBOR was never in-
tended to be competitive.  Tr. 12, 18.  Rather, it was a 
cooperative endeavor wherein otherwise-competing 
banks agreed to submit estimates of their borrowing 
costs to the BBA each day to facilitate the BBA’s calcu-
lation of an interest rate index.  Thus, even if we were 
to credit plaintiffs’ allegations that defendants subvert-
ed this cooperative process by conspiring to submit ar-
tificial estimates instead of estimates made in good 
faith, it would not follow that plaintiffs have suffered 
antitrust injury.  Plaintiffs’ injury would have resulted 
from defendants’ misrepresentation, not from harm to 
competition. 

b.  Plaintiffs Do Not Allege a Restraint on 
Competition in the Market for LIBOR-Based 

Financial Instruments 

It is of no avail to plaintiffs that defendants were 
competitors outside the BBA.  Tr. 29-30.  Although 
there might have been antitrust injury if defendants 
had restrained competition in the market for LIBOR-
                                                 

8 References preceded by “Tr.” refer to the transcript of the 
oral argument held on March 5, 2013. 
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based financial instruments or the underlying market 
for interbank loans, plaintiffs have not alleged any such 
restraint on competition. 

First, with regard to the market for LIBOR-based 
financial instruments, plaintiffs have not alleged that 
defendants’ alleged fixing of LIBOR caused any harm 
to competition between sellers of those instruments or 
between buyers of those instruments.  Plaintiffs’ alle-
gation that the prices of LIBOR-based financial in-
struments “were affected by Defendants’ unlawful be-
havior,” such that “Plaintiffs paid more or received less 
than they would have in a market free from Defend-
ants’ collusion,” Antitrust Opp’n 36, might support an 
allegation of price fixing but does not indicate that 
plaintiffs’ injury resulted from an anticompetitive as-
pect of defendants’ conduct.9 

                                                 
9 Contra to plaintiffs’ argument, the Ninth Circuit’s decision 

in Knevelbaard Dairies v. Kraft Foods, Inc., 232 F.3d 979 (9th Cir. 
2000), is not to the contrary.  Knevelbaard Dairies involved a claim 
by plaintiff milk producers that defendant cheese makers had con-
spired to fix a low price for bulk cheese, thereby depressing the 
price defendants paid plaintiffs for milk because California regula-
tors used the bulk cheese price to set the minimum milk price.  
Plaintiffs had argued that defendants “did not compete,” but ra-
ther “collusively manipulate[ed] [bulk cheese] prices to levels low-
er than would prevail under conditions of free and open competi-
tion.”  Id. at 984.  The Ninth Circuit held that plaintiffs had ade-
quately alleged antitrust injury.  As quoted by plaintiffs, the Court 
reasoned: 

Since the plaintiffs allegedly were subjected to artificial-
ly depressed milk prices, the injury flows “from that 
which makes the conduct unlawful,” i.e., from the collu-
sive price manipulation itself. … When horizontal price 
fixing causes buyers to pay more, or sellers to receive 
less, than the prices that would prevail in a market free 
of the unlawful trade restraint, antitrust injury occurs. 
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In other words, it is not sufficient that plaintiffs paid 
higher prices because of defendants’ collusion; that col-
lusion must have been anticompetitive, involving a fail-
ure of defendants to compete where they otherwise 
would have.  Yet here, undoubtedly as distinguished 
from most antitrust scenarios, the alleged collusion oc-
curred in an arena in which defendants never did and 
never were intended to compete. 

c.  Plaintiffs Do Not Allege a Restraint on 
Competition in the Interbank Loan Market 

Second, there was similarly no harm to competition 
in the interbank loan market.  As discussed above, LI-
BOR is an index intended to convey information about 
the interest rates prevailing in the London interbank 
loan market, but it does not necessarily correspond to 
the interest rate charged for any actual interbank loan.  
Plaintiffs have not alleged that defendants fixed prices 
or otherwise restrained competition in the interbank 
loan market, and likewise have not alleged that any 

                                                                                                    
Antitrust Opp’n 37 (quoting Knevelbaard Dairies, 232 F.3d at 987-
88).  However, in the context of the claims before it, the Ninth Cir-
cuit clearly intended to refer to collusive price manipulation in 
place of competition, and its reference to paying more or receiving 
less than the prices that would prevail in a market free of the un-
lawful trade restraint clearly contrasted prices in a market with 
such a restraint to a market operating under free competition.  
Moreover, the Ninth Circuit explicitly recognized that “the central 
purpose of the antitrust laws, state and federal, is to preserve 
competition,” Knevelbaard Dairies, 232 F.3d at 988, and it quoted 
a leading antitrust treatise for the proposition that the harm to 
sellers from a price-fixing conspiracy by buyers “constitutes anti-
trust injury, for it reflects the rationale for condemning buying 
cartels—namely, suppression of competition among buyers, re-
duced upstream and downstream output, and distortion of prices,” 
id. (quoting 2 Phillip E. Areeda & Herbert Hovenkamp, Antitrust 
Law ¶ 375b at 297 (rev. ed. 1995)) (emphasis added). 
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such restraint on competition caused them injury.  
Plaintiff’s theory is that defendants competed normally 
in the interbank loan market and then agreed to lie 
about the interest rates they were paying in that mar-
ket when they were called upon to truthfully report 
their expected borrowing costs to the BBA.  This theo-
ry is one of misrepresentation, and possibly of fraud, 
but not of failure to compete. 

3.  Plaintiffs Could Have Suffered the Harm 
Alleged Here Under Normal Circumstances 

The above analysis is confirmed by inquiring, as 
courts previously have in evaluating antitrust injury, 
whether plaintiff could have suffered the same harm 
under normal circumstances of free competition.  For 
example, in Brunswick Corp. v. Pueblo Bowl-O-Mat, 
Inc., 429 U.S. 477 (1977), defendant was a manufacturer 
of bowling equipment that had purchased financially 
distressed bowling centers.  Plaintiffs, operators of oth-
er bowling centers, brought suit against defendant pur-
suant to the Clayton Act, arguing that they had lost fu-
ture income because the distressed bowling centers 
purchased by defendant would otherwise have gone 
bankrupt.  The Supreme Court held that these allega-
tions did not establish antitrust injury.  Although de-
fendants’ actions might have violated the Sherman Act 
by bringing “a ‘deep pocket’ parent into a market of 
‘pygmies,’” plaintiffs did not suffer antitrust injury be-
cause their alleged harm bore “no relationship to the 
size of either the acquiring company or its competi-
tors.”  Id. at 487.  Plaintiffs “would have suffered the 
identical ‘loss’ but no compensable injury had the ac-
quired centers instead obtained refinancing or been 
purchased by ‘shallow pocket’ parents.”  Id.  Therefore, 
even if respondents were injured, “it was not ‘by reason 
of anything forbidden in the antitrust laws’: while re-



70a 

 

spondents’ loss occurred ‘by reason of’ the unlawful ac-
quisitions, it did not occur ‘by reason of’ that which 
made the acquisitions unlawful.”  Id. at 488. 

In ARCO, the Court reaffirmed this approach in 
the context of price fixing.  Defendant in that case was 
an integrated oil company that marketed gasoline both 
directly through its own stations and indirectly through 
dealers operating under its brand name.  Facing com-
petition from independent “discount” gas dealers, such 
as those operated by plaintiff, defendant allegedly con-
spired with its dealers to implement a vertical, maxi-
mum-price-fixing scheme.  ARCO, 495 U.S. at 331-2.  
Many independent gas dealers could not compete with 
the below-market prices established by this scheme, 
and consequently went out of business. 

Despite the harm that defendant’s conspiratorial 
conduct had caused plaintiff, the Supreme Court held 
that plaintiff had not suffered antitrust injury.  The 
Court reasoned that a competitor could establish anti-
trust injury only by demonstrating predatory pricing, 
that is, pricing below cost in order to drive competitors 
out of business: 

When a firm, or even a group of firms adhering 
to a vertical agreement, lowers prices but 
maintains them above predatory levels, the 
business lost by rivals cannot be viewed as an 
“anticompetitive” consequence of the claimed 
violation.  A firm complaining about the harm it 
suffers from nonpredatory price competition “is 
really claiming that it [is] unable to raise pric-
es.”  Blair & Harrison, Rethinking Antitrust 
Injury, 42 Vand. L. Rev. 1539, 1554 (1989).  
This is not antitrust injury; indeed, “cutting 
prices in order to increase business often is the 
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very essence of competition.”  [Matsushita 
Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Corp., 475 
U.S. 574, 594 (1986)]. 

Id. at 337-38 (footnote omitted).  In other words, cut-
ting prices to a level still above cost is not merely con-
sistent with competition—something that could be ex-
pected to occur under normal circumstances—but in-
deed is often “the very essence of competition”—
something to be desired.  Because the harm plaintiffs 
suffered resulted from competitive, healthy conduct, it 
did not constitute antitrust injury. 

As with the harm alleged in Brunswick and ARCO, 
the harm alleged here could have resulted from normal 
competitive conduct.  Specifically, the injury plaintiffs 
suffered from defendants’ alleged conspiracy to sup-
press LIBOR is the same as the injury they would have 
suffered had each defendant decided independently to 
misrepresent its borrowing costs to the BBA.  Even if 
such independent misreporting would have been fraud-
ulent, it would not have been anticompetitive, and in-
deed would have been consistent with normal commer-
cial incentives facing defendants.  Those incentives, of 
course, are alleged on the face of plaintiffs’ complaints:  
defendants allegedly had incentive (1) “to portray 
themselves as economically healthier than they actually 
were” and (2) “to pay lower interest rates on LIBOR-
based financial instruments that Defendants sold to in-
vestors.”  OTC Compl. ¶ 5. 

In this respect, the present case contrasts with 
more traditional antitrust conspiracies, such as a con-
spiracy among sellers to raise prices.  Whereas in such 
a scenario, the sellers’ supracompetitive prices could 
exist only where the sellers conspired not to compete, 
here, each defendant, acting independently, could ra-
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tionally have submitted false LIBOR quotes to the 
BBA.  The reason why it would have been sustainable 
for each defendant individually to submit an artificial 
LIBOR quote is that, as discussed above, the LIBOR 
submission process is not competitive.  A misreporting 
bank, therefore, would not have been concerned about 
being forced out of business by competition from other 
banks.  In other words, precisely because the process of 
setting LIBOR is not competitive, collusion among de-
fendants would not have allowed them to do anything 
that they could not have done otherwise. 

This analysis would not change if we were to accept 
plaintiffs’ argument that defendants could not, absent 
collusion, have submitted the “clustered” rates that 
they submitted during the Class Period.  The question 
is not whether defendants could have submitted inde-
pendently the exact quotes that they in fact submitted, 
but rather whether they could have caused plaintiffs 
the same injury had they acted independently.  As dis-
cussed above, the answer is yes:  each defendant could 
have submitted, independently, a LIBOR quote that 
was artificially low.  Further, whether the quotes 
would have formed a “cluster” or not is irrelevant:  
plaintiffs’ injury resulted not from the clustering of 
LIBOR quotes, but rather from the quotes’ alleged 
suppression.10  In short, just as the bowling center op-
erators in Brunswick could have suffered the same in-
jury had the failing bowling centers remained open for 
legitimate reasons, and just as the gas dealers in ARCO 
                                                 

10 Indeed, given that a bank’s LIBOR quote represents the 
bank’s expectation of its own costs of borrowing, and that different 
banks based in different countries could sensibly face significantly 
different borrowing costs, it would not be surprising for banks to 
submit LIBOR quotes that differed persistently over the course of 
several years. 
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could have suffered the same injury had defendant’s 
prices been set through normal competition, the plain-
tiffs here could have suffered the same injury had each 
bank decided independently to submit an artificially 
low LIBOR quote. 

Moreover, Brunswick and ARCO, which each held 
that plaintiffs did not suffer antitrust injury, involved 
more harm to competition than was present here.  In 
Brunswick, defendant’s conduct brought “a ‘deep pock-
et’ parent into a market of ‘pygmies,’” altering the posi-
tions of competitors in the bowling center market in a 
manner that was potentially harmful to competition.  In 
ARCO, similarly, the prices set by defendants’ conspir-
acy displaced prices set through free competition and 
thereby gave defendants’ dealers a competitive ad-
vantage over other dealers in the retail gas market.  
Here, by contrast, there is no allegation of harm to 
competition.  For one, LIBOR was never set through 
competition, even under normal circumstances.  While 
it is true that the prices of LIBOR-based financial in-
struments are set through competition, and that a 
change in LIBOR may have altered the baseline from 
which market actors competed to set the price of LI-
BOR-based instruments, competition proceeded una-
bated and plaintiffs have alleged no sense in which it 
was displaced. 

Additionally, there is no allegation that defendants’ 
conduct changed their position vis-à-vis their competi-
tors.  At any given time, there is only one LIBOR, used 
by all actors throughout the relevant market.  Although 
defendants’ alleged manipulation of the level of LIBOR 
might have had the distributive effect of transferring 
wealth between the buyers and sellers of LIBOR-based 
financial instruments, including between defendants 
and their customers, plaintiffs have not alleged any 
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structural effect wherein defendants improved their 
position relative to their competitors.  Because Bruns-
wick and ARCO each involved more harm to competi-
tion than was present here, yet the Supreme Court 
held in each case that plaintiff had not suffered anti-
trust injury, it is even clearer here that antitrust injury 
does not exist. 

4.  Plaintiffs’ “Proxy” Argument Is Unavailing 

At oral argument, plaintiffs contended that LIBOR 
is a proxy for competition in the underlying market for 
interbank loans, and thus defendants effectively 
harmed competition by manipulating LIBOR.  Accord-
ing to plaintiffs, when defendants reported artificial 
LIBOR quotes to the BBA, they “snuff[ed] out … the 
proxy for competition” by “interdicting the competitive 
forces that set [defendants’] rates” and otherwise 
would have affected LIBOR and the price of LIBOR-
based instruments.  Tr. 24, 27.  This argument was ad-
vanced in the context of Eurodollar futures contracts, 
which are based on the underlying market for inter-
bank loans, but it also applies to other LIBOR-based 
financial instruments.  If LIBOR “interdict[ed]” compe-
tition that would otherwise have affected the market 
for Eurodollar futures contracts, it equally interdicted 
competition that would have affected the market for 
LIBOR-based financial instruments more broadly. 

Although there is a sense in which this argument 
accurately characterizes the facts, the argument does 
not demonstrate that plaintiffs suffered antitrust inju-
ry.  It is true that LIBOR is a proxy for the interbank 
lending market; indeed, it is precisely because LIBOR 
was thought to accurately represent prevailing interest 
rates in that market that it was so widely utilized as a 
benchmark in financial instruments.  It is also true that 
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if LIBOR was set at an artificial level, it no longer re-
flected competition in the market for interbank loans 
and its value as a proxy for that competition was dimin-
ished, even “snuffed out.”  However, the fact remains 
that competition in the interbank lending market and in 
the market for LIBOR-based financial instruments 
proceeded unimpaired.  If LIBOR no longer painted an 
accurate picture of the interbank lending market, the 
injury plaintiffs suffered derived from misrepresenta-
tion, not from harm to competition. 

Contrary to plaintiffs’ contention, Tr. 28, their 
“proxy” argument does not derive support from the 
line of cases finding an antitrust violation where a de-
fendant manipulated one component of a price, both be-
cause those cases do not involve a proxy for competi-
tion and because they are distinguishable.  Plaintiffs 
cite Catalano, Inc. v. Target Sales, Inc., 446 U.S. 643 
(1980), in which the Supreme Court held that beer 
wholesalers violated the Sherman Act by conspiring to 
discontinue a previously common practice of extending 
short-term interest-free credit to retailers.  However, 
not only did Catalano not involve a proxy for competi-
tion, but it also is plainly distinguishable:  whereas the 
beer wholesalers in Catalano had previously competed 
over the credit terms they offered to retailers, such 
that the conspiracy to fix credit terms displaced an are-
na of competition, here there was never competition 
over LIBOR—a rate that, at any given time, is neces-
sarily uniform throughout the market—and thus de-
fendants’ alleged conspiracy to fix LIBOR did not dis-
place competition. 

Plaintiffs also cite In re Yarn Processing Patent 
Validity Litigation, 541 F.2d 1127 (5th Cir. 1976), in 
which the Fifth Circuit considered a scheme whereby a 
manufacturer of yarn processing machines which also 
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owned the patent in those machines conspired with 
other manufacturers to split the royalty income the pa-
tent holder received equally among all of the manufac-
turers.  The Court held that the scheme violated the 
antitrust laws because it fixed a portion of the prices 
that manufacturers received for the machines—prices 
over which the manufacturers competed.  Id.  Here, by 
contrast, the LIBOR-based financial instruments that 
defendants competed to sell had always contained LI-
BOR, a value uniform throughout the market, and thus 
defendants’ conduct did not displace competition where 
it normally would have occurred. 

Finally, plaintiffs cite Northwestern Fruit Co. v. A. 
Levy & J. Zentner Co., 665 F. Supp. 869 (E.D. Cal. 
1986), which considered a claim by cantaloupe purchas-
ers that cantaloupe sellers had conspired to fix the cool-
ing and palletizing charge added to the price of canta-
loupe.  The Court held that the conspiracy violated the 
antitrust laws, even if cantaloupe sellers continued to 
compete on the underlying price, because fixing even a 
component of price is unlawful.  Id. at 872.  Our case is 
plainly distinguishable because the price of LIBOR-
based financial instruments had always contained a 
“fixed” component—LIBOR—and thus defendants’ al-
leged conspiracy, as discussed above, did not displace 
competition. 

5.  Plaintiffs’ Remaining Cases Are 
Distinguishable 

The other cases plaintiffs put forward as address-
ing arguably similar facts are also distinguishable be-
cause they involve harm to competition which is not 
present here.  To begin, plaintiffs read Allied Tube & 
Conduit Corp. v. Indian Head, Inc., 486 U.S. 492 
(1988), as establishing that “plaintiffs who lost business 
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due to defendants’ manipulation of a standard-setting 
process with persuasive influence on marketplace 
transactions were entitled to Sherman Act relief.”  An-
titrust Opp’n 37.  However, not only did Allied Tube 
not rule on antitrust injury or liability, addressing in-
stead the single question of whether defendants were 
immune from antitrust liability under Eastern Rail-
road Presidents Conference v. Noerr Motor Freight, 
Inc., 365 U.S. 127 (1961); see Allied Tube, 486 U.S. 492, 
but to whatever extent it might provide persuasive au-
thority regarding antitrust injury, it is distinguishable.  
In Allied Tube, a manufacturer of plastic electrical con-
duit sued a manufacturer of steel conduit that had con-
spired with other members of a trade association to ex-
clude plastic conduit from the association’s safety 
standard, which standard was widely incorporated into 
local government regulations.  Allied Tube, 486 U.S. at 
495-96.  Like the LIBOR-setting process, the process of 
forming the safety standard was a cooperative endeav-
or by otherwise-competing companies under the auspi-
ces of a trade association.  Critically, however, whereas 
the conspiracy in Allied Tube gave defendants a com-
petitive advantage over plaintiff by shutting plaintiff’s 
product out of the industry safety standard, here plain-
tiffs have not alleged that defendants’ suppression of 
LIBOR gave them an advantage over their competitors. 

Each of the other decisions plaintiffs cite involving 
defendants’ failure to provide accurate information also 
involved a harm to competition beyond what is present 
here.  See F.T.C. v. Indiana Fed’n of Dentists, 476 U.S. 
447 (1986) (dentists agreed not to submit x-rays to den-
tal insurance companies, where dentists would other-
wise have competed over their degree of cooperation 
with insurance companies); Nat’l Soc’y of Prof’l Eng’rs 
v. United States, 435 U.S. 679 (1978) (trade association 
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of engineers adopted rule prohibiting the discussion of 
costs until the client had selected an engineer, thus 
prohibiting competitive bidding among engineers); 
Woods Exploration & Producing Co. v. Aluminum Co. 
of America, 438 F.2d 1286 (5th Cir. 1971) (defendant oil 
producers submitted artificially low sales forecasts to 
state regulator in order to lower the total production 
limit in an oil field in which both plaintiffs and defend-
ants operated, where the regulator’s formula for allot-
ting production allowables favored plaintiffs and thus a 
decrease in the total production limit disproportionately 
harmed plaintiffs). 

Similarly, plaintiffs’ “list price” cases are distin-
guishable.  For instance, the Ninth Circuit in Plymouth 
Dealers’ Ass’n of N. Cal. v. United States, 279 F.2d 128 
(9th Cir. 1960), considered a conspiracy among Plym-
outh car dealers to fix the list prices for cars and acces-
sories.  The Court held that the conspiracy violated the 
Sherman Act, despite the fact that dealers were free to 
bargain down from the list price.  Id.  Here, plaintiffs 
would have us follow similar reasoning, but the defect 
in the comparison is that list prices are a very different 
sort of benchmark than LIBOR.  The Plymouth dealers’ 
conspiracy to fix list prices “established as a matter of 
actual practice one boundary of ‘the range within which 
… sales would be made,’” thus “prevent[ing] the de-
termination of (market) prices by free competition 
alone.”  Id. at 134 (quoting United States v. Socony-
Vacuum Oil Co., 310 U.S. 150, 222-23 (1940)).  By con-
trast, the price of LIBOR-based financial instruments 
can be set at any level above or below LIBOR, and thus 
defendants’ alleged conspiracy to fix LIBOR did not 
constrain the free and competitive bargaining of actors 
in the market for LIBOR-based financial instruments. 
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Finally, plaintiffs’ cases involving manipulation of 
indices are distinguishable for the same reason.  Plain-
tiffs cite In re Rail Freight Fuel Surcharge Antitrust 
Litigation, 587 F. Supp. 2d 27, 593 F. Supp. 2d 29 
(D.D.C. 2008), which addressed a conspiracy by major 
railroads to remove fuel costs from a cost escalation in-
dex that was published by a trade association and wide-
ly used in rail freight transportation contracts, and in-
stead to implement a uniform fuel surcharge.  The 
Court held that plaintiffs had established antitrust in-
jury:  “through their allegations identifying defendants’ 
supracompetitive prices, plaintiffs here have alleged an 
injury to competition itself.”  593 F. Supp. 2d at 42.  
Importantly, though, the Court clarified that defend-
ants’ collaboration in the industry association to publish 
the new cost escalation index was not necessarily anti-
competitive by itself, but rather was anticompetitive 
when combined with defendants’ other actions, notably 
imposing the uniform fuel surcharge.  587 F. Supp. 2d 
at 35.  In our case, although defendants allegedly fixed 
a benchmark, LIBOR, published by a trade association, 
the BBA, they did not add a uniform charge, like the 
fuel surcharge in Rail Freight, to an otherwise compet-
itively determined price.  The other decisions cited by 
plaintiffs that found antitrust injury where defendants 
manipulated an index are also distinguishable because 
they each involved a failure of defendants to compete.  
See, e.g., Knevelbaard Dairies v. Kraft Foods, Inc., 232 
F.3d 979 (9th Cir. 2000) (defendants failed to compete in 
the bulk cheese market and thus manipulated the gov-
ernment-mandated minimum price for milk, which was 
calculated using a formula that incorporated the price 
of bulk cheese); Ice Cream Liquidation, Inc. v. Land 
O’Lakes, Inc., 253 F. Supp. 2d 262 (D. Conn. 2003) 
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(same, except defendants failed to compete in the but-
ter market, which also affected a minimum milk price). 

6.  Conclusion 

For these reasons, plaintiffs’ allegations do not 
make out a plausible argument that they suffered an 
antitrust injury.  Plaintiffs, therefore, do not have 
standing to bring claims pursuant to the Clayton Act or 
the Cartwright Act.11  Accordingly, plaintiffs’ antitrust 
claims are dismissed. 

B.  Exchange-Based Claims 

The Exchange-Based Plaintiffs have asserted caus-
es of action for manipulation of Eurodollar futures in 
violation of the Commodity Exchange Act (“CEA”), 7 
U.S.C. §§ 1-25 (2006), and vicarious liability for and aid-
ing and abetting such manipulation.  Exchange Am. 
Compl. ¶¶ 228-44.  Defendants have moved to dismiss 
these claims on three grounds:  (1) the claims involve an 
impermissible extraterritorial application of the CEA, 
(2) the claims are time-barred, and (3) plaintiffs fail to 
state a claim for manipulation under the CEA.  For the 
reasons stated below, we find that, although plaintiffs’ 
claims do not require an extraterritorial application of 
the CEA and do not fail to plead commodities manipu-
lation, they are time-barred at least to the extent that 
they rely on contracts purchased from August 2007, the 
start of the Class Period, through May 29, 2008, the 
date by which plaintiffs were clearly on inquiry notice 
of their injury. 

                                                 
11 As discussed below, we assert supplemental jurisdiction 

over plaintiffs’ Cartwright Act claim. 
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1.  Extraterritoriality 

Defendants first argue that plaintiffs’ claims must 
be dismissed because the CEA does not apply extrater-
ritorially, yet plaintiffs’ claims rely exclusively on for-
eign commodities manipulation.  As discussed below, 
although we agree that the CEA does not apply extra-
territorially, we find that the alleged manipulation 
nonetheless falls within the CEA’s purview. 

a.  Legal Standard 

Both sides agree that Morrison v. National Aus-
tralia Bank Ltd., 130 S. Ct. 2869 (2010), governs the 
question of whether plaintiffs’ claims involve an im-
permissibly extraterritorial application of the CEA.  
Tr. 35; Exchange MTD 13-17.  In Morrison, the Su-
preme Court reaffirmed the “longstanding principle of 
American law that legislation of Congress, unless a con-
trary intent appears, is meant to apply only within the 
territorial jurisdiction of the United States.”  Morrison, 
130 S. Ct. at 2877 (quoting EEOC v. Arabian Am. Oil 
Co. (“Aramco”), 499 U.S. 244, 248 (1991)) (internal quo-
tation marks omitted).  The Court observed that this 
principle is not a limit on Congress’s authority to legis-
late, but rather “represents a canon of construction … 
[that] rests on the perception that Congress ordinarily 
legislates with respect to domestic, not foreign mat-
ters.”  Id. 

The Court established a two-part test for deciding 
questions of extraterritoriality.  First, “‘unless there is 
the affirmative intention of the Congress clearly ex-
pressed’ to give a statute extraterritorial effect, ‘we 
must presume it is primarily concerned with domestic 
conditions.’”  Id. (quoting Aramco, 499 U.S. at 248).  
“When a statute gives no clear indication of an extra-
territorial application, it has none.”  Id. at 2878.  Sec-
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ond, if a statute applies only domestically, a court must 
determine which domestic conduct the statute regu-
lates.  The reason for this inquiry is that “it is a rare 
case of prohibited extraterritorial application that lacks 
all contact with the territory of the United States,” and 
thus the presumption against extraterritoriality, to 
have any meaning, must limit the statute’s application 
to those domestic activities that “are the objects of the 
statute’s solicitude,” that “the statute seeks to ‘regu-
late.’”  Id. at 2884.  To carry out this analysis, a court 
must ascertain “the ‘focus’ of congressional concern.”  
Id. (quoting Aramco, 499 U.S. at 255). 

Applying this framework to section 9(a) of the 
CEA, the provision under which plaintiffs assert their 
claims, we first observe that “neither the CEA nor its 
legislative history specifically authorizes extraterrito-
rial application of the statute.”  CFTC v. Garofalo, 10 
CV 2417, at *11 (N.D. Ill. Dec. 21, 2010) (citing Tamari 
v. Bache & Co., 730 F.2d 1103, 1107 (7th Cir. 1984)).  
Rather, “the statute is silent on this issue and shows 
neither a Congressional intent to apply the CEA to for-
eign agents nor a wish to restrict the statute to domes-
tic activities.”  Id. (citing Tamari, 730 F.2d at 1107).  
Indeed, there is even less of an indication of extraterri-
torial application here than in section 10(b) of the Secu-
rities and Exchange Act of 1934 (the “’34 Act”), 15 
U.S.C. §§ 78a-78pp (2006 & Supp. IV 2010), as amended 
by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, Pub. L. No. 107-
204, 116 Stat. 745 (codified in scattered sections of the 
U.S. Code), which the Morrison Court held did not ap-
ply extraterritorially.  The Court reasoned in Morrison 
that even though one of section 10(b)’s terms, “inter-
state commerce,” was defined to include foreign com-
merce, see 15 U.S.C. § 78c(a)(17), “[t]he general refer-
ence to foreign commerce in the definition of ‘interstate 



83a 

 

commerce’ does not defeat the presumption against ex-
traterritoriality.”  Morrison, 130 S. Ct. at 2882.  Here, 
“interstate commerce,” as referenced in section 9(a) of 
the CEA, 7 U.S.C. § 13(a)(2), does not even include a 
reference to foreign commerce, id. § 1a(30).  Because 
section 9(a) of the CEA “gives no clear indication of an 
extraterritorial application, it has none.”  Morrison, 130 
S. Ct. at 2878. 

Having concluded that section 9(a) of the CEA ap-
plies only domestically, we must still determine which 
domestic activities “are the objects of the statute’s so-
licitude,” which activities “the statute seeks to ‘regu-
late.’”  Id. at 2884.  We therefore must determine “the 
‘focus’ of congressional concern” in enacting section 9(a) 
of the CEA.  Id. (quoting Aramco, 499 U.S. at 255). 

Section 9(a) makes it a crime for “[a]ny person to 
manipulate or attempt to manipulate the price of any 
commodity in interstate commerce, or for future deliv-
ery on or subject to the rules of any registered entity.”  
7 U.S.C. § 13(a)(2).  This provision clearly focuses on 
commodities in interstate commerce and futures con-
tracts traded on domestic exchanges.  Such an interpre-
tation of the statute’s focus is consistent with the 
CEA’s statement of purpose, see 7 U.S.C. § 5(b), as well 
as decisions interpreting the CEA, see, e.g. Tamari v. 
Bache & Co., 730 F.2d 1103, 1108 (7th Cir. 1984) (“[T]he 
fundamental purpose of the [CEA] is to ensure the in-
tegrity of the domestic commodity markets.”); cf. 
CFTC v. Garofalo, 10 CV 2417, at *12 (ruling that sec-
tions 6c(a) and (b) of the CEA, prohibiting certain 
transactions in commodities future or option contracts, 
“are concerned with where the underlying options con-
tracts were actually traded”).  Accordingly, a claim is 
within the CEA’s domestic application if it involves (1) 
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commodities in interstate commerce or (2) futures con-
tracts traded on domestic exchanges. 

b.  The Present Allegations 

Here, plaintiffs’ claims plainly involve futures con-
tracts traded on domestic exchanges.  By manipulating 
LIBOR, defendants allegedly manipulated the price of 
Eurodollar futures contracts, which is directly based on 
LIBOR.  Eurodollar futures contracts, of course, are 
traded on the Chicago Mercantile Exchange.  Indeed, 
defendants acknowledged at oral argument that Euro-
dollar futures contracts are within the scope of the 
CEA’s manipulation provision.  Tr. 42.  Because plain-
tiffs’ claims involve manipulation of the price of domes-
tically traded futures contracts, they are not impermis-
sibly extraterritorial. 

According to defendants, plaintiffs “don’t allege 
that the defendants … manipulated the futures con-
tract with Chicago,” but rather allege only that defend-
ants manipulated the Eurodollar contract’s underlying 
commodity.  Id. at 43.  Defendants contend that 
“[t]here are all kinds of things one can do to manipulate 
futures contracts,” but “[n]ot one of those things is al-
leged here.”  Id. 

We do not concur.  LIBOR was directly incorpo-
rated into the price of Eurodollar futures contracts, and 
by allegedly manipulating LIBOR, defendants manipu-
lated the price of those contracts.  Moreover, as dis-
cussed further below, LIBOR cannot plausibly be un-
derstood as the commodity underlying Eurodollar fu-
tures contracts; the only plausible way to characterize 
the components of a Eurodollar contract is that the un-
derlying commodity is a USD 1,000,000 deposit in a for-
eign commercial bank with a three-month maturity, 
and the price is settled or traded at a value based on 
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LIBOR.  This understanding of Eurodollar futures con-
tracts limits which claims have been adequately plead-
ed, but it also forecloses defendants’ argument that the 
only thing plaintiffs have alleged is manipulation of Eu-
rodollar contracts’ underlying commodity.  In short, 
plaintiffs’ claims clearly involve manipulation of the 
price of Eurodollar futures contracts, and manipulating 
the price of futures contracts traded on domestic ex-
changes is precisely the conduct that the CEA was de-
signed to regulate.  Accordingly, plaintiffs’ claims fall 
within the purview of the CEA. 

2.  Statute of Limitations 

Defendants next argue that plaintiffs’ claims are 
barred by the CEA’s statute of limitations.  As dis-
cussed below, we find that certain of plaintiffs’ claims 
are barred, certain are not, and others may or may not 
be, though we will not dismiss them at this stage. 

a.  Legal Standard 

A claim pursuant to the CEA must be brought “not 
later than two years after the date the cause of action 
arises.”  7 U.S.C. § 25(c).  The CEA does not elaborate, 
however, on the circumstances that start the running of 
its statute of limitations.  Where a federal statute “is 
silent on the issue” of when a cause of action accrues, as 
the CEA is, courts apply a “discovery accrual rule” 
wherein “discovery of the injury, not discovery of the 
other elements of a claim, is what starts the clock.”  
Koch v. Christie’s Int’l PLC, 699 F.3d 141, 148-49 (2d 
Cir. 2012) (quoting Rotella v. Wood, 528 U.S. 549, 555 
(2000)) (internal quotation marks omitted) (interpreting 
the statute of limitations for RICO claims, which re-
quires plaintiffs to bring suit no later than “[four] years 
after the cause of action accrues,” 28 U.S.C. § 1658(a)); 
see also Premium Plus Partners, L.P. v. Goldman, 
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Sachs & Co., 648 F.3d 533, 536 (7th Cir. 2011) (Easter-
brook, C.J.) (“Section 25(c) of the Commodity Exchange 
Act … says that suit must be filed within two years of 
‘the date the cause of action arises.’  We have under-
stood this to mean the date on which the investor dis-
covers that he has been injured.”). 

Under Second Circuit precedent, courts apply an 
“inquiry notice” analysis to determine when a plaintiff 
has discovered his injury: 

Inquiry notice—often called “storm warnings” 
in the securities context—gives rise to a duty 
of inquiry “when the circumstances would sug-
gest to an investor of ordinary intelligence the 
probability that she has been defrauded.”  In 
such circumstances, the imputation of 
knowledge will be timed in one of two ways:  (i) 
“[i]f the investor makes no inquiry once the du-
ty arises, knowledge will be imputed as of the 
date the duty arose”; and (ii) if some inquiry is 
made, “we will impute knowledge of what an 
investor in the exercise of reasonable dili-
gence[] should have discovered concerning the 
fraud, and in such cases the limitations period 
begins to run from the date such inquiry should 
have revealed the fraud.” 

Koch, 699 F.3d at 151 (quoting Lentell v. Merrill Lynch 
& Co., 396 F.3d 161, 168 (2d Cir. 2005)); see also id. at 
153 (“[O]nce there are sufficient ‘storm warnings’ to 
trigger the duty to inquire, and the duty arises, if a 
plaintiff does not inquire within the limitations period, 
the claim will be time-barred.”).  In short, we first ask 
at what point the circumstances were such that they 
“would suggest to [a person] of ordinary intelligence 
the probability that she has been defrauded.”  Id. at 151 
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(internal quotation marks omitted).  If plaintiffs do not 
then inquire within two years, they are deemed to have 
knowledge of their injury at the point at which the duty 
to inquire arose, and the period of limitations starts to 
run on that date.  Here, plaintiffs do not allege that 
they made any inquiry into their injury prior to March 
15, 2011.  See Exchange Am. Compl. ¶¶ 182-99.  Thus, if 
circumstances would have suggested to a person of or-
dinary intelligence the probability that he had been de-
frauded more than two years prior to March 15, 2011, 
that is, prior to March 15, 2009, then, to the extent 
plaintiffs’ claims are based on Eurodollar contracts pur-
chased through the date of inquiry notice, the claims 
are barred by the statute of limitations. 

Contrary to plaintiffs’ contention, the amount of 
public information necessary to start the period of limi-
tations for commodities manipulation under the CEA is 
significantly less than the amount necessary to com-
mence the period of limitations for securities fraud un-
der the ’34 Act.  The two-year limitations period for se-
curities fraud begins to run upon “the discovery of the 
facts constituting the violation.”  28 U.S.C. § 1658(b)(1) 
(2006).  In Merck & Co., Inc. v. Reynolds, 559 U.S. 633 
(2010), the Supreme Court held that “the ‘facts consti-
tuting the violation’ include the fact of scienter, ‘a men-
tal state embracing intent to deceive, manipulate, or 
defraud.’”  Id. at 1790 (quoting Ernst & Ernst v. Hoch-
felder, 425 U.S. 185, 194 n.12 (1976)).  The Court rea-
soned:  “[T]his ‘fact’ of scienter ‘constitut[es]’ an im-
portant and necessary element of a § 10(b) ‘violation.’  
A plaintiff cannot recover without proving that a de-
fendant made a material misstatement with an intent to 
deceive—not merely innocently or negligently.”  Id. at 
1796 (emphasis omitted).  According to the Second Cir-
cuit, this analysis indicates that the Court “thought 
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about the requirements for ‘discovering’ a fact in terms 
of what was required to adequately plead that fact and 
survive a motion to dismiss.”  City of Pontiac Gen. 
Emps.’ Ret. Sys. v. MBIA, Inc., 637 F.3d 169, 175 (2d 
Cir. 2011). 

Plaintiffs argue that this pleading-based standard 
applies here, such that the statute of limitations did not 
begin to run until they could have adequately pleaded a 
claim for commodities manipulation.  Exchange Opp’n 
24-26.  In support of this argument, plaintiffs rely on 
language in City of Pontiac in which the Circuit, con-
sidering “the basic purpose of a statute of limitations,” 
reasoned that because the purpose is to prevent plain-
tiffs from unfairly surprising defendants by bringing 
stale claims, and because a claim cannot be stale until it 
has “accrued,” a statute of limitations cannot commence 
until a claim has “accrued.”  City of Pontiac, 637 F.3d 
at 175; see also Exchange Opp’n 25.  Further, “[o]nly 
after a plaintiff can adequately plead his claim can that 
claim be said to have accrued.”  City of Pontiac, 637 
F.3d at 175.  Plaintiffs argue that this language applies 
to statutes of limitations generally, including in the 
CEA context. 

However, despite this general discussion of the 
purposes of statutes of limitations, the fact remains 
that City of Pontiac interpreted only the statute of lim-
itations of the ’34 Act, which is different on its face than 
the statute of limitations of the CEA.  In Koch v. Chris-
tie’s Int’l PLC, 699 F.3d 141 (2d Cir. 2012), the Circuit 
confirmed that the analysis in Merck, which was the 
basis for the pleading-based standard established in 
City of Pontiac, “does not apply outside the realm of 
the statute that it interpreted.”  Id. at 150; see also 
Premium Plus Partners, L.P. v. Goldman, Sachs & 
Co., 648 F.3d 533, 536 (7th Cir. 2011) (Easterbrook, 
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C.J.) (“The language of [the ’34 Act’s statute of limita-
tions] … is hard to impute to [the CEA’s statute of limi-
tations.”).  “It remains the law in this Circuit that a 
RICO claim accrues upon the discovery of the injury 
alone.”  Koch, 699 F.3d at 150.  As discussed above, the 
CEA, like RICO, is silent regarding when a cause of 
action arises.  Therefore, the Second Circuit’s holding 
in Koch that the RICO statute of limitations is based on 
a “discovery of the injury” standard is controlling in the 
context of the CEA. 

Moreover, the pleading-based standard applicable 
to securities fraud claims is instructive here to the ex-
tent that it sets an upper bound on the amount of in-
formation necessary to commence the period of limita-
tion for plaintiffs’ commodities manipulation claims.  As 
discussed below, a plaintiff seeking damages for com-
modities manipulation must satisfy the following four 
elements:  “(1) that [defendant] had the ability to influ-
ence market prices; (2) that [he] specifically intended to 
do so; (3) that artificial prices existed; and (4) that the 
[defendant] caused the artificial prices.”  DiPlacido v. 
CFTC, 364 F. App’x 657, 661 (2d Cir. 2009) (quoting In 
re Cox, No. 75-16, 1987 WL 106879, at *3 (C.F.T.C. July 
15, 1987)).  In order for the period of limitations to 
commence, however, a plaintiff need not be able to 
make such a showing.  In particular, plaintiffs here did 
not need to be able to allege “that Defendants were 
knowingly colluding to suppress LIBOR.”  Exchange 
Am. Compl. ¶ 197 (emphasis omitted).  Rather, it was 
necessary only that “circumstances would [have] sug-
gest[ed] to [a person] of ordinary intelligence the prob-
ability that she ha[d] been defrauded.”  Koch, 699 F.3d 
at 151 (quoting Lentell v. Merrill Lynch & Co., Inc., 396 
F.3d 161, 168 (2d Cir. 2005)).  Specifically, plaintiffs 
here would have been on inquiry notice of their injury if 
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circumstances would have suggested to a person of or-
dinary intelligence the probability that the LIBOR fix-
es which affected the prices of plaintiffs’ Eurodollar 
contracts had been manipulated.  If inquiry notice was 
triggered on a date prior to March 15, 2009, plaintiffs’ 
claims based on Eurodollar futures contracts purchased 
through the date of inquiry notice are barred. 

Finally, we are mindful that “defendants bear a 
heavy burden in establishing that the plaintiff was on 
inquiry notice as a matter of law.”  Newman v. Warna-
co Grp., Inc., 335 F.3d 187, 194-95 (2d Cir. 2003) (quot-
ing Nivram Corp. v. Harcourt Brace Jovanovich, Inc., 
840 F. Supp. 243, 249 (S.D.N.Y. 1993)).  Nonetheless, 
“[d]ismissal is appropriate when the facts from which 
knowledge may be imputed are clear from the plead-
ings and the public disclosures themselves.”  In re Ul-
trafem Inc. Sec. Litig., 91 F. Supp. 2d 678, 692 
(S.D.N.Y. 2000). 

b.  Publicly Available Information Relating to 
LIBOR Manipulation 

By May 29, 2008, seven articles published in promi-
nent national news sources, along with one report ref-
erenced in several of those articles, suggested that LI-
BOR had been at artificial levels since August 2007, the 
start of the Class Period.  As discussed below, these 
articles put plaintiffs on inquiry notice of their claims 
based on Eurodollar futures contracts purchased dur-
ing that period.12 

                                                 
12 Plaintiffs argue in their opposition brief that the Barclays 

settlement documents suggest LIBOR manipulation extending as 
far back as 2005, and that they should, accordingly, be granted 
leave to amend their complaint to include allegations based on in-
formation derived from the Barclays settlements.  Exchange 
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On April 10, 2008, Citigroup strategists Scott Peng, 
Chintan Gandhi, and Alexander Tyo published a re-
search report entitled, “Special Topic: Is LIBOR Bro-
ken?” (the “Peng Report”).  Scott Peng et al., 
Citigroup, Special Topic: Is LIBOR Broken?, Apr. 10, 
2008.  The Report found that “[three-month] LIBOR 
probably understates real interbank lending costs by 
20-30 [basis points].”13  Id.  To support this determina-
tion, the Report compared LIBOR with the three-
month Eurodollar deposit rate calculated by the Feder-
al Reserve.  “Because the Fed’s data are based on the 
bid-side rate of interbank borrowing, the Fed’s Euro-
dollar rate should be less than LIBOR (which, by defi-
nition, is an offered rate).”  Id.  Yet, the Report ob-
served, “the Fed’s bid-side rate is now 29 [basis points] 
higher than LIBOR’s offered-side rate,” and had gen-
erally been higher than LIBOR since August 2007.  Id.  
This made “no economic sense.”  Id.  The Report con-
cluded that the Federal Reserve Eurodollar deposit 
rate, which seemed reasonable, “may be a better gauge 
than LIBOR of short-term funding levels.”  Id. 

The Report also compared one-month LIBOR to 
the rate at which the Federal Reserve auctioned off col-
lateralized short-term loans to banks under a program 
known as the Term Auction Facility (“TAF”).  TAF 
loans had recently been auctioned at a rate higher than 
LIBOR, though “[g]iven that the TAF is a securitized 
borrowing rate as opposed to LIBOR, which is an unse-
curitized lending rate, it seem[ed] counterintuitive for 
banks to pay a higher interest rate to borrow from the 
TAF than to borrow from the interbank market.”  Id.  
                                                                                                    
Opp’n 29-30.  As discussed below, we will grant plaintiffs leave to 
move to amend their complaints to include such allegations. 

13 One basis point is one-hundredth of a percentage point. 
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Something was off, and because the TAF rate appeared 
“entirely normal,” the Report concluded that “the real 
issue lies in a much bigger arena—LIBOR.”  Id.  The 
Report observed that a likely explanation for the unu-
sual LIBOR rates was that banks were seeking to bol-
ster the market’s perception of their financial health:  
“[A]ny bank posting a high LIBOR level runs the risk 
of being perceived as needing funding.  With markets in 
such a fragile state, this kind of perception could have 
dangerous consequences.”  Id. 

According to a Bloomberg article published on May 
18, 2009, the Peng Report “brought widespread atten-
tion to the possibility [that LIBOR] might be under-
stating actual bank lending costs.”  Liz Capo McCor-
mick, Citigroup’s Head of Rates Strategy, Scott Peng, 
Leaves Firm, Bloomberg.com, May 18, 2009. 

On April 16, 2008, the Wall Street Journal pub-
lished an article entitled, “Bankers Cast Doubt on Key 
Rate amid Crisis.”  Carrick Mollenkamp, Bankers Cast 
Doubt on Key Rate amid Crisis, Wall St. J., Apr. 16, 
2008.  The article commenced by explicitly observing 
that LIBOR might be inaccurate:  “One of the most im-
portant barometers of the world’s financial health could 
be sending false signals.  In a development that has im-
plications for borrowers everywhere, … bankers and 
traders are expressing concerns that the London inter-
bank offered rate, known as Libor, is becoming unrelia-
ble.”  Id.  As evidence that LIBOR was diverging from 
its “true” level, the article included a graph comparing 
three-month LIBOR to the three-month Federal Re-
serve Eurodollar deposit rate, with the heading “Bro-
ken Indicator?” and the caption “Since the financial cri-
sis began, the rate on three-month interbank loans has 
diverged at times from the comparable rate for dollars 
deposited outside the U.S.”  Id.  The article also dis-
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cussed the Peng Report, noting that the Report had 
“compare[ed] Libor with [the TAF] indicator and oth-
ers—such as the rate on three-month bank deposits 
known as the Eurodollar rate” to conclude that “Libor 
may be understated by 0.2 to 0.3 percentage points.”  
Id. 

The article suggested that banks had several incen-
tives to underreport LIBOR, notably the same incen-
tives now alleged by plaintiffs:  “Some banks don’t want 
to report the high rates they’re paying for short-term 
loans because they don’t want to tip off the market that 
they’re desperate for cash,” and “banks might have an 
incentive to provide false rates to profit from deriva-
tives transactions.”  Id.  Finally, the article reported 
that the BBA was investigating the LIBOR submission 
process in response to concerns from “bankers and oth-
er market participants,” and that, “[i]n one sign of in-
creasing concern about Libor, traders and banks are 
considering using other benchmarks to calculate inter-
est rates.”  Id. 

The next day, on April 17, 2008, the Wall Street 
Journal published another article raising questions 
about LIBOR’s accuracy.  Carrick Mollenkamp & Lau-
rence Norman, British Bankers Group Steps up Review 
of Widely Used Libor, Wall St. J., Apr. 17, 2008.  The 
article reported that the BBA, “[f]acing increasing 
questions about the reliability of [LIBOR],” had “fast-
tracked an inquiry into the accuracy of the rate” and 
declared that “if banks are found to have submitted in-
accurate figures, they would be removed from the pan-
els that submit rates.”  Id.  According to the article, 
“the credit crisis,” commonly understood to have begun 
in August 2007, see Peng Report, “ha[d] highlighted 
gaps between Libor and other interest rates, and it 
ha[d] raised questions about whether banks are submit-
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ting rates that accurately reflect actual borrowing 
costs,” Mollenkamp & Norman, supra.  Bankers and 
traders “ha[d] expressed concerns that some banks 
don’t want to report the high rate they are paying for 
fear of creating the impression they are desperate for 
cash.”  Id.  Significantly, “[t]he problems with Libor 
ha[d] also been a hot topic among traders in the market 
for Eurodollar futures.”  Id. 

On April 18, 2008, the Wall Street Journal pub-
lished its third article in as many days regarding ques-
tions over LIBOR.  Carrick Mollenkamp, Libor Surges 
After Scrutiny Does, Too, Wall St. J., Apr. 18, 2008.  
The article observed that after the BBA announced on 
April 16, 2008, that it would fast-track its review of the 
LIBOR submission process, three-month USD LIBOR 
increased the next day by over eight basis points—“its 
largest jump since the advent of the credit crisis.”  Id.  
The increase, according to the article, might have been 
“a sign that banks could be responding to increasing 
concerns that the rate doesn’t reflect their actual bor-
rowing costs.”  Id.  The article repeated the observa-
tions of the previous two that the BBA’s move “came 
amid concerns among bankers that their rivals were 
not reporting the high rates they were paying for 
short-term loans for fear of appearing desperate for 
cash.”  Id.  Additionally, the article noted the belief of 
some analysts that LIBOR had still not fully corrected:  
a strategist at Credit Suisse believed that three-month 
USD LIBOR was too low by 40 basis points, while the 
Peng Report had found LIBOR to be low by up to 30 
basis points.  Id. 

On April 21, 2008, the Financial Times published 
an article entitled, “Doubts over Libor Widen.” Gillian 
Tett & Michael Mackenzie, Doubts over Libor Widen, 
Fin. Times, Apr. 21, 2008.  The article reported that 
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“the credibility of Libor as a measure [was] declining,” 
though this was “not entirely new:  as the Financial 
Times first revealed [in 2007], bankers ha[d] been ques-
tioning the way Libor is compiled ever since the credit 
turmoil first erupted.”  Id.  Regarding why LIBOR 
“ha[d] started to lag other, traded measures of market 
stress, such as the funding trends in the dollar deposit 
market,” the article reported that although bankers 
thought it unlikely that there was collusion to suppress 
LIBOR, “there [was] a widespread belief that some 
banks ha[d] an incentive to keep their bids low.”  Id.  
Indeed, even though LIBOR is inherently a matter of 
guesswork, especially when interbank lending is at a 
depressed level, the article quoted an economist’s ob-
servation that “‘[i]t is not surprising that [the LIBOR 
panel banks] make guesses that avoid unwelcome pub-
licity.’”  Id. 

The next month brought three additional articles 
on the questions surrounding LIBOR.  On May 16, 
2008, Reuters published an article providing back-
ground on the issue and summarizing various sugges-
tions regarding how best to move forward.  European, 
U.S. Bankers Work on Libor Problems, Reuters, May 
16, 2008.  The article noted that “[t]hreats from the 
BBA in late April to expel any bank found acting im-
properly was the trigger for a surge in the daily fix[es] 
over the next couple of days.”  Id.  Further, the article 
reported “worries that some banks were understating 
how much they had to pay to borrow money in order to 
avoid being labeled desperate for cash and, as a result, 
vulnerable to solvency rumors.”  Id. 

On May 29, 2008, Bloomberg published an article 
that quoted a Barclays strategist’s statement that 
“[b]anks routinely misstated borrowing costs to the 
[BBA] to avoid the perception they faced difficulty rais-
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ing funds as credit markets seized up.”  Gavin Finch & 
Elliott Gotkine, Libor Banks Misstated Rates, Bond at 
Barclays Says, Bloomberg.com, May 29, 2008.  The ar-
ticle also reported that LIBOR “show[ed] little correla-
tion to banks’ cost of insuring debt from default,” de-
spite the fact that, because lending rates and the cost of 
default insurance are both theoretically based on a 
bank’s likelihood of defaulting on its debts, they should 
be correlated.  Id.  As an example, the article observed 
that, over the period from July 2, 2007, through April 
15, 2008, UBS’s default insurance costs rose over 900 
percent, while its USD LIBOR quotes “were lower 
than its rivals on 85 percent of the days during that pe-
riod.”  Id.  Finally, the article noted the unusual jump in 
three-month USD LIBOR after the BBA’s April 16, 
2008, announcement, and that traders had been “resort-
ing to alternative measures for borrowing costs as the 
BBA struggle[d] to maintain Libor’s status.”  Id.  In-
deed, trading in Eurodollar futures declined by 7.5 per-
cent from March to April 2008, while trading in alterna-
tive future contracts experienced significant increases.  
Id. 

Also on May 29, 2008, the Wall Street Journal re-
ported the findings of a study on LIBOR that the 
newspaper had conducted.  Carrick Mollenkamp & 
Mark Whitehouse, Study Casts Doubt on Key Rate, 
Wall St. J., May 29, 2008.  The Journal’s analysis, based 
on data from January 23, 2008, through April 16, 2008, 
“indicate[d] that Citigroup Inc., WestLB, HBOS PLC, 
J.P. Morgan Chase & Co. and UBS AG [were] among 
the banks that ha[d] been reporting significantly lower 
borrowing costs for [LIBOR] than what another mar-
ket measure suggest[ed] they should [have been].”  Id.  
Over the period analyzed by the study, LIBOR and the 
cost of bank default insurance had diverged, “with re-
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ported Libor rates failing to reflect rising default-
insurance costs.”  Id.  Specifically, “the three-month 
and six-month dollar Libor rates were about a quarter 
percentage point [i.e. 25 basis points] lower than the 
borrowing rates suggested by the default-insurance 
market.”  Id.  The Journal’s methodology and findings 
were reviewed by “three independent academics,” each 
of whom “said the approach was a reasonable way to 
analyze Libor.”  Id.  Indeed, one reviewer stated that 
“the [Journal’s] calculations show ‘very convincingly’ 
that reported Libor rates are lower than what the mar-
ket thinks they should be.”  Id. 

The article also suggested that LIBOR was at an 
artificial level both before and after the study period.  
At a November 2007 meeting of a Bank of England 
money-market committee, concerns had emerged that 
“Libor wasn’t high enough.”  Id.  In late April 2008, 
moreover, after banks had reacted to the BBA’s an-
nouncement, LIBOR remained 15 basis points too low.  
Id. 

The article included the caveat that “[t]he Journal’s 
analysis doesn’t prove that banks are lying or manipu-
lating Libor,” given other possible explanations for the 
observed data, such as the guesswork inherent in calcu-
lating LIBOR and the fact that certain banks “have 
ample customer deposits and access to loans from the 
Federal Reserve.”  Id.  Nonetheless, the article noted 
that “[i]f any bank submits a much higher rate than its 
peers, it risks looking like it’s in financial trouble[, s]o 
banks have an incentive to play it safe by reporting 
something similar.”  Id.  Indeed, a Stanford finance pro-
fessor had determined that the observed three-month 
USD LIBOR quotes were “‘far too similar to be be-
lieved,’” a conclusion buttressed by the fact that “[a]t 
times, banks reported similar borrowing rates even 
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when the default-insurance market was drawing big 
distinctions about their financial health.”  Id.  The arti-
cle concluded by observing that some traders had 
“beg[un] thinking about using other benchmarks,” such 
as “the federal-funds rate—the rate at which banks 
loan to each other overnight.”  Id. 

These articles are summarized in Figure 1, below. 

 

c.  Inquiry Notice 

Plaintiffs argue that despite all of these articles, 
they were not on inquiry notice until March 15, 2011, 
“when UBS released its annual report 20-F stating that 
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it had received subpoenas from the Department of Jus-
tice, the SEC, the CFTC, as well as an information re-
quest from the Japanese Financial Supervisory Agen-
cy, all relating to its interest rate submissions to the 
BBA.”  OTC Am. Compl. ¶ 205; see also Exchange Am. 
Compl. ¶¶ 197-98; Exchange Opp’n 24-30.  Plaintiffs of-
fer three reasons for why the articles published in April 
and May 2008 failed to put them on inquiry notice:  the 
articles “[1] did nothing more than speculate about pos-
sible LIBOR discrepancies, [2] did not even suggest 
that such discrepancies resulted from Defendants’ in-
tentional manipulation of their LIBOR submissions, 
and [3] were accompanied by denials from the BBA 
that the panel banks[’] submissions represented any-
thing other than their true borrowing costs.”  Ex-
change Opp’n 26. 

These arguments are unconvincing.  First, although 
it is accurate that none of the articles definitively estab-
lished that LIBOR was being manipulated, they did not 
need to do so to place plaintiffs on inquiry notice.  Ra-
ther, they needed only to suggest to a person of ordi-
nary intelligence the probability that LIBOR had been 
manipulated.  Accepting as true plaintiffs’ allegations 
that they were injured by paying too high a price for 
Eurodollar futures contracts and that the price at 
which Eurodollar contracts trade is affected by existing 
LIBOR fixes, Exchange Am. Compl. ¶¶ 209-17, it fol-
lows that if plaintiffs were on notice that LIBOR had 
been set at artificial levels, they were also on notice of 
their injury.  As discussed above, the Peng Report and 
the seven articles published in the ensuing weeks re-
ported that (1) since August 2007, LIBOR had diverged 
from benchmarks with which it should have been corre-
lated, (2) independent experts had confirmed this com-
parative methodology and concluded that LIBOR was 
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too low, (3) the BBA had accelerated its review of the 
LIBOR submissions process and publicly declared that 
a bank submitting false rates would be disqualified 
from the LIBOR panel, (4) LIBOR quotes jumped ab-
normally on the day following the BBA’s announce-
ment, and (5) market actors had begun to shift away 
from LIBOR-based instruments toward instruments 
based on alternative benchmarks because of their dis-
trust of recent LIBOR fixes.  Faced with this infor-
mation, and especially in light of the fact that it was re-
ported by five separate institutions, a person of ordi-
nary intelligence would clearly have been on notice that 
LIBOR was probably being set at artificial levels and, 
consequently, that Eurodollar futures contract prices 
had also been artificial. 

Second, contrary to plaintiffs’ argument, plaintiffs 
need not have been aware that the artificiality in LI-
BOR fixes  “resulted from Defendants’ intentional ma-
nipulation of their LIBOR submissions.”  Exchange 
Opp’n 26.  Unlike inquiry notice under the ’34 Act, 
which requires plaintiffs to be able to plead a claim for 
securities fraud, including scienter, inquiry notice un-
der the CEA requires only that plaintiffs be on inquiry 
notice of their injury.  In other words, plaintiffs need 
not have known that the artificial LIBOR levels result-
ed from intentional conduct by defendants; it is suffi-
cient that plaintiffs knew that the LIBOR quotes de-
fendants submitted did not reflect their actual expected 
borrowing rates, and thus that the prices of plaintiffs’ 
Eurodollar contracts, based on LIBOR, were artificial.  
For the reasons stated above, plaintiffs clearly had such 
knowledge. 

Finally, the fact that defendants and the BBA con-
sistently denied that LIBOR fixes were artificial does 
not necessarily defeat inquiry notice.  “[R]eassuring 
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statements will prevent the emergence of a duty to in-
quire or dissipate such a duty only if an investor of or-
dinary intelligence would reasonably rely on the state-
ments to allay the investor’s concern.”  LC Capital 
Partners, LP v. Frontier Ins. Grp., Inc., 318 F.3d 148, 
155 (2d Cir. 2003); see also In re Ambac Fin. Group, 
Inc. Sec. Litig., 693 F. Supp. 2d 241, 276 (S.D.N.Y. 
2010). 

Here, plaintiffs could not have reasonably relied on 
the reassurances of defendants and the BBA.  A person 
of ordinary intelligence would have understood that de-
fendants each had a strong incentive to portray them-
selves as truthful and that the BBA had a strong incen-
tive to maintain market confidence in LIBOR’s integri-
ty.  This is not to say that plaintiffs could never have 
reasonably relied on assurances by defendants and the 
BBA, but rather that they should have been cautious 
about accepting such assurances.  As discussed above, 
repeated news reports provided evidence that LIBOR 
was being fixed at artificial levels.  Additionally, each 
defendant’s LIBOR quotes, as well as comparable 
benchmarks, were available every business day, such 
that plaintiffs could feasibly have investigated LI-
BOR’s accuracy.  Therefore, defendants’ and the BBA’s 
assurances that all was well with LIBOR could not 
have been reasonably relied on by plaintiffs and thus do 
not excuse plaintiffs’ failure to inquire. 

The cases cited by plaintiffs are not on point.  First, 
this case is distinguishable from Staehr v. Hartford Fi-
nancial Services Group, Inc., 547 F.3d 406 (2d Cir. 
2008).  In Staehr, investors sued an insurance company 
in which they had purchased stock, alleging that they 
had purchased at inflated prices because they were un-
aware that the company’s strong financial performance 
was actually the result of paying unlawful kickbacks to 
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insurance brokers.  The Circuit held that the investors 
were not placed on inquiry notice by newspaper articles 
which, like the articles held not to trigger inquiry no-
tice in Lentell v. Merrill Lynch & Co., Inc., 396 F.3d 
161 (2d Cir. 2005), reported generally on “structural 
conflicts in [the insurance] industry” but did not contain 
information specific to the company at issue.  Staehr, 
547 F.3d at 429.  Indeed, one article’s failure to provide 
specific information was “a particularly important 
omission, since the writer acknowledged that not all in-
surers paid [kickbacks] to get business.”  Id. at 419.  
The Court distinguished Shah v. Meeker, 435 F.3d 244 
(2d Cir. 2006), which held that plaintiff was placed on 
inquiry notice by an article in Fortune magazine that 
included a “specific description of the business practices 
at the defendant company … which served as the basis 
of the plaintiff's complaint against that company.”  
Staehr, 547 F.3d at 430 (citing Shah, 435 F.3d at 251). 

Here, the notice afforded plaintiffs more resembles 
that in Shah than it does the notice in Staehr and Len-
tell.  To start, Staehr established a “sliding scale in as-
sessing whether inquiry notice was triggered by infor-
mation in the public domain:  the more widespread and 
prominent the public information disclosing the facts 
underlying the fraud, the more accessible this infor-
mation is to plaintiffs, and the less company-specific the 
information must be.”  Id. at 432.  Here, the articles 
providing evidence that LIBOR was artificial were re-
ported in “widespread and prominent” sources, such as 
the Wall Street Journal and the Financial Times, and 
were presented in an accessible fashion, explaining their 
conclusions in clear English that a person of ordinary 
intelligence, without technical training, could under-
stand.  The required degree of specificity is therefore 
diminished. 
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In any event, the Peng Report and ensuing articles 
are sufficiently specific because they gave notice that 
plaintiffs had likely paid artificially high prices for their 
Eurodollar contracts.  The specificity required to trig-
ger inquiry notice is not necessarily specificity with re-
gard to defendant, but rather specificity that notifies a 
plaintiff that he has been injured.  For instance, the 
newspaper articles in Staehr failed to provide notice 
because they did not inform plaintiffs that the particu-
lar company plaintiffs had invested in had perpetrated 
an unlawful kickback scheme, and the articles in Lentell 
failed to provide notice because they did not inform 
plaintiffs that the particular research reports that 
plaintiffs had relied on were fraudulent.  Here, by con-
trast, even though the Peng Report and ensuing arti-
cles mostly focused on LIBOR itself rather than the in-
dividual quotes of the panel banks,14 plaintiffs were on 
notice that LIBOR had likely been suppressed and thus 
that the prices of Eurodollar contracts, including the 
contracts plaintiffs had purchased, were artificial.  
Therefore, like in Shah and unlike in Staehr and Len-
tell, the published articles were sufficient to place 
plaintiffs on inquiry notice of their injury. 

                                                 
14 That said, the May 29, 2008, Wall Street Journal article 

presenting the Journal’s analysis of LIBOR did single out the 
submissions of individual panel banks.  In its second paragraph, it 
reported:  “The Journal analysis indicates that Citigroup Inc., 
WestLB, HBOS PLC, J.P. Morgan Chase & Co. and UBS AG are 
among the banks that have been reporting significantly lower bor-
rowing costs for [LIBOR] than what another market measure 
suggests they should be.”  Mollenkamp & Whitehouse, supra.  Ad-
ditionally, it included a chart that presented, for each USD LIBOR 
panel bank, “[t]he difference between banks’ reported borrowing 
rates [i.e. LIBOR quotes] and rates computed by The Wall Street 
Journal, using information from the default-insurance market.”  Id. 
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Additionally, to whatever extent plaintiffs needed 
notice of who was responsible for their injury, such no-
tice existed.  It was a matter of public knowledge which 
banks were on the USD LIBOR panel, what rate those 
banks submitted to the BBA each day, and how the fi-
nal LIBOR fix was determined.  Plaintiffs, that is, 
knew which banks affected the final LIBOR fixes and 
precisely how they affected those fixes.15  Especially 
given that LIBOR is an average of the eight middle 
quotes, thus insulated to some extent from outlier 
quotes from individual banks, the fact that LIBOR per-
sisted at a level that was likely artificial should have 
raised serious doubts about all panel banks’ submis-
sions.  Moreover, it would have been feasible to investi-
gate each bank’s submissions:  plaintiffs could have 
compared the submissions to the bank’s cost of default 
insurance—a comparison that, to some extent, had al-
ready been performed and published in the May 29, 
2008, Wall Street Journal article.  See Mollenkamp & 
Whitehouse, supra.  The notice here is thus stronger 
than when articles merely report general structural is-
sues in an industry or particular unlawful acts by other 
companies within defendant’s industry.  Because the 

                                                 
15 Although, on any given day, only the middle eight quotes 

would be included in the computation to determine the LIBOR fix, 
all of the submitted quotes “affected” the ultimate fix.  For exam-
ple, if a bank’s “true” LIBOR quote would have been the tenth 
highest, within the middle eight, but the bank submitted instead 
an artificially low quote that was the fourteenth highest, outside 
the middle eight, the bank’s quote would not be included in the 
computation to determine the LIBOR fix  Nonetheless, the quote 
would have affected the fix by “bumping up” the quote that would 
have been in the thirteenth highest spot, excluded from the calcu-
lation, into the twelfth highest spot, included in the calculation.  
Thus, on any given day, every LIBOR quote had some “effect” on 
the ultimate LIBOR fix. 
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Peng Report and the articles published in April and 
May 2008 indicated that LIBOR was likely artificial, 
and LIBOR is affected by the actions of each of the 
panel banks, plaintiffs had sufficient notice of who was 
responsible for their injury, to whatever extent this is 
necessary. 

For similar reasons, this case is unlike In re Copper 
Antitrust Litigation, 436 F.3d 782 (7th Cir. 2006).  
There, the Seventh Circuit held, in the antitrust con-
text, that although copper purchasers were on inquiry 
notice that they had been injured by one defendant, a 
trading company that allegedly fixed the price of cop-
per, there was insufficient publicly available infor-
mation to notify the purchasers that their injury was 
attributable as well to another defendant, a bank that 
had provided loans to the trading company.  In light of 
the Second Circuit decisions discussed above, holding 
that inquiry notice is triggered when the plaintiff dis-
covers his injury, it is not clear that the Second Circuit 
would follow the Seventh Circuit in finding no inquiry 
notice with respect to a defendant when a plaintiff had 
discovered his injury but not that the particular de-
fendant was responsible.  In any event, even if inquiry 
notice required plaintiffs to know who was responsible 
for their injury, the requirement would still be satis-
fied, for the reasons discussed above. 

Plaintiffs also cite Anderson v. Dairy Farmers of 
America, Inc., Civil No. 08-4726 (JRT/FLN), 2010 WL 
1286181 (D. Minn. Mar. 29, 2010).  In that case, a trader 
in milk futures sued a dairy marketing cooperative, al-
leging that the cooperative had purchased substantial 
quantities of cheese on the spot market not for normal 
business purposes, but rather to inflate artificially the 
price of milk futures, which incorporated the price of 
cheese.  The Court found that the trader’s knowledge of 
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the cooperative’s cheese purchases was insufficient to 
trigger inquiry notice, given that those purchases could 
have been justified by legitimate commercial reasons.  
The cooperative’s purchases would constitute manipu-
lation under the CEA only if there was “‘something 
more,’ some additional factor that cause[d] the dissemi-
nation of false or misleading information.”  Id. at *6 
(quoting In re Amaranth Natural Gas Commodities 
Litig., 587 F. Supp. 2d 513, 534 (S.D.N.Y. 2008)) (inter-
nal quotation marks omitted).  Under the circumstanc-
es, the question of when the trader was on inquiry no-
tice turned on when he “knew or should have known of 
[the cooperative]’s alleged intent to cause artificial 
cheddar cheese and [milk] futures prices.”  Id. 

Anderson is plainly distinguishable.  Whereas the 
cooperative’s cheese purchases might have been legiti-
mate, depending on the purpose they were intended to 
further, the present defendants’ alleged submission of 
artificial LIBOR quotes was necessarily illegitimate, 
regardless of defendants’ motives.  In other words, alt-
hough purchasing large quantities of cheese is not in-
herently improper, submitting artificial LIBOR quotes 
is.  Therefore, plaintiffs’ knowledge that LIBOR was 
likely artificial was sufficient to place plaintiffs on in-
quiry notice of their injury. 

More broadly, our case is distinguishable from 
those in which the information necessary to place plain-
tiffs on inquiry notice of their injury is solely in the con-
trol of the defendants.  Here, not only were LIBOR and 
each bank’s LIBOR submission publicly available on a 
daily basis, but benchmarks of general interest rates 
and each bank’s financial health were also publicly 
available, and the Peng Report and the Wall Street 
Journal analysis compared the LIBOR fixes and 
quotes to these benchmarks to conclude that LIBOR 
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was likely artificial.  In other words, by May 29, 2008, 
plaintiffs’ investigative work had already been done for 
them and had been published in the pages of the Wall 
Street Journal. 

Relatedly, we cannot credit plaintiffs’ argument 
that they were not on inquiry notice because their com-
plaint rests on analyses created only after tremendous 
effort by “world-class financial and statistical experts.”  
Exchange Opp’n 28.  As discussed above, by May 29, 
2008, several sophisticated analyses comparing LIBOR 
to relevant benchmarks had already been conducted, 
and their results were published in a plain-English 
format accessible to a person of “ordinary intelligence.”  
Moreover, the conclusions of these analyses were sup-
ported by other reported evidence, such as the BBA 
announcement, the subsequent jump in LIBOR, and 
the decision by market actors to switch from LIBOR-
based instruments to instruments based on more relia-
ble indices.  Thus, although plaintiffs are correct that 
the standard is not what would place an expert on no-
tice but rather what would place a person of ordinary 
intelligence on notice, the fact is that a person of ordi-
nary intelligence reading the information available as of 
May 29, 2008, would have been on notice of his injury. 

Finally, plaintiffs argue that “the statute of limita-
tions cannot bar CEA claims based on the conduct re-
lating to the trading scheme described in Barclays set-
tlements made public on June 27, 2012 and not alleged 
in the Exchange Complaint.”  Id.  29.  The reason, ac-
cording to plaintiffs, is that, “prior to June 27, 2012, 
there was not a single public article or news report 
even hinting at this day-to-day opportunistic manipula-
tion of LIBOR to benefit Barclays’ and other banks’ 
traders, or that this misconduct began as early as 
2005.”  Id.; see also CFTC Order 2 (“The wrongful con-
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duct spanned from at least 2005 through at least 2009, 
and at times occurred on an almost daily basis.”).  
Plaintiffs request that they “be permitted to amend the 
complaint to include these allegations.”  Exchange 
Opp’n 30. 

As discussed below, we are inclined to believe that 
at least some potential claims based on day-to-day, trad-
ing-motivated manipulation are not time-barred.  
Therefore, we will grant plaintiffs leave to move to 
amend their complaint to include allegations based on 
information derived from the Barclays settlements, 
such motion to be accompanied by a proposed second 
amended complaint.  However, if plaintiffs pursue such 
a motion, they should respond to the following concerns. 

As we see it, the question of whether plaintiffs’ po-
tential claims based on day-to-day manipulation are 
time-barred presents two issues:  (1) whether the peri-
od of limitations has expired on potential claims based 
on contracts purchased prior to August 2007, the start 
of the Class Period alleged in plaintiffs’ amended com-
plaint, and (2) whether the period of limitations has ex-
pired on potential claims based on contracts purchased 
after August 2007, given that the articles discussed 
above did not suggest the sort of manipulation alleged 
in the Barclays settlement papers. 

With regard to the first issue, we are inclined to be-
lieve that plaintiffs’ potential claims based on contracts 
purchased prior to August 2007 are not time-barred.  
Although the articles discussed above suggested that 
LIBOR was fixed at artificial levels starting in August 
2007, they did not suggest artificiality in LIBOR levels 
prior to that time.  Especially given that August 2007 is 
commonly recognized as the start of the financial crisis, 
and that banks’ incentive to manipulate LIBOR, as re-



109a 

 

ported in the articles, was related to that crisis, a per-
son of ordinary intelligence could reasonably have 
thought that LIBOR manipulation started in August 
2007, but no earlier.  Therefore, it seems that the arti-
cles discussed above did not place plaintiffs on inquiry 
notice of their injury based on contracts purchased pri-
or to August 2007; indeed, plaintiffs might not have 
been on inquiry notice of their injury until the Barclays 
settlements were made public on June 27, 2012, after 
plaintiffs’ amended complaint was filed.  Consequently, 
plaintiffs’ potential claims based on this conduct are 
probably not time-barred.  Although we expect that 
claims based on contracts purchased prior to August 
2007 will face even greater challenges with regard to 
loss causation than plaintiffs’ other claims face, plain-
tiffs should have an opportunity to supplement their 
complaint with these allegations and to squarely ad-
dress the issues those allegations raise. 

By contrast, with regard to the second issue, we 
are inclined to think that the articles discussed above 
placed plaintiffs on inquiry notice of their injury based 
on any sort of LIBOR manipulation, including both the 
persistent suppression alleged in plaintiffs’ amended 
complaint and the day-to-day manipulation for trading 
advantage suggested by the Barclays settlements.  As 
discussed below, plaintiffs can recover for their claims 
only to the extent that they suffered “actual damages” 
from defendants’ conduct.  7 U.S.C. § 25(a)(1).  Plain-
tiffs could have suffered actual damages only if the 
price of their Eurodollar contracts decreased over the 
period during which they owned the contracts; other-
wise, plaintiffs would have either broken even or prof-
ited.  To the extent that defendants are liable for the 
decrease in the price of plaintiffs’ Eurodollar contracts, 
it must be because LIBOR increased over the time dur-
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ing which plaintiffs owned the contracts and the trad-
ing prices of Eurodollar contracts were correlated with 
the LIBOR fixes.  In a basic sense, there are two sce-
narios in which LIBOR could have increased over the 
time period that plaintiffs owned their contracts:  (1) it 
started too low and then increased towards its “true” 
level, or (2) it started at its “true” level and then in-
creased to an artificially high level.  The “persistent 
LIBOR suppression” theory of plaintiffs’ amended 
complaint is based on the first scenario, and the “day-
to-day, up or down, manipulation for trading ad-
vantage” theory of the Barclays settlements adds the 
second scenario, at least for those days on which LI-
BOR was allegedly manipulated upward. 

Critically, although these two scenarios differ in 
how plaintiffs’ injury would be caused, the injury would 
be the same.  Specifically, plaintiffs’ injury would be 
that they lost money because the prices of their Euro-
dollar contracts decreased over the time that they 
owned them due to defendants’ manipulation of those 
prices.  Further, because plaintiffs were not in a posi-
tion to know the “true” level of LIBOR, they could not 
have distinguished between injury caused, on the one 
hand, by LIBOR starting too low and approaching the 
“normal” level and, on the other, LIBOR starting at a 
“normal” level and being manipulated upward.  There-
fore, notice that the prices of plaintiffs’ Eurodollar con-
tracts likely decreased due to defendants’ alleged ma-
nipulation of LIBOR would have been sufficient for in-
quiry notice, regardless of whether defendants alleged-
ly caused the injury by setting LIBOR too high or too 
low.  Moreover, as discussed above, plaintiffs were on 
inquiry notice of their injury by May 29, 2008, as the 
Peng Report and ensuing articles informed plaintiffs 
that they likely had been injured by defendants’ sub-
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mission of artificial LIBOR quotes starting in August 
2007. 

For these reasons, we are skeptical that potential 
claims based on day-to-day manipulation are timely to 
the extent they involve contracts purchased between 
August 2007 and May 29, 2008.  In any event, we grant 
plaintiffs the opportunity to move to amend their com-
plaint to include allegations of day-to-day manipulation, 
with the expectation that any such motion will address 
the concerns presented here. 

d.  Fraudulent Concealment 

Plaintiffs additionally argue that the CEA’s statute 
of limitations should be tolled due to defendants’ fraud-
ulent concealment of their unlawful conduct.  Exchange 
Opp’n 30-32.  The statute of limitations may be tolled “if 
a plaintiff can show fraudulent concealment of the vio-
lation by a defendant.”  In re Natural Gas Commodity 
Litig. (“Natural Gas”), 337 F. Supp. 2d 498, 512 
(S.D.N.Y. 2004).  To demonstrate fraudulent conceal-
ment, a plaintiff must plead, with particularity:  “(1) 
that the defendant concealed the existence of the CEA 
violation; (2) that the plaintiff remained unaware of the 
violation during the limitations period; and (3) that the 
plaintiff’s continuing ignorance as to the claim was not a 
result of a lack of due diligence.”  Id. at 513; see also id. 
at 513-14; Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b).  The first element, the 
fact of concealment, may be demonstrated “by showing 
either [1] that the defendant took affirmative steps to 
prevent the plaintiff’s discovery of his claim or injury or 
[2] that the wrong itself was of such a nature as to be 
self-concealing.”  Natural Gas, 337 F. Supp. 2d at 513 
(quoting New York v. Hendrickson Bros., 840 F.2d 
1065, 1083 (2d Cir. 1988)) (internal quotation marks 
omitted). 
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Here, plaintiffs have not adequately alleged fraudu-
lent concealment.  For one, they did not “remain[] una-
ware of [defendants’] violation during the limitations 
period,” as they were on notice no later than May 29, 
2008, that they had likely been injured.  Moreover, be-
cause of this, they could not have reasonably relied on 
defendants’ and the BBA’s reassurances that LIBOR 
was accurate. 

For the same reason, defendants’ alleged manipula-
tion was not self-concealing.  Although plaintiffs cite 
Natural Gas for the proposition that “report[ing] false 
trade data to entities that collect that information for 
public dissemination” is “inherently self-concealing,” id. 
at 513, the false reporting in Natural Gas was distin-
guishable from the allegedly false reporting here.  In 
Natural Gas, the reporting was “designed to be con-
cealed from the general public,” and there was “no ex-
planation for how [defendants’] actions, if true, could or 
should have been discovered by the general public.”  Id.  
Here, by contrast, Thomson Reuters published daily 
both the final LIBOR fix and the quotes from each of 
the panel banks.  A person of ordinary intelligence 
could have reviewed the submitted quotes along with 
numerous articles analyzing these quotes and explain-
ing why they were likely artificial.  Under these cir-
cumstances, plaintiffs have not adequately alleged 
fraudulent concealment. 

e.  Which Claims Are Barred 

Having determined that plaintiffs were on inquiry 
notice of their injury no later than May 29, 2008, we 
must now determine which claims are barred by the 
statute of limitations.  We will present our conclusions 
by reference to Figure 2, below. 
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As discussed below, we find that some of plaintiffs’ 

claims are barred and some are not, depending on when 
the contracts that are the basis for those claims were 
purchased.  Specifically, claims based on Eurodollar 
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contracts purchased during Period 1 are barred; claims 
based on contracts purchased during Period 3 are not 
barred; and claims based on contracts purchased during 
Period 2 may or may not be barred, though we will not 
dismiss them at this stage. 

We begin with Period 1, the time from the start of 
the Class Period, August 2007, to the date of inquiry 
notice, May 29, 2008.  Plaintiffs have argued that the 
earliest they had notice of their claims is March 15, 
2011, and they do not allege that they inquired into 
their claims any earlier than that date.  Assuming that 
their inquiry in fact commenced on March 15, 2011, it 
would have been too late, as it would have been more 
than two years after the date of inquiry notice.  By May 
29, 2008, any plaintiff who had purchased a Eurodollar 
contract would have been on notice of his injury, as he 
would have known that he had likely paid an artificial 
price for the contract.  Accordingly, plaintiffs’ claims 
are barred to the extent that they are based on con-
tracts purchased during Period 1, that is, from the be-
ginning of the Class Period through May 29, 2008. 

We next consider Period 3, the time between April 
15, 2009, two years prior to the filing of plaintiffs’ com-
plaint, and May 2010, the end of the Class Period.  As a 
general matter, inquiry notice is based on a plaintiff’s 
discovery of his injury, and a plaintiff cannot discover his 
injury until he has been injured.  Here, even if plaintiffs 
who purchased Eurodollar contracts during Period 3 
were aware of the articles published in April and May 
2008, they could not have been on inquiry notice of their 
claims any earlier than the date on which they pur-
chased their contracts.  Therefore, the claims of plain-
tiffs who purchased Eurodollar contracts on or after 
April 15, 2009, are not barred because the complaint was 
filed within two years of the date of inquiry notice. 
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Finally, Period 2 describes the time between May 
30, 2008, the day after inquiry notice was triggered, and 
April 14, 2009, two years and one day before the filling 
of plaintiffs’ complaint.  Plaintiffs who purchased Euro-
dollar contracts during this period, like plaintiffs who 
purchased during Period 3, could have been on inquiry 
notice no earlier than the date on which they purchased 
their contracts.  It is not clear, however, precisely when 
they were on notice.  We cannot necessarily charge 
these plaintiffs with knowledge of the articles published 
through May 29, 2008, as they had not purchased their 
contracts yet and may not have had reason to follow 
LIBOR-related news.  However, other articles may 
have been published during Period 2 that would have 
put plaintiffs on notice.  We are aware of one newspa-
per article published during this period that focused on 
LIBOR, albeit one-month USD LIBOR instead of the 
three-month rate on which Eurodollar contracts are 
based, Carrick Mollenkamp, Libor’s Accuracy Becomes 
Issue Again, Wall St. J., Sept. 24, 2008, and there may 
be more.  In order to decide whether claims based on 
contracts purchased during this period are barred, we 
would need to determine (1) when inquiry notice was 
triggered, (2) whether plaintiffs actually inquired with-
in two years of the date of inquiry notice, and, (3) if so, 
whether the complaint was filed within two years of the 
date on which a person of ordinary intelligence, “in the 
exercise of reasonable diligence,” would have discov-
ered his injury.  Koch, 699 F.3d at 151 (quoting Lentell 
v. Merrill Lynch & Co., Inc., 396 F.3d 161, 168 (2d Cir. 
2005)).  At present, we are not in a position to address 
these questions.  Therefore, we cannot conclude that 
the statute of limitations bars the claims of plaintiffs 
who purchased Eurodollar contracts during Period 2, 
between May 30, 2008, and April 14, 2009. 
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In sum, the CEA’s statute of limitations bars plain-
tiffs’ claims based on contracts entered into during Pe-
riod 1, between August 2007 and May 29, 2008, and 
does not bar claims based on contracts entered into 
during Period 3, between April 15, 2009, and May 2010.  
Plaintiffs’ claims based on contracts entered into during 
Period 2, between May 30, 2008, and April 14, 2009, 
may or may not be barred, though we will not dismiss 
them at this stage.16  Finally, plaintiffs may move to 
amend their complaint to include allegations based on 
information derived from the Barclays settlements, 
provided that any such motion addresses the concerns 
raised herein and is accompanied by a proposed second 
amended complaint. 

3.  Pleading Commodities Manipulation 

Finally, defendants argue that plaintiffs have in-
adequately pleaded their primary claim for commodi-
ties manipulation and their secondary claims for vicar-
ious liability for and aiding and abetting commodities 
manipulation.  For the reasons discussed below, we 
disagree. 

a.  Legal Standard 

Section 9(a) of the CEA makes it a crime for any 
person “to manipulate or attempt to manipulate the 
price of any commodity in interstate commerce, or for 
future delivery on or subject to the rules of any regis-

                                                 
16 On March 27, 2013, we received from plaintiffs two docu-

ments issued by the UK Financial Services Authority (the “FSA”):  
(1) the “FSA Internal Audit Report: A Review of the Extent of 
Awareness Within the FSA of Inappropriate LIBOR Submis-
sions,” dated March 2013, and (2) the “Management Response” to 
that report, also dated March 2013.  These documents do not alter 
our conclusions. 
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tered entity, or of any swap ….”  7 U.S.C. § 13(a)(2).  In 
DiPlacido v. Commodity Futures Trading Commis-
sion, 364 F. App’x 657 (2d Cir. 2009), the Second Circuit 
established a four-part test for pleading manipulation 
under the CEA:  plaintiff must show “(1) that [defend-
ant] had the ability to influence market prices; (2) that 
[he] specifically intended to do so; (3) that artificial 
prices existed; and (4) that [defendant] caused the arti-
ficial prices.”  Id. at 661 (quoting In re Cox, No. 75-16, 
1987 WL 106879, at *3 (C.F.T.C. July 15, 1987)); see al-
so In re Platinum & Palladium Commodities Litig., 
828 F. Supp. 2d 588, 598 (S.D.N.Y. 2011).  “[T]o deter-
mine whether an artificial price has occurred, one must 
look at the aggregate forces of supply and demand and 
search for those factors which are extraneous to the 
pricing system, are not a legitimate part of the econom-
ic pricing of the commodity, or are extrinsic to that 
commodity market.”  In re Sumitomo Copper Litig., 
182 F.R.D. 85, 91 (S.D.N.Y. 1998) (quoting In re Indi-
ana Farm Bureau Coop. Ass’n, Inc., No. 75-14, 1982 
WL 30249, at *39 n.2 (C.F.T.C. Dec. 17, 1982)) (internal 
quotation marks and emphasis omitted). 

Whether plaintiffs are required to allege commodi-
ties manipulation with particularity depends on the facts 
alleged.  As we observed in In re Crude Oil Commodity 
Litigation (“Crude Oil”), No. 06 Civ. 6677 (NRB), 2007 
WL 1946553 (S.D.N.Y. June 28, 2007), Rule 9(b) “is cast 
in terms of the conduct alleged, and is not limited to al-
legations styled or denominated as fraud or expressed in 
terms of the constituent elements of a fraud cause of ac-
tion.”  Id. at *5 (quoting Rombach v. Chang, 355 F.3d 
164, 171 (2d Cir. 2004)) (internal quotation marks omit-
ted).  In that case, we held, in the context of a claim for 
commodities manipulation, that because “the crux of 
plaintiffs’ allegations is that defendants misled the mar-
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ket with regard to supply and demand at Cushing by 
concealing its capacity and its actions, resulting in artifi-
cial prices,” plaintiff’s allegations sounded in fraud and 
therefore were subject to Rule 9(b).  Id.  Similarly, here 
the crux of plaintiffs’ claim is that they paid too much for 
their Eurodollar contracts because their expectation of 
the contracts’ value was informed by existing LIBOR 
fixes, which were artificial as a result of defendants’ 
submission of artificial quotes to the BBA.  In other 
words, the claim is that defendants, by submitting artifi-
cial LIBOR quotes, misled the market with regard to 
future levels of LIBOR, and by extension future prices 
of Eurodollar contracts, and thus caused Eurodollar con-
tracts to trade at artificial prices.  Like the allegations in 
Crude Oil, the present allegations sound in fraud and 
thus must be pled with particularity. 

However, courts generally relax Rule 9(b)’s re-
quirements in the context of manipulation claims, as 
such claims often “involve facts solely within the de-
fendant’s knowledge.”  ATSI Commc’ns, Inc. v. Shaar 
Fund, Ltd., 493 F.3d 87, 102 (2d Cir. 2007).  In the secu-
rities context, the Second Circuit has held that “a ma-
nipulation complaint must plead with particularity the 
nature, purpose, and effect of the fraudulent conduct 
and the roles of the defendants.”  Id.  “This test will be 
satisfied if the complaint sets forth, to the extent possi-
ble, ‘what manipulative acts were performed, which de-
fendants performed them, when the manipulative acts 
were performed, and what effect the scheme had on the 
market for the securities at issue.’”  Id. (quoting Baxter 
v. A.R. Baron & Co., Inc., No. 94 Civ. 3913 (JGK), 1995 
WL 600720, at *6 (S.D.N.Y. Oct. 12, 1995)).  This stand-
ard has also been applied in the context of commodities 
manipulation. See, e.g., In re Amaranth Natural Gas 
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Commodities Litig. (“Amaranth I”), 587 F. Supp. 2d 
513, 535 (S.D.N.Y. 2008). 

Finally, the scienter element “may be alleged gener-
ally,” Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b), though plaintiffs must still al-
lege facts that “give rise to a strong inference of scien-
ter,” In re Amaranth Natural Gas Commodities Litig. 
(“Amaranth II”), 612 F. Supp. 2d 376, 384 (S.D.N.Y. 
2009) (quoting Tellabs, Inc. v. Makor Issues & Rights, 
Ltd., 551 U.S. 308, 322-23 (2007)).  Plaintiffs may demon-
strate scienter “either (a) by alleging facts to show that 
defendants had both motive and opportunity to commit 
fraud, or (b) by alleging facts that constitute strong cir-
cumstantial evidence of conscious misbehavior or reck-
lessness.”  Crude Oil, 2007 WL 1946553, at *8 (quoting 
Lerner v. Fleet Bank, N.A., 459 F.3d 273, 290-91 (2d Cir. 
2006)) (internal quotation marks omitted).  “Sufficient 
motive allegations entail concrete benefits that could be 
realized by one or more of the false statements and 
wrongful nondisclosures alleged.”  Amaranth II, 612 F. 
Supp. 2d at 383 (quoting Kalnit v. Eichler, 264 F.3d 131, 
139 (2d Cir. 2001)) (internal quotation marks omitted). 

In addition to alleging a violation of the CEA, 
plaintiffs must also show that they have standing to 
sue.  Section 22(a) of the CEA grants a private right of 
action to any person “who purchased or sold a [futures 
contract] or swap if the violation constitutes … (ii) a 
manipulation of the price of any such contract or swap 
or the price of the commodity underlying such contract 
or swap.”  7 U.S.C. § 25(a)(1)(D).  The manipulation 
must cause the plaintiff “actual damages,” id. § 25(a)(1), 
which courts have understood to require a “net loss[],” 
In re Amaranth Natural Gas Commodities Litig., 269 
F.R.D. 366, 379 (S.D.N.Y. 2010). 



120a 

 

b.  The Present Allegations 

Here, plaintiffs have stated a claim for commodities 
manipulation.  There are two ways that plaintiffs’ ma-
nipulation claims can be framed:  (1) manipulation of the 
price of Eurodollar futures contracts, and (2) manipula-
tion of the price of the commodity underlying Eurodol-
lar futures contracts.  As discussed below, we find that 
plaintiffs state a claim for the first type of manipula-
tion, but not for the second. 

i.  Manipulation of the Price of Eurodollar 
Futures Contracts 

Plaintiffs have stated a claim for commodities ma-
nipulation based on manipulation of the price of Euro-
dollar futures contracts.  With regard to the first ele-
ment of the DiPlacido test, there is no question that 
defendants had the ability to influence the price of Eu-
rodollar futures contracts.  At settlement, the price of 
Eurodollar contracts is set according to a formula that 
directly incorporates LIBOR.  Prior to settlement, Eu-
rodollar contracts trade “based on what LIBOR is ex-
pected to be in the future,” and “[t]o the extent that 
LIBOR is mispriced in the present, expectations of 
what LIBOR will be in the future will also be skewed.”  
Exchange Am. Compl. ¶ 209.  Each defendant, of 
course, had the ability to influence LIBOR through the 
quotes it submitted daily to the BBA.  Because each 
defendant had the ability to influence LIBOR and LI-
BOR affected the price of Eurodollar contracts, each 
defendant had the ability to influence the price of Eu-
rodollar contracts. 

With regard to the second element, plaintiffs’ plau-
sibly allege that defendants specifically intended to 
manipulate the price of Eurodollar futures contracts.  
Plaintiffs’ amended complaint alleges concrete benefits 
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that defendants stood to gain from manipulating Euro-
dollar futures contract prices.  Specifically, plaintiffs 
allege that “subsidiaries or other affiliates of Defend-
ants … trad[ed] LIBOR-based financial instruments 
such as Eurodollar futures contracts at manipulated 
prices not reflecting fundamental supply and demand, 
to the direct benefit of Defendants.”  Id. ¶ 43; see also 
id. ¶ 218 (“Defendants, through their broker-dealer af-
filiates[,] actively traded Eurodollar futures and op-
tions on those futures during the Class Period.”). 

Moreover, the Barclays settlement documents sug-
gest that Barclays had a concrete economic interest in 
manipulating the price of Eurodollar contracts and, in-
deed, may have manipulated LIBOR for the express 
purpose of profiting on Eurodollar contracts.  See, e.g., 
CFTC Order 2 (“Barclays based its LIBOR submis-
sions for U.S. Dollar … on the requests of Barclays’ 
swaps traders, including former Barclays swaps trad-
ers, who were attempting to affect the official published 
LIBOR, in order to benefit Barclays’ derivatives trad-
ing positions; those positions included swaps and fu-
tures trading positions ….”) (emphasis added); DOJ 
Statement ¶ 10 (“Barclays employs derivatives traders 
in New York, New York and in London, England who 
trade financial instruments tied to LIBOR and EURI-
BOR, including interest rate swaps and Eurodollar fu-
tures contracts ….”).  These allegations do not describe 
merely a generalized interest in appearing profitable, 
but rather identify concrete economic benefits that de-
fendants stood to gain from manipulating the price of 
Eurodollar futures contracts. 

As discussed above, scienter may be established by 
showing that defendants had both motive and opportuni-
ty.  See Crude Oil, No. 06 Civ. 6677 (NRB), 2007 WL 
1946553, at *8 (S.D.N.Y. June 28, 2007).  Here, plaintiffs 
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have adequately pleaded motive by alleging that de-
fendants stood to gain concrete benefits from manipu-
lating the price of Eurodollar futures contracts.  See 
Amaranth II, 612 F. Supp. 2d 376, 383 (S.D.N.Y. 2009).  
Additionally, defendants undeniably had the opportuni-
ty to manipulate Eurodollar contract prices by submit-
ting artificial LIBOR quotes.  Therefore, plaintiffs’ al-
legations give rise to a strong inference of scienter. 

The remaining two elements are also satisfied.  
With regard to the third element, plaintiffs have ade-
quately alleged that artificial Eurodollar futures con-
tract prices existed.  The allegations in plaintiffs’ 
amended complaint, together with the facts reported in 
the Barclays settlement documents, make plausible 
that LIBOR was set at an artificial level for significant 
portions of the Class Period.  As discussed above, if 
LIBOR was at an artificial level, the prices at which 
Eurodollar futures contracts traded and settled neces-
sarily were, as well.  Although, as discussed above, LI-
BOR is set through a cooperative process rather than 
through supply and demand, there is no question that 
the manipulation of LIBOR alleged in the amended 
complaint would be a factor that was “not a legitimate 
part” of how LIBOR was fixed or Eurodollar contracts 
were priced.  In re Sumitomo Copper Litig., 182 F.R.D. 
85, 91 (S.D.N.Y. 1998) (quoting In re Indiana Farm 
Bureau Coop. Ass’n, Inc., No. 75-14, 1982 WL 30249, at 
*39 n.2 (C.F.T.C. Dec. 17, 1982)) (emphasis omitted). 

Finally, with regard to the fourth element, plain-
tiffs have adequately alleged that defendants’ conduct 
caused Eurodollar futures contracts to trade and settle 
at artificial prices.  There is no question that defend-
ants submitted LIBOR quotes to the BBA each day 
and these quotes collectively determined where LI-
BOR was fixed.  As discussed above, plaintiffs have ad-
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equately alleged that LIBOR was fixed at artificial lev-
els for substantial parts of the Class Period and that 
the price of Eurodollar futures contracts is significantly 
influenced by existing LIBOR fixes.  Therefore, alt-
hough, as discussed below, there are serious questions 
regarding whether defendants harmed plaintiffs, plain-
tiffs have adequately alleged that defendants caused the 
prices of Eurodollar futures contracts to be artificial. 

Moreover, plaintiffs have satisfied Rule 9(b).  They 
have alleged “what manipulative acts were per-
formed”—submitting artificial LIBOR quotes to the 
BBA—and “which defendants performed them”—each 
defendant.  They have also alleged “when the manipula-
tive acts were performed”: on all or a substantial num-
ber of the business days during the Class Period, from 
August 2007 to May 2010.  Finally, plaintiffs have ade-
quately alleged “what effect the scheme had on the mar-
ket for [Eurodollar contracts]”:  LIBOR is directly in-
corporated into Eurodollar futures contracts’ settlement 
price and, because of that, also strongly affects the trad-
ing price of Eurodollar contracts prior to settlement.  In 
short, by allegedly submitting false LIBOR quotes, de-
fendants manipulated the price of Eurodollar contracts. 

Although plaintiffs have not identified precisely how 
each LIBOR quote from each defendant on each day 
during the Class Period was or was not artificial, they 
could not reasonably be expected to do so at this stage of 
the litigation.  It is not a matter of public knowledge 
what interest rate each bank subjectively expected to 
pay to borrow U.S. dollars in the London interbank lend-
ing market each day during the Class Period, nor is it 
publicly known what interest rates each bank paid in 
fact.  Because plaintiffs could not have known the “true” 
level of any LIBOR quote, they could not have pleaded, 
consistent with Rule 11, precisely which quotes were in-
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accurate and by how much.  If anyone currently possess-
es this information for each day during the Class Period, 
it is defendants, and in such a situation, Rule 9(b)’s re-
quirements are relaxed.  See ATSI Commc’ns, Inc. v. 
Shaar Fund, Ltd., 493 F.3d 87, 102 (2d Cir. 2007). 

What plaintiffs have provided are, inter alia, 
graphs showing how LIBOR as well as individual de-
fendants’ LIBOR quotes diverged during the Class Pe-
riod from benchmarks that they should have tracked.  
These graphs, of course, are one way of presenting a 
series of data points that correspond to individual LI-
BOR quotes and corresponding benchmarks on each 
day during the Class Period, just as a chart would.  
However presented, this information describes, to the 
degree plaintiffs are able, which LIBOR quotes were 
likely artificial and by roughly how much.  Moreover, 
even to the extent that plaintiffs have affirmatively al-
leged LIBOR manipulation not for each day, but only 
over a 34-month-long period, this does not necessarily 
mean that the allegations are insufficiently specific.  
See, e.g., In re Natural Gas, 358 F. Supp. 2d 336, 344-45 
(S.D.N.Y. 2005) (finding that plaintiffs had adequately 
pleaded a commodities manipulation claim where they 
had alleged that defendants engaged in manipulative 
acts “from June 1999 to February 2001” and “between 
March 2001 and December 2002”).  In light of the lim-
ited information publicly available, plaintiffs have ade-
quately alleged that defendants submitted artificial 
LIBOR quotes during the Class Period and thereby 
manipulated the price of Eurodollar futures contracts. 

Finally, plaintiffs have adequately demonstrated 
that they have standing to sue under the CEA.  Plain-
tiffs have plainly alleged that they purchased Eurodol-
lars futures contracts during the Class Period.  They 
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have also alleged that defendants manipulated the price 
of Eurodollar futures contracts. 

Defendants dispute whether plaintiffs have alleged 
“actual damages.”  7 U.S.C. § 25(a)(1).  The showing 
plaintiffs must make to demonstrate actual damages, 
understood, as discussed above, as a net loss, depends 
on the type of manipulation involved.  Where plaintiffs’ 
injury results from isolated manipulative conduct by 
defendants, such as artificial stock purchases in the 
immediate aftermath of an initial public offering in or-
der to drive up price, “allegations of artificial inflation 
are sufficient to plead loss causation because it is fair to 
infer that the inflationary effect must inevitably dimin-
ish over time.”  In re Initial Public Offering Sec. Litig. 
(“IPO”), 297 F. Supp. 2d 668, 674-75 (S.D.N.Y. 2003).  
In such a situation, “[i]t is that dissipation—and not the 
inflation itself—that caused plaintiffs’ loss.”  Id. at 675. 

By contrast, where plaintiffs’ injury results from 
defendants’ dissemination of false information, “an in-
flated purchase price will not itself constitute or proxi-
mately cause the relevant economic loss.”  Dura 
Pharm., Inc. v. Broudo, 544 U.S. 336, 342 (2005).  “Once 
a misstatement or omission infects the pool of available 
information, it continues to affect the stock price until 
contradictory information becomes available.”  IPO, 
297 F. Supp. 2d at 674.  A plaintiff who purchased at an 
inflated price might have sold his instrument before the 
false information had been corrected, thus not suffering 
a loss at all, or might have sold it at a loss but where 
the loss was caused by something other than the de-
fendant’s misrepresentation.  See Dura, 544 U.S. at 
342-43; see also Kohen v. Pac. Inv. Mgmt. Co., 571 F.3d 
672, 679 (7th Cir. 2009) (interpreting Dura to hold that 
“an allegation that the plaintiffs had bought securities 
at ‘artificially inflated prices’ did not state a claim that 
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the plaintiffs had been injured by the inflation because, 
for all that appeared, the prices had remained at that 
level, or even a higher one, or the plaintiffs had sold be-
fore the price bubble burst”).  In short, if the manipula-
tion alleged here is analogous to isolated artificial stock 
purchases, we can presume that plaintiffs suffered 
damages based on an inflated purchase price.  If, how-
ever, the manipulation is more akin to disseminating 
inaccurate information, plaintiffs need to show that 
they sold or settled their Eurodollar contracts at a loss. 

In this case, the alleged manipulation is less like 
isolated manipulative activity and more like dissemi-
nating false information.  In addressing isolated manip-
ulative activity, courts have justified their conclusion 
that the plaintiff only needs to show that he paid an in-
flated purchase price by reasoning that the price will 
presumably return to its normal level, and thus the 
plaintiff will presumably have suffered injury.  Here, 
by contrast, plaintiffs have alleged that LIBOR was at 
an artificial level for the duration of the Class Period, 
not returning to its “normal” level until after the Class 
Period had ended.  Exchange Am. Compl. ¶ 3 (alleging 
that defendants “systematically manipulated LIBOR 
rates … during the Class Period”); id. ¶ 13 (alleging 
that defendants’ manipulation persisted “[t]hroughout 
the Class Period”).  This is not to deny that, as plaintiffs 
allege, the degree of artificiality, or how many basis 
points LIBOR was “off” by, likely varied.  See Tr. 70 
(“The degree of artificiality got much worse, particular-
ly after Lehman Brothers [filed for bankruptcy protec-
tion, on September 15, 2008], and then had fluctuations, 
and then … , after the subpoenas, disappeared.  But it’s 
varied.”); Exchange Am. Compl. 22 (showing that the 
spread between LIBOR and the Federal Reserve Eu-
rodollar Deposit Rate varied over the Class Period).  
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However, because LIBOR never returned to its “nor-
mal” level within the Class Period, the mere fact that 
plaintiffs purchased  their Eurodollar contracts at an 
inflated price does not show that they suffered a loss on 
those contracts. 

Rather, as in the “false information” scenario, plain-
tiffs may or may not have suffered a loss caused by de-
fendants’ manipulation, depending on what the price 
was when they sold their contracts and what else might 
have been responsible for the loss.  Although the ma-
nipulation alleged here is not perfectly analogous to dis-
seminating false information, given that LIBOR was 
fixed anew every day and that the degree of artificiality 
likely varied, the two types of manipulation are similar 
in the important respect that the price remained at arti-
ficial levels, such that it is not clear that a contract pur-
chased at artificial prices would have been sold at a loss. 

In their amended complaint, plaintiffs have not 
identified each individual Eurodollar futures contract 
that they purchased, let alone these contracts’ purchase 
price, sale date, and sale price.  Rather, they allege that 
they purchased Eurodollar contracts during the Class 
Period at prices that were artificially high as a result of 
defendants’ manipulation of LIBOR, Exchange Am. 
Compl. ¶¶ 214-220, that the degree of LIBOR artificial-
ity likely varied over the Class Period, id. ¶ 22, and that 
they “were harmed as a consequence of Defendants’ 
unlawful conduct,” id. ¶ 20; see also id. ¶¶ 21-26.  De-
fendants argue that these allegations are insufficient to 
allege actual damages.  Exchange MTD 23. 

We disagree.  Although plaintiffs will not be able to 
recover unless they prove that they sold or settled 
their contracts at a loss due to defendants’ manipula-
tion, they cannot be expected to have alleged with such 
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precision in their amended complaint.  To know which 
contracts were sold or settled at a loss because of de-
fendants’ conduct, plaintiffs would need to compare the 
spread between LIBOR’s “true” level and its actual 
level at the time the contract was purchased and the 
time the contract was sold or settled.  Plaintiffs would 
suffer loss only if the spread changed in a manner that 
resulted in a lower sale price.  In other words, to have 
pleaded loss causation in the manner suggested by de-
fendants, plaintiffs would have needed to know the 
“true” LIBOR level at the time they purchased and 
sold their contracts.  Although this information might 
be in the possession of defendants, it could not be 
known by plaintiffs.17  The benchmarks referenced by 
plaintiffs, though generally probative of when LIBOR 
was at an artificial level, do not indicate precisely at 
which level LIBOR should have been fixed on any giv-
en day.  See, e.g., Mollenkamp & Whitehouse, supra 
(explaining that default insurance prices, though they 
provide a good long-term picture of “investors’ assess-
ment of the financial health of banks,” are imperfect in-
dicators when viewed individually because they are 
“based on dealers’ quotes, which can be volatile and 
vary widely in times of market turmoil”); Peng Report 
(noting that the Federal Reserve Eurodollar Deposit 
Rate measures the “bid rate,” or rate at which banks 
are willing to borrow, rather than the “offered rate,” or 

                                                 
17 Indeed, it may be that no one knows what LIBOR’s “true” 

level was for any day during the Class Period.  As discussed above, 
LIBOR is inherently a theoretical value, derived as it is from 
quotes that are not based directly on any objective data.  Moreo-
ver, the challenge of determining LIBOR’s “true” level would be 
compounded with respect to periods of time, such as the Class Pe-
riod, during which the volume of actual interbank trading was at a 
significantly reduced level. 
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rate at which banks are willing to lend).  Therefore, in 
contrast to a situation in which the defendant dissemi-
nated false information and the plaintiff can allege pre-
cisely when the false statements were made and what 
was false about them, here plaintiffs cannot reasonably 
be expected to know the spread between LIBOR’s 
“true” value and its actual level on any given day, let 
alone how this spread changed over time. 

In these circumstances, plaintiffs have adequately 
alleged actual damages by alleging that they purchased 
their contracts at an inflated price, that the degree of 
LIBOR artificiality later changed, and that they suf-
fered damages as a result.  That said, in order to recov-
er, plaintiffs will ultimately need to demonstrate that 
they sold or settled their Eurodollar contracts at a loss 
and that this loss resulted from defendants’ misconduct.  
We anticipate that meeting this burden might pose a 
serious challenge for plaintiffs, especially with regard 
to Eurodollar contracts that were both purchased and 
sold within the Class Period. 

In short, although we have doubts about whether 
plaintiffs will ultimately be able to demonstrate that 
they sold or settled their Eurodollar contracts at a loss 
as a result of defendants’ conduct, we find that they 
have adequately alleged that defendants manipulated 
the price of Eurodollar contracts and that this manipu-
lation caused them actual damages. 

ii.  Manipulation of the Price of the Commodity 
Underlying Eurodollar Futures Contracts 

By contrast, plaintiffs do not even have standing to 
bring suit for commodities manipulation when framed 
as defendants’ manipulation of LIBOR as the commodi-
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ty underlying Eurodollar futures contracts.18  As dis-
cussed above, section 22(a) of the CEA grants a private 
right of action to any person “who purchased or sold a 
[futures contract] or swap if the violation constitutes … 
(ii) a manipulation of the price of any such contract or 
swap or the price of the commodity underlying such 
contract or swap.”  7 U.S.C. § 25(a)(1)(D).  A “commodi-
ty” is broadly defined to include “all services, rights, 
and interests … in which contracts for future delivery 
are presently or in the future dealt in.”  7 U.S.C. 
§ 1a(9). 

If plaintiffs had a viable claim for manipulation of 
LIBOR qua commodity, the claim would be that de-
fendants manipulated “the price of the commodity un-
derlying [the] contract or swap” that plaintiffs pur-
chased or sold.  Id. § 25(a)(1)(D)(ii).  The relevant ques-
tion, therefore, is not whether LIBOR is a “commodi-
ty” in some freestanding sense, but rather whether 
LIBOR is the commodity underlying Eurodollar fu-
tures contracts.19 

                                                 
18 The implication of this conclusion is that, although plaintiffs 

will proceed on their commodities manipulation claims, they are 
precluded from pursuing those claims with regard to defendants’ 
alleged manipulation of LIBOR qua commodity.  In order to re-
cover, therefore, they will need to show that defendants specifical-
ly intended to manipulate the price of Eurodollar futures con-
tracts, not merely LIBOR itself.  As a practical matter, we antici-
pate that this limitation might have significant repercussions for 
the relief that plaintiffs are ultimately able to recover. 

19 For this reason, we need not take a position on what degree 
of deference we owe, if any, to the CFTC statements cited by 
plaintiffs.  See, e.g., CFTC Order, at 27 (“Barclays’ traders and 
submitters each specifically intended to affect the price at which 
the daily BBA LIBOR for U.S. Dollar, Sterling, and Yen (for par-
ticular tenors), and the EBF Euribor (for particular tenors), all 
commodities in interstate commerce, would be fixed.”). 
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As discussed above, a Eurodollar futures contract 
is a futures contract whose “underlying instrument” is 
a “Eurodollar Time Deposit having a principal value of 
USD $1,000,000 with a three-month maturity.”  CME 
Group, Eurodollar Futures: Contract Specifications, 
http://www.cmegroup.com/trading/interest-rates/stir/
eurodollar_contract_specifications.html (last visited 
Mar. 29, 2013).  “Eurodollars are U.S. dollars deposited 
in commercial banks outside the United States.”  CME 
Group, Eurodollar Futures, http://www.cmegroup.com/
trading/interestrates/files/IR148_Eurodollar_Futures_
Fact_Card.pdf.  At settlement, the price of a Eurodol-
lar futures contract “is equal to 100 minus the three-
month Eurodollar interbank time deposit rate,” which 
rate is defined as the LIBOR fix on the contract’s last 
trading day.  CME Group, Eurodollar Futures Final 
Settlement Procedure, http://www.cmegroup.com/
trading/interest-rates/files/final-settlement-procedure-
eurodollarfutures.pdf.  Prior to settlement, “the price of 
a 3-month Eurodollar futures contract is an indication 
of the market’s prediction of the 3-month Dollar LI-
BOR on [that] date.”  DOJ Statement ¶ 9. 

The only plausible way to characterize the compo-
nents of a Eurodollar contract is that the underlying 
commodity is a USD 1,000,000 deposit in a foreign 
commercial bank with a three-month maturity, and the 
price of the contract is settled or traded at a value 
based on LIBOR.  In other words, Eurodollar contracts 
use LIBOR to represent the price of U.S. dollars depos-
ited in commercial banks abroad.  This makes sense be-
cause LIBOR, in theory, is an average of the rates at 
which banks lend U.S. dollars to each other in the Lon-
don market. 

Understood thusly, a Eurodollar futures contract is 
not fundamentally different from any other futures con-
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tract traded on the CME.  For example, in a corn futures 
contract, the underlying commodity is 5000 bushels of 
corn of a specified grade .  CME Group, Corn Futures, 
http://www.cmegroup.com/trading/agricultural/grain-
and-oilseed/corn_contract_specifications.html (last vis-
ited Mar. 29, 2013).  Because these contracts require 
the “short” to deliver to the “long” the specified quanti-
ty and quality of corn at the end of the contract (even 
though traders may in reality enter into offsetting con-
tracts to avoid actual physical delivery, see Am. Compl. 
¶ 208), see CME Group, CBOT Corn Final Settlement 
Procedure, http://www.cmegroup.com/trading/agricult
ural/files/final-settlement-procedure-cbot-corn.pdf, the 
price of the corn futures contract will track the price of 
physical corn, that is, corn in the “spot” or “cash” mar-
ket.  Indeed, as a general matter, the prices in a given 
commodity’s futures market and cash market will be 
closely correlated.  See, e.g., Loeb Indus., Inc. v. Sumi-
tomo Corp., 306 F.3d 469, 488 (7th Cir. 2002) (finding 
that “the prices of cathode and cathode futures ‘tend to 
move in lockstep’”); Sanner v. Bd. of Trade of City of 
Chicago, 62 F.3d 918, 929 (7th Cir. 1995) (“It is clear 
that ‘[w]hen the futures market experiences a signifi-
cant price change, the prices of that commodity in the 
cash market will usually experience a similar move-
ment.’  The reason for this is obvious:  both markets in-
volve the same commodities to be delivered currently 
or in the future.” (citation omitted) (quoting I. Philip 
Johnson & Thomas Hazen, Commodities Regulation 
§ 104 (2d ed. 1989))). 

In the context of Eurodollar futures, even though 
the “short” is not even nominally required to deliver 
the underlying cash deposit to the “long,” the contract’s 
pricing structure, which is what matters here, is the 
same as with corn futures.  Just as in corn futures con-
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tracts, the underlying commodity is corn and the price 
of the contract tracks the price of corn, so in Eurodollar 
futures contracts, the underlying commodity is a depos-
it of U.S. dollars in a foreign commercial bank and the 
price of the contract is based on LIBOR, which repre-
sents the price of (i.e. interest on) that deposit.  Indeed, 
plaintiffs have characterized LIBOR as “the reference 
price for the [Eurodollar] futures contract just as the 
physical prices of soybean or silver are the reference 
price for their respective futures contracts traded on 
exchanges.”  Exchange Am. Compl. ¶ 207. 

Despite apparently acknowledging that the above 
understanding of Eurodollar contracts is correct, plain-
tiffs advance an alternative theory in their opposition 
brief.  Specifically, plaintiffs maintain that the underly-
ing commodity of Eurodollar futures contracts is LI-
BOR and the price of those contracts is “the level of 
LIBOR.”  Exchange Opp’n 10.  This characterization 
strikes us as strained, at best.  Indeed, if there is any 
meaningful distinction between the London Interbank 
Offered Rate and the “level of” that rate, it eludes us.  
Therefore, LIBOR is not the commodity underlying 
Eurodollar futures contracts, and plaintiffs do not have 
standing to bring suit against defendants based on the 
manipulation of LIBOR as a commodity. 

c.  Vicarious Liability 

Plaintiffs also assert a cause of action for vicarious 
liability for commodities manipulation.  With regard to 
vicarious liability, section 2(a)(1) of the CEA provides: 

The act, omission, or failure of any official, 
agent, or other person acting for any individual, 
association, partnership, corporation, or trust 
within the scope of his employment or office 
shall be deemed the act, omission, or failure of 
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such individual, association, partnership, corpo-
ration, or trust, as well as of such official, agent, 
or other person. 

7 U.S.C. § 2(a)(1)(B).  “[T]o state a claim for vicarious 
liability, plaintiffs must allege that the principal mani-
fested an intent to grant the agent authority, the agent 
agreed, and the principal ‘maintain[ed] control over key 
aspects of the undertaking.’”  In re Amaranth Natural 
Gas Commodities Litig., 587 F. Supp. 2d 513, 546 
(S.D.N.Y. 2008) (quoting Commercial Union Ins. Co. v. 
Alitalia Airlines, S.p.A., 347 F.3d 448, 462 (2d Cir. 
2003)). 

Defendants argue, in a discussion confined to one 
footnote, that plaintiffs have failed to state a claim for 
vicarious liability.  According to defendants, “Plaintiffs 
have neither alleged any facts regarding any agent of 
any of the Defendants nor identified any conduct alleg-
edly taken by such agents within the scope of this prin-
cipal-agent relationship to further the alleged violations 
of the CEA.”  Exchange MTD 29 n.27. 

Defendants’ argument is not convincing.  In their 
amended complaint, plaintiffs have identified several 
“[i]ndividuals employed by the Defendants and their 
affiliates who have engaged in the illegal communica-
tions and conduct among Defendants to report artificial-
ly low LIBOR quotes.”  Exchange Am. Compl. ¶ 181.  
For instance, the complaint names Yvan Ducrot, “the 
Co-head of UBS’s rates business,” and Holger Seger, 
“the global head of short-term interest rates trading at 
UBS.”  Id.  According to an article cited by plaintiffs, 
these persons were suspended by UBS in connection 
with investigations into the manipulation of LIBOR.  
The employees are clearly agents of UBS, and it is 
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plausible that they contributed to the alleged manipula-
tion of LIBOR within the scope of their employment. 

Moreover, the Barclays settlement papers indicate 
that Barclays employees contributed to the manipula-
tion of USD LIBOR within the scope of their employ-
ment.  See, e.g., DOJ Statement ¶ 50 (“Barclays 
acknowledges that the wrongful acts taken by the par-
ticipating employees in furtherance of this misconduct 
set forth above were within the scope of their employ-
ment at Barclays.  Barclays acknowledges that the par-
ticipating employees intended, at least in part, to bene-
fit Barclays through the actions decried above.”).  
Therefore, although plaintiffs will only be able to re-
cover on this claim with regard to those employees in-
volved in the manipulation of USD LIBOR, not of other 
indices such as Yen LIBOR or TIBOR, we find that 
plaintiffs have adequately stated a claim for vicarious 
liability for commodities manipulation. 

d.  Aiding and Abetting 

Finally, plaintiffs assert a cause of action for aiding 
and abetting commodities manipulation.  Under section 
22(a) of the CEA, plaintiffs may bring suit against 
“[a]ny person … who violates this chapter or who will-
fully aids, abets, counsels, induces, or procures the 
commission of a violation of this chapter.”  7 U.S.C. 
§ 25(a)(1).  “[T]o state a claim for aiding and abetting a 
violation of the CEA, plaintiffs must allege that a de-
fendant, [1] knowing of a principal’s intent to manipu-
late the market and [2] intending to further that ma-
nipulation, [3] performed an act in furtherance of the 
manipulation.”  In re Amaranth Natural Gas Commod-
ities Litig., 587 F. Supp. 2d 513, 541 (S.D.N.Y. 2008). 

Defendants argue that plaintiffs fail to state a claim 
for aiding and abetting, both because they fail to state a 
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primary violation of the CEA and because they fail to 
satisfy the elements set out above.  Exchange MTD 28-
29.  At oral argument, defendants elaborated that even 
if each bank had an incentive to improve the market’s 
perception of its financial health, this incentive would 
have given the bank at most an interest in having a low 
LIBOR quote itself, not in there being a low LIBOR 
fix.  Tr. 78.  Indeed, defendants argued, each defendant 
would have wanted “to show [itself] as comparatively 
healthier than the next bank,” and thus would not have 
had incentive to aid another bank in submitting a low 
LIBOR quote.  Id. 

Although we are skeptical, as discussed below, that 
plaintiffs’ aiding and abetting claim involves separate 
conduct from plaintiffs’ primary claim for commodities 
manipulation, we find that plaintiffs have adequately 
stated a claim.  First, as discussed above, plaintiffs 
have adequately alleged that defendants committed the 
primary violation of manipulation of the price of Euro-
dollar futures contracts.  Second, although defendants 
are correct that no defendant would have had an incen-
tive to make other banks’ look financially healthier, this 
is not sufficient to dismiss plaintiffs’ claim.  Given that 
the London interbank lending market involved lending 
between defendants, among other banks, it is plausible 
that each defendant was aware that other defendants’ 
LIBOR quotes did not reflect the rate at which those 
banks actually expected to borrow.  Moreover, in light 
of the fact that Eurodollar futures contracts “are the 
largest and most actively traded futures contracts,” 
Exchange Am. Compl. ¶ 218, each bank likely knew 
that other banks had an interest in manipulating the 
price of Eurodollar contracts. 

Additionally, plaintiffs have alleged that the affili-
ates of all or a substantial number of defendants traded 
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Eurodollar contracts “to the direct benefit of Defend-
ants.”  Id. ¶ 43; see also id. ¶ 218.  Thus, it is plausible 
that defendants had a common interest not only in LI-
BOR’s being fixed at an artificial level, but also in the 
price of Eurodollar contracts being manipulated.  Even 
beyond this common interest, moreover, the Barclays 
settlement documents suggest that Barclays cooperat-
ed with other banks, including banks on the USD LI-
BOR panel, in ways that were not necessarily in the 
mutual interest of all parties involved.  For example: 

From at least approximately August 2005 
through at least approximately May 2008, cer-
tain Barclays swaps traders communicated 
with swaps traders at other Contributor Panel 
banks and other financial institutions about re-
questing LIBOR and EURIBOR contributions 
that would be favorable to the trading positions 
of the Barclays swaps traders and/or their 
counterparts at other financial institutions. 

DOJ Statement ¶ 23.  Although these allegations do not 
directly implicate specific defendants other than Bar-
clays, they indicate that Barclays cooperated with oth-
er panel banks in a manner that each bank might not 
have if it were acting solely in its own interest. 

Finally, it is plausible that each bank, by allegedly 
submitting artificial LIBOR quotes, furthered other 
banks’ manipulation of the price of Eurodollar futures 
contracts.  For one, as discussed above, each LIBOR 
quote influenced the final LIBOR fix, whether it was 
included in the final average or not, and thus influenced 
the price of Eurodollar futures contracts.  Additionally, 
it is plausible that each defendant furthered other de-
fendants’ manipulation by submitting a quote that was 
roughly in line with (“clustered with”) other quotes, 
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thus decreasing the chance of detection.  See Tr. 75; see 
also Mollenkamp & Whitehouse, supra (quoting Stan-
ford finance professor’s observation that the USD LI-
BOR quotes from January 2008 to April 2008 were “‘far 
too similar to be believed’”). 

In short, plaintiffs have adequately alleged a claim 
for aiding and abetting defendants’ manipulation of the 
price of Eurodollar futures contracts.  That said, we 
have serious questions about whether this claim would 
support awarding plaintiffs any damages beyond those 
awarded based on the underlying manipulation claim.  
It appears that the only way a defendant could aid or 
abet another defendants’ manipulation is by itself sub-
mitting an artificial LIBOR quote.  Moreover, because 
an aiding and abetting claim would require the specific 
intent to further another defendant’s manipulation of 
the price of Eurodollar futures contracts, it would seem 
that the scienter element plaintiffs would need to satis-
fy for aiding and abetting would be the same as the sci-
enter element for the primary CEA violation.  There-
fore, it is hard for us to envision a scenario in which we 
would award plaintiffs any damages based on their aid-
ing and abetting claim beyond what they would be 
awarded based on their underlying manipulation claim.  
If, after discovery, it appears that the aiding and abet-
ting claim is wholly duplicative of the primary claim, 
plaintiffs will not have the benefit of submitting both 
claims to the factfinder. 

C.  RICO Claim 

The Schwab plaintiffs assert a single cause of action 
for violation of the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt 
Organizations Act (“RICO”), 18 U.S.C. §§ 1961-1968 
(2006 & Supp. III 2009).  Defendants have moved to 
dismiss this claim on six grounds:  (1)the claim is barred 
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by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 
(the “PSLRA”), Pub. L. No. 104-67, 109 Stat. 737 (codi-
fied as amended in scattered sections of 15 U.S.C.); (2) 
the claim seeks an impermissible extraterritorial appli-
cation of U.S. law; (3) plaintiffs lack standing; (4) plain-
tiffs fail to plead predicate acts of racketeering; (5) 
plaintiffs fail to plead a pattern of racketeering activity; 
and (6) to the extent plaintiffs assert a claim for con-
spiracy to violate RICO, plaintiffs fail to state a claim.  
We find that each of the first two grounds is sufficient 
to dismiss plaintiffs’ RICO claim. 

1.  RICO 

Although we do not need to decide whether plain-
tiffs have adequately pleaded their RICO claim, a brief 
overview of RICO and its alleged application to the 
present facts is necessary to provide context to the is-
sues we do need to decide.  Under 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c), it 
is unlawful for “any person employed by or associated 
with any enterprise engaged in, or the activities of 
which affect, interstate or foreign commerce, to conduct 
or participate, directly or indirectly, in the conduct of 
such enterprise’s affairs through a pattern of racketeer-
ing activity.”  18 U.S.C. § 1962(c).  The RICO statute 
grants a private right of action to “[a]ny person injured 
in his business or property by reason of a violation of 
section 1962.”  18 U.S.C. § 1964(c).  Plaintiffs may re-
cover treble damages and attorney’s fees.  Id. 

One way of pleading an enterprise is to allege an 
“association in fact,” that is, “a group of persons associ-
ated together for a common purpose of engaging in a 
course of conduct.”  Elsevier Inc. v. W.H.P.R., Inc., 692 
F. Supp. 2d 297, 305 (S.D.N.Y. 2010).  Under Boyle v. 
United States, 556 U.S. 938 (2009), “an association in 
fact enterprise must have a ‘structure’ exhibiting three 
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features:  [1] a purpose, [2] relationships among the in-
dividuals associated with the enterprise, and [3] longev-
ity sufficient to permit the associates to pursue the 
purpose of the enterprise.”  Elsevier, 692 F. Supp. 2d at 
305-06 (citing Boyle v. United States, 556 U.S. at 946). 

Racketeering activity includes, inter alia, wire 
fraud, mail fraud, and bank fraud.  18 U.S.C. § 1961(1).  
To state a claim for mail or wire fraud, a plaintiff must 
allege “(1) the existence of a scheme to defraud, (2) the 
defendant’s knowing or intentional participation in the 
scheme, and (3) the use of interstate mails or transmis-
sion facilities in furtherance of the scheme.”  Odyssey 
Re (London) Ltd. v. Stirling Cooke Brown Holdings 
Ltd., 85 F. Supp. 2d 282, 301 (S.D.N.Y. 2000) (citing 
S.Q.K.F.C., Inc. v. Bell Atlantic Tricon Leasing Corp., 
84 F.3d 629, 633 (2d Cir. 1996)); see also 18 U.S.C. 
§ 1341 (mail fraud); id. § 1343 (wire fraud).  To state a 
claim for bank fraud, a plaintiff must allege that de-
fendant executed or attempted to execute a scheme “to 
defraud a financial institution” or “to obtain any of the 
moneys, funds, credits, assets, securities, or other 
property owned by, or under the custody or control of, 
a financial institution, by means of false or fraudulent 
pretenses, representations, or promises.”  18 U.S.C. 
§ 1344. 

A pattern of racketeering activity requires “at 
least two acts of racketeering activity” occurring within 
ten years of each other.  Id. § 1961(5).  “[T]o establish a 
‘pattern’ of racketeering activity, plaintiffs ‘must show 
[1] that the racketeering predicates are related, and [2] 
that they amount to or pose a threat of continued crim-
inal activity.”  Jerome M. Sobel & Co. v. Fleck, No. 03 
Civ.1041, 2003 WL 22839799, at *9 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 1, 
2003) (alteration in original) (quoting H.J. Inc. v. 
Northwestern Bell Tel. Co., 492 U.S. 229, 239 (1989)).  
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“Predicate acts are related if they have the ‘same or 
similar purposes, results, participants, victims, or 
methods of commission, or otherwise are interrelated 
by distinguishing characteristics and are not isolated 
events.’”  Davis Lee Pharmacy, Inc., v. Manhattan Cen-
tral Capital Corp., 327 F. Supp. 2d 159, 164 (E.D.N.Y. 
2004) (quoting H.J. Inc., 492 U.S. at 240 (1989)).  The 
“continuity” element may be satisfied by, inter alia, 
“closed-ended” continuity, involving “a closed period of 
repeated conduct.”  H.J. Inc., 492 U.S. at 241. 

Under 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d), it is also unlawful “for 
any person to conspire to violate” section 1962(c).  18 
U.S.C. § 1962(d).  “To adequately plead a violation of 
§ 1962(d) in the Second Circuit, a plaintiff need only al-
lege that a ‘conspirator intend[ed] to further an en-
deavor which, if completed, would satisfy all of the ele-
ments of a substantive criminal offense.”  Gulf Coast 
Development Group, LLC v. Lebror, No. 02 Civ. 6949, 
2003 WL 22871914, at *5 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 4, 2003) (quot-
ing Baisch v. Gallina, 346 F.3d 366, 376 (2d Cir. 2003)).  
Plaintiffs need not show an overt act in order to plead a 
violation of section 1962(d), though “injury from an 
overt act is necessary and sufficient to establish civil 
standing for a RICO conspiracy violation.”  Hecht v. 
Commerce Clearing House, Inc., 897 F.2d 21, 25 (2d 
Cir. 1990). 

Here, plaintiffs claim that defendants violated both 
section 1962(c) and section 1962(d).  With regard to sec-
tion 1962(c), plaintiffs allege that all of the defendants 
were part of an association in fact, whose purpose was 
to “cause the BBA to set LIBOR artificially low” by 
each defendant’s misrepresentation of its expected bor-
rowing costs, and thereby to “allow[] Defendants to in-
crease their net interest revenues by making artificially 
low payments to investors such as [plaintiffs].”  Schwab 
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Bank Am. Compl. ¶ 219.  This enterprise allegedly last-
ed “[f]or at least four years before [plaintiffs’] Com-
plaint[s were] filed.”  Id. ¶ 220.  The enterprise’s affairs, 
moreover, were allegedly conducted through a pattern 
of racketeering activity, namely mail fraud, wire fraud, 
and bank fraud.  Id. ¶ 222.  In addition to allegedly 
committing the above RICO violation, defendants al-
legedly conspired to violate RICO.  According to plain-
tiffs, “[d]efendants organized and implemented the 
scheme, and ensured it continued uninterrupted by 
concealing their manipulation of LIBOR from inves-
tors, including [plaintiffs].”  Id. ¶ 232.  Plaintiffs allege 
that they suffered direct and foreseeable injury from 
defendants’ scheme by “unknowingly pa[ying] money to 
Defendants for LIBOR-based financial instruments 
that paid interest at a manipulated rate, and in fact col-
lect[ing] less interest than they would have absent the 
conspiracy.”  Id. ¶ 234. 

2.  The PSLRA 

Plaintiffs’ RICO claim is barred by the PSLRA.  In 
a provision that has become known as the “RICO 
Amendment,” the PSLRA amended RICO to provide 
that “no person may rely upon any conduct that would 
have been actionable as fraud in the purchase or sale of 
securities to establish a violation of section 1962.”  18 
U.S.C. § 1964(c).  This provision is interpreted “broad-
ly,” Eagletech Commc’ns Inc. v. Citigroup, Inc., No. 07-
60668-CIV, 2008 WL 3166533, at *9 (S.D. Fla. June 27, 
2008), and bars a RICO claim “even where a plaintiff 
cannot itself pursue a securities fraud action against 
the defendant,” MLSMK Inv. Co. v. JP Morgan Chase 
& Co., 651 F.3d 268, 277 (2d Cir. 2011); see also Gilmore 
v. Gilmore, No. 09 Civ. 6230, 2011 WL 3874880, at *4 
(S.D.N.Y. Sept. 1, 2011).  In other words, a plaintiff is 
prohibited from bringing a RICO claim not only when 
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she, herself, could have brought a securities fraud claim 
based on the RICO predicate acts, but also when the 
SEC could have brought such a claim.  See Eagletech, 
2008 WL 3166533, at *14 (holding that “the PSLRA 
acts as a bar to Plaintiffs’ RICO claims” because “the 
predicate acts are actionable as securities fraud and 
may be prosecuted by the SEC”).  The question here, 
therefore, is whether the predicate acts of plaintiffs’ 
RICO claim could have been the subject of a securities 
fraud action brought either by plaintiffs themselves or 
by the SEC. 

a.  Securities Fraud 

Under section 10(b) of the ’34 Act, the provision 
criminalizing securities fraud: 

It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or 
indirectly, by the use of any means or instru-
mentality of interstate commerce or of the 
mails, or of any facility of any national securi-
ties exchange— … To use or employ, in connec-
tion with the purchase or sale of any security 
registered on a national securities exchange or 
any security not so registered, or any securi-
ties-based swap agreement any manipulative 
or deceptive device or contrivance in contra-
vention of such rules and regulations as the 
Commission may prescribe as necessary or ap-
propriate in the public interest or for the pro-
tection of investors. 

15 U.S.C. § 78j. 

Because the requirements for the SEC to bring suit 
for securities fraud are less stringent than the re-
quirements for a private plaintiff to bring suit, see SEC 
v. Boock, No. 09 Civ. 8261, 2011 WL 3792819, at *21 



144a 

 

(S.D.N.Y. Aug. 25, 2011), the dispositive inquiry is 
whether the alleged predicate acts could form the basis 
for a securities fraud suit by the SEC, see Eagletech, 
2008 WL 3166533, at *14.  The SEC may assert a cause 
of action for securities fraud if it alleges that the de-
fendant:  “(1) made a material misrepresentation or a 
material omission as to which he had a duty to speak, or 
used a fraudulent device; (2) with scienter; (3) in con-
nection with the purchase or sale of securities.”  Boock, 
2011 WL 3792819, at *21 (quoting SEC v. Monarch 
Funding Corp., 192 F.3d 295, 308 (2d Cir. 1999)) (inter-
nal quotation marks omitted); cf. Gilmore, 2011 WL 
3874880, at *4 (holding that a private plaintiff asserting 
a cause of action for securities fraud under section 10(b) 
would need to prove, in addition to the above three el-
ements:  (1) reliance by plaintiff on defendant’s misrep-
resentation or omission, (2) economic loss, and (3) loss 
causation). 

To prove scienter, the SEC must demonstrate the 
defendant’s “intent to deceive, manipulate, or defraud, 
or knowing misconduct.”  Boock, 2011 WL 3792819, at 
*21 (quoting In re Carter-Wallace, Inc. Sec. Litig., 220 
F.3d 36, 39 (2d Cir. 2000)) (internal quotation marks 
omitted).  To prove that the defendant’s material mis-
representation or omission was made “in connection 
with the purchase or sale of securities,” the SEC need 
only show that “the scheme to defraud and the sale of 
securities coincide[d].”  Seippel v. Jenkens & Gilchrest, 
P.C., 341 F. Supp. 2d 363, 373 (S.D.N.Y. 2004) (quoting 
SEC v. Zandford, 535 U.S. 813, 820 (2002)) (internal 
quotation marks omitted).  The scheme to defraud and 
the sale of securities “coincide” when they are not “in-
dependent events,” id. at 374 (quoting Zandford, 535 
U.S. at 820), but rather “are ‘less tangentially related,’ 
or more closely dependent on each other,” id. (quoting 
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Jacoboni v. KPMG LLP, 314 F. Supp. 2d 1172, 1179 
(M.D. Fla. 2004)).  In other words, although showing 
that the plaintiff purchased a security in reliance on a 
misrepresentation or omission by the defendant re-
garding the security’s value would likely be sufficient 
to satisfy the “in connection with” element, such a 
showing would not be necessary.  See id. at 373.  In-
deed, the “in connection with” element should be “con-
strued not technically and restrictively, but flexibly to 
effectuate [the statute’s] remedial purposes.”  Id. at 372 
(quoting Zandford, 535 U.S. at 819) (internal quotation 
marks omitted).” 

b.  Application of the RICO Amendment 

Plaintiffs concede that at least some of the LIBOR-
based financial instruments they purchased from de-
fendants were securities.  Schwab Opp’n 5-10.  At least 
with regard to these instruments, the conduct alleged 
by plaintiffs could have been the subject of a suit for 
securities fraud brought by the SEC. 

First, defendants allegedly “made a material mis-
representation or a material omission as to which [they] 
had a duty to speak.”  Boock, 2011 WL 3792819, at *21 
(quoting SEC v. Monarch Funding Corp., 192 F.3d 295, 
308 (2d Cir. 1999)).  In their amended complaint, plain-
tiffs allege that defendants mailed, in furtherance of 
their fraudulent scheme, “(i) documents offering for 
sale LIBOR-based financial instruments and (ii) corre-
spondence regarding offerings of LIBOR-based finan-
cial instruments.”  Schwab Bank Am. Compl. ¶ 223.  
Defendants also allegedly transmitted by wire, in fur-
therance of their fraudulent scheme, “documents offer-
ing LIBOR-based financial instruments for sale.”  Id. 
¶ 225.  Both the mailings and the wires were sent “for 
the purpose of obtaining money from [holders of LI-
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BOR-based financial instruments] through ‘false or 
fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises.’”  
Id. ¶ 224; see also id. ¶ 225. 

Plaintiffs argue that, despite these allegations, “the 
mailings and wire transmissions that actually were di-
rected to Plaintiffs are not alleged to have been false or 
misleading.”  Schwab Opp’n 9; see also Tr. 88.  Rather, 
plaintiffs maintain, “Defendants’ misrepresentations 
were directed not at buyers of specific securities, but at 
the BBA.”  Schwab Opp’n 9; see also Tr. 88.  This ar-
gument, however, is in irreconcilable tension with 
plaintiffs’ allegation that defendants sent them mailings 
and wires for the purpose of obtaining money from 
them through “false or fraudulent pretenses, represen-
tations, or promises.”  Schwab Bank Am. Compl. 
¶¶ 224-25.  Only through a contorted reading of this al-
legation could plaintiffs suggest that defendants’ “false 
or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises” 
were made not in the mailings and wires to plaintiffs, 
but rather in wires to the BBA.  A more plausible read-
ing of plaintiffs’ allegations is that the misleading 
statements were made to plaintiffs in the offering ma-
terials they received from defendants. 

Indeed, such a reading makes sense.  If the offering 
materials described how LIBOR was calculated by ref-
erence to the “proper” procedures rather than the ma-
nipulation that allegedly was occurring, they would 
contain a material misrepresentation.  If they did not 
describe how LIBOR was calculated, they would still 
be omitting that LIBOR was being manipulated, surely 
a material omission. 

The allegations in plaintiffs’ original complaints 
confirm our conclusion that the offering materials de-
fendants sent plaintiffs were misleading.  Those com-
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plaints asserted a cause of action for securities fraud in 
violation of section 10(b).  See, e.g., Schwab Bank 
Compl. ¶¶ 138-47 (Aug. 23, 2011).  The securities fraud 
claim was withdrawn in the amended complaint, a deci-
sion that, according to plaintiffs’ counsel, was not ma-
nipulative, but rather took account of their realization 
that they would not have been able to prove reliance on 
defendants’ misrepresentations.  Tr. 86-87.  Frankly, 
this explanation strikes us as a dubious position adopt-
ed in an effort by plaintiffs to disown their original 
complaint and thereby avoid dismissal of their RICO 
claim, a claim whose siren song of treble damages ap-
parently proved irresistible.  Nonetheless, for purposes 
of the present analysis, we need not decide whether 
plaintiffs amended their complaint in good faith.  Even 
crediting plaintiffs’ withdrawal of their securities fraud 
claim in their amended complaint, the factual allega-
tions plaintiffs made in support of that claim remain 
relevant as party admissions.  See Austin v. Ford Mod-
els, Inc., 149 F.3d 148, 155 (2d Cir. 1998), abrogated on 
other grounds by Swierkiewicz v. Sorema N.A., 534 
U.S. 506 (2002) (“The amendment of a pleading does not 
make it any the less an admission of the party.” (quoting 
Andrews v. Metro N. Commuter R.R. Co., 882 F.2d 705, 
707 (2d Cir. 1989)) (internal quotation marks omitted)). 

In their original complaint, plaintiffs clearly alleged 
that defendants made misleading statements in connec-
tion with the sale of securities.  Specifically, plaintiffs 
alleged that “Defendants, directly and indirectly, by the 
use, means or instrumentalities of interstate commerce 
or of the mails, engaged and participated in a continu-
ous course of conduct to conceal adverse material in-
formation about the manipulation of LIBOR.”  Schwab 
Bank Compl. ¶ 141.  Further, defendants’ fraudulent 
conduct included: 
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the making of, or participation in the making of, 
untrue statements of material facts and omit-
ting to state material facts necessary to make 
Defendants’ statements during the Relevant 
Period—including their representations that 
the rates of the securities Defendants sold to 
Plaintiffs were based on LIBOR—in the light 
of the circumstances under which they were 
made, not misleading. 

Id. ¶ 142.  In sum, defendants’ conduct constituted a 
“deceit upon the purchasers of the subject securities 
during the Relevant Period, including Plaintiffs.”  Id. 

While we acknowledge that some of these allega-
tions track statutory provisions, nevertheless, the alle-
gations are of a factual nature and must, of necessity, 
have been based on factual positions.  Fairly read, these 
allegations plainly indicate that defendants made mis-
leading statements to plaintiffs, likely in the offering 
materials themselves but, at any rate, certainly “in 
connection with” defendants’ sale of LIBOR-based se-
curities to plaintiffs.  While it is true that the allega-
tions are not conclusive admissions and thus may be re-
butted by plaintiffs, see Tran v. Alphonse Hotel Corp., 
281 F.3d 23, 32 (2d Cir. 2002), overruled on other 
grounds by Slayton v. Am. Express Co., 460 F.3d 215 
(2d Cir. 2006), plaintiffs’ attempt to rebut them is un-
convincing.  Although plaintiffs now assert that the of-
fering materials did not contain misrepresentations and 
generally were not misleading, they do not deny that 
the offering materials omitted the fact that LIBOR was 
being manipulated.  Indeed, for plaintiffs to deny this 
would be absurd:  plaintiffs’ argument that they 
“rel[ied] on the accuracy of LIBOR when [they] en-
tered into the purchases,” Tr. 87, requires the conclu-
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sion that the offering materials omitted the alleged ma-
terial fact that LIBOR was being manipulated. 

In light of the allegations in plaintiffs’ original and 
amended complaints, it seems clear that the offering 
materials defendants sent plaintiffs contained either 
material misrepresentations or material omissions.  
Moreover, the remaining two elements of securities 
fraud have also been alleged.  Without question, plain-
tiffs have alleged that defendants acted with scienter, 
or “intent to deceive, manipulate, or defraud, or know-
ing misconduct.”  SEC v. Boock, 2011 WL 3792819, at 
*21 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 25, 2011) (quoting In re Carter-
Wallace, Inc. Sec. Litig., 220 F.3d 36, 39 (2d Cir. 2000)).  
For instance, the amended complaint alleges that the 
offering materials were sent “for the purpose of obtain-
ing money from [holders of LIBOR-based financial in-
struments] through ‘false or fraudulent pretenses, rep-
resentations, or promises.’”  Id. ¶ 224; see also id. ¶ 225.  
Finally, the material misrepresentations or omissions in 
the offering materials sent to plaintiffs were clearly 
made in connection with the purchase or sale of securi-
ties.  Therefore, the mailings and wires by which de-
fendants offered LIBOR-based securities to plaintiffs 
could, at a minimum, have been the subject of a securi-
ties fraud action brought by the SEC. 

Additionally, all of defendants’ misrepresentations 
to the BBA would likely be grounds for a securities 
fraud claim by the SEC.  First, plaintiffs allege that 
among the wire communications sent by defendant in 
furtherance of their fraudulent scheme were “phony 
statements about their costs of borrowing.”  Schwab 
Bank Am. Compl. ¶ 225.  These statements, which ap-
parently refer to the wires that defendants sent daily to 
the BBA, would clearly be material misrepresentations.  
See Schwab Opp’n 9; Tr. 88.  Second, plaintiffs have ex-
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plicitly alleged scienter.  Schwab Bank Am. Compl. 
¶ 225. 

Finally, defendants’ “phony statements” to the 
BBA, under plaintiffs’ own construct, would qualify as 
having been made “in connection with” the purchase or 
sale of securities.  Even if plaintiffs did not rely on each 
defendant’s LIBOR quote in deciding to purchase LI-
BOR-based securities, it is sufficient that “the scheme 
to defraud and the sale of securities coincide[d].”  Seip-
pel v. Jenkens & Gilchrest P.C., 341 F. Supp. 2d 363, 
373 (S.D.N.Y. 2004) (quoting SEC v. Zandford, 535 
U.S. 813, 820 (2002)) (internal quotation mark omitted).  
Far from being “independent events,” id. at 374 (quot-
ing Zandford, 535 U.S. at 820), defendants’ scheme to 
defraud and their sale of securities to plaintiffs were 
“closely dependent on each other,” id.  Indeed, one of 
the alleged reasons why defendants “transmit[ted] 
phony statements about their costs of borrowing” to 
the BBA was in order to “obtain[] money from holders 
of LIBOR-based financial instruments through ‘false or 
fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises’ 
about LIBOR-based financial instruments.”  Schwab 
Bank Am. Compl. ¶ 225; see also id. ¶ 5 (alleging that 
one of defendants’ “primary reasons” for engaging in 
their fraudulent scheme was that “artificially suppress-
ing LIBOR allowed Defendants to pay lower interest 
rates on LIBOR-based financial instruments that De-
fendants sold to investors, including [plaintiffs], during 
the Relevant Period”). 

Although defendants’ misrepresentations to the 
BBA may have been intended in part to facilitate de-
fendants’ sale of non-security instruments, it remains 
the case, given that certain of the LIBOR-based finan-
cial instruments that defendants sought to sell to plain-
tiffs were securities, that a significant part of the al-
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leged reason for all of defendants’ misrepresentations 
to the BBA was to defraud purchasers of securities.  In 
short, because defendants’ alleged misrepresentations 
to the BBA were allegedly made for the purpose of 
profiting unfairly from their sale of securities to plain-
tiffs, defendants’ misrepresentations to the BBA were 
made “in connection with” the sale of securities.  There-
fore, all of defendants’ alleged misrepresentations to 
the BBA would be grounds for a securities fraud action 
brought by the SEC.20 

Plaintiffs argue that even if their RICO claim may 
not rely on predicate acts that would have been grounds 
for a securities fraud suit, the claim should survive to 
the extent it involves predicate acts that would not have 
been actionable as securities fraud.  Schwab Opp’n 5-7.  
Such predicate acts might include communications offer-
ing non-security financial instruments. 

Plaintiffs’ argument is inconsistent with how courts 
have consistently applied the RICO Amendment.  Spe-
cifically, where plaintiffs allege “a single scheme,” 
courts have held that “if any predicate act is barred by 
the PSLRA it is fatal to the entire RICO claim.”  Ling 
v. Deutsche Bank, No. 04 CV 45662005, 2005 WL 
1244689, at *4 (S.D.N.Y. May 26, 2005). 

                                                 
20 It is of no avail to plaintiffs that they allege that they “do 

not base their RICO claim[] on any conduct that would have been 
actionable as fraud in the purchase or sale of securities.”  Schwab 
Bank Am. Compl. ¶ 227.  First, this is a legal conclusion that we 
need not accept as true.  Second, regardless of whether plaintiffs 
are correct that they could not have brought a private action for 
securities fraud based on the alleged RICO predicate acts, those 
predicate acts could, as discussed above, have been the basis for a 
securities fraud action brought by the SEC.  This is sufficient for 
plaintiffs’ RICO claim to be barred under the PSLRA’s RICO 
Amendment. 
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For example, in Gilmore v. Gilmore, No. 09 Civ. 
6230, 2011 WL 3874880, at *4 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 1, 2011), 
“[plaintiff]’s RICO claims [were] based on his allega-
tions that [defendant] and [defendant’s outside financial 
and investment advisor] engaged in a multi-year 
scheme to defraud him and his siblings by looting the 
family companies through self-dealing, fraudulent secu-
rities transactions, and overbilling.”  Id. at *2.  The 
Court held that defendant’s alleged plots to loot the 
family companies “count[ed] as a single scheme.”  Id. at 
*6.  Therefore, “the securities aspects of the fraud 
[needed to] be aggregated with the non-securities as-
pects.”  Id.  In other words, having alleged that defend-
ant’s acts “were part of a single fraudulent scheme[,] 
the [plaintiff] [could not] divide the scheme into its var-
ious component parts,” as “such surgical presentation 
… would undermine the Congressional purpose” behind 
the RICO Amendment.  Id. (quoting Seippel v. Jenkens 
& Gilchrest, P.C., 341 F. Supp. 2d 363, 373 (S.D.N.Y. 
2004)).  Because there was “no genuine dispute that 
components of Plaintiffs alleged action could have been 
brought under the securities laws,” the Court dis-
missed plaintiff’s RICO claims.  Id. 

Similarly, in Ling v. Deutsche Bank, 2005 WL 
1244689, the Court dismissed RICO claims based on a 
fraudulent scheme to offer illegitimate tax strategy ad-
vice where “[f]or at least some of the[] individual Plain-
tiffs, the sale of securities was necessary to effectuate 
the tax strategy.”  Id. at *6.  Because “the Plaintiffs 
contend[ed] the wrongful acts were committed as part 
of a single fraudulent scheme, all of the components 
[needed to] be considered together for securities fraud 
purposes.”  Id. at *4. 

Here, the PSLRA bars plaintiffs’ RICO claim de-
spite the fact that certain of the alleged predicate acts 
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might not have been actionable as securities fraud.  
Plaintiffs have unambiguously alleged that defendants’ 
conduct constituted a single fraudulent scheme.  See, 
e.g., Schwab Bank Am. Compl. ¶ 219 (alleging that de-
fendants formed an association-in-fact enterprise with 
the “common purpose” of “using [their] false quotes to 
cause the BBA to set LIBOR artificially low, thereby 
allowing Defendants to increase their net interest rev-
enues by making artificially low payment to investors 
such as [plaintiffs]”).  Because they have done so, and 
because some of the alleged predicate acts could have 
been grounds at least for a securities fraud action 
brought by the SEC, plaintiffs’ RICO claim, in its en-
tirety, is barred by the PSLRA. 

3.  Extraterritoriality 

Apart from being barred by the PSLRA’s RICO 
Amendment, plaintiffs’ RICO claim rests on an imper-
missible extraterritorial application of the RICO stat-
ute. This provides an independent basis for dismissing 
plaintiffs’ RICO claim. 

a.  RICO’s Reach 

As discussed above, Morrison v. National Austral-
ia Bank Ltd., 130 S. Ct. 2869 (2010), establishes a two-
part test for deciding extraterritoriality questions.  
First, “‘unless there is the affirmative intention of the 
Congress clearly expressed’ to give a statute extrater-
ritorial effect, ‘we must presume it is primarily con-
cerned with domestic conditions.’”  Id. at 2877 (quoting 
EEOC v. Arabian American Oil Co. (“Aramco”), 499 
U.S. 244, 248 (1991)).  “When a statute gives no clear 
indication of an extraterritorial application, it has 
none.”  Id. at 2878.  With regard to RICO, the Second 
Circuit has established that “RICO is silent as to any 
extraterritorial application.”  Norex Petroleum Ltd. v. 
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Access Indus., Inc., 631 F.3d 29, 32 (2d Cir. 2010) (citing 
N.S. Fin. Corp. v. Al-Turki, 100 F.3d 1046, 1051 (2d 
Cir. 1996)) (internal quotation marks omitted); see also 
Mitsui O.S.K. Lines, Ltd. v. Seamaster Logistics, Inc., 
871 F. Supp. 2d 933, 937 (N.D. Cal. 2012) (“Since Morri-
son made it clear that the presumption against extra-
territoriality is a canon of construction applicable to any 
statute, a half-dozen courts have applied its reasoning in 
the RICO context.  These courts have uniformly held 
that RICO is silent as to its extraterritorial application 
and that, under Morrison, it therefore has none.”).  
Therefore, RICO does not apply extraterritorially.21 

Second, if a statute applies only domestically, a 
court must determine which domestic conduct the stat-
ute regulates by reference to “the ‘focus’ of congres-
sional concern.”  Morrison, 130 S. Ct. at 2884 (quoting 
Aramco, 499 U.S. at 255).  With regard to RICO, some 
courts have found that the statute focuses on the enter-
prise.  See, e.g. Cedeno v. Intech Group, Inc., 733 F. 
Supp. 2d 471, 474 (S.D.N.Y. 2010) (“[T]he focus of RICO 
is on the enterprise as the recipient of, or cover for, a 
pattern of criminal activity. … RICO does not apply 
where, as here, the alleged enterprise and the impact of 
the predicate activity upon it are entirely foreign.”); see 
also Mitsui, 871 F. Supp. 2d at 938 (“[C]ourts have 
broadly agreed that … in the RICO context ‘it is the 
“enterprise” that is the object of the statute’s solicitude, 
and the “focus” of the statute.’” (quoting European 

                                                 
21 It is irrelevant whether the statutes prohibiting the alleged 

predicate acts apply extraterritorially.  See Norex, 631 F.3d at 33 
(“Morrison similarly forecloses [plaintiff]’s argument that because 
a number of RICO’s predicate acts possess an extraterritorial 
reach, RICO itself possesses an extraterritorial reach.”). 
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Cmty. v. RJR Nabisco, Inc., No. 02-CV-5771 (NGG) 
(VVP), 2011 WL 843957, at *5 (E.D.N.Y. Mar. 8, 2011))). 

By contrast, other courts have found that RICO fo-
cuses “on the pattern of racketeering activity and its 
consequences.”  Chevron Corp. v. Donziger, 871 F. 
Supp. 2d 229, 245 (S.D.N.Y. 2012); see also id. at 242 
(reasoning that “foreign enterprises have been at the 
heart of precisely the sort of activities—committed in 
the United States—that were exactly what Congress 
enacted RICO to eradicate,” and concluding that Con-
gress probably was concerned with “the conduct of the 
affairs of foreign enterprises through patterns of rack-
eteering activity, at least if the prohibited activities in-
jured Americans in this country and occurred here, ei-
ther entirely or in significant part”).  The Second Cir-
cuit has not decided this issue.  See Cedeno v. Castillo, 
457 F. App’x 35, 37 (2d Cir. 2012). 

We agree with the Court in Cedeno that the focus of 
RICO is on the enterprise.  In any RICO complaint, each 
of the predicate acts would be actionable independently, 
criminally and possibly also civilly.  See 18 U.S.C. § 
1961(1) (defining “racketeering activity”).  The addition-
al element that elevates isolated criminal acts to a RICO 
violation is the involvement of an enterprise, either as a 
passive victim of racketeering activity or as an active 
mechanism for perpetrating the racketeering activity.  
Indeed, the Supreme Court has held that the two prima-
ry purposes of RICO are to “protect[] a legitimate ‘en-
terprise’ from those who would use unlawful acts to vic-
timize it,” Cedric Kushner Promotions, Ltd. v. King, 533 
U.S. 158, 164 (2001) (citing United States v. Turkette, 452 
U.S. 576, 591 (1981)), and to “protect[] the public from 
those who would unlawfully use an ‘enterprise’ (whether 
legitimate or illegitimate) as a ‘vehicle’ through which 
‘unlawful … activity is committed,’” id. (quoting Nat’l 
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Org. for Women, Inc. v. Scheidler, 510 U.S. 249, 259 
(1994)); see also European Cmty., 2011 WL 843957, at *5 
(reasoning that RICO “does not punish the predicate 
acts of racketeering activity … but only racketeering 
activity in connection with an ‘enterprise,’” and that the 
statute “seeks to regulate ‘enterprises’ by protecting 
them from being victimized by or conducted through 
racketeering activity”).  As the Cedeno Court reasoned, 
“RICO is not a recidivist statute designed to punish 
someone for committing a pattern of multiple criminal 
acts[, but rather] prohibits the use of such a pattern to 
impact an enterprise.”  Cedeno, 733 F. Supp. 2d at 473.  
Therefore, we conclude that Congress’s focus in enacting 
RICO was the enterprise.  Under Morrison, a RICO en-
terprise must be a “domestic enterprise.”  European 
Cmty., 2011 WL 843957, at *5. 

b.  The Location of the Alleged RICO Enterprise 

To determine where an enterprise is located, courts 
have employed the “nerve center” test, adopted from 
the Supreme Court’s use of that test in Hertz Corp. v. 
Friend, 130 S. Ct. 1181 (2010), to locate a corporation’s 
principal place of business for purposes of diversity ju-
risdiction.  See, e.g., European Cmty., 2011 WL 843957, 
at *5-6; see also Mitsui, 871 F. Supp. 2d at 940 (“The 
nerve center test provides a familiar, consistent, and 
administrable method for determining the territoriality 
of RICO enterprises in cases such as the one at bar, 
which blend domestic and foreign elements.”).  As ar-
ticulated in Hertz, the “nerve center” of a corporation is 
“the place where a corporation’s officers direct, control, 
and coordinate the corporation’s activities.”  Hertz, 130 
S. Ct. at 1192.  In the RICO context, courts have found 
that although “RICO enterprises … may not have a 
single center of corporate policy,” the test is nonethe-
less useful in focusing on the “brains” of the enter-
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prise—where its decisions are made—as opposed to its 
“brawn”—where its conduct occurs.  European Cmty., 
2011 WL 843957, at *6. 

Here, for obvious reasons, plaintiffs resist the most 
natural way to apply RICO to the factual circumstanc-
es, namely to identify the BBA as the enterprise and to 
allege that the BBA’s LIBOR-setting process had been 
corrupted by defendants and used to carry out a pat-
tern of racketeering activity.  Because the BBA is 
plainly a foreign enterprise, such a construct would re-
sult in an impermissible extraterritorial application of 
RICO.  Therefore, plaintiffs have alleged that the en-
terprise is an association in fact whose members are the 
BBA panel banks, and their affiliates, and whose pur-
pose is to submit artificially low LIBOR quotes to the 
BBA so that LIBOR is fixed at artificially low levels 
and the defendants profit on LIBOR-based financial 
instruments.  Tr. 95; Exchange Am. Compl. ¶ 219.  This 
strikes us as a strained attempt by plaintiffs to plead 
around an obvious defect in their theory. 

Even evaluating plaintiffs’ construct of an associa-
tion-in-fact enterprise on its merits, the enterprise 
would be foreign.  In locating the enterprise, the nerve 
center test, despite its usefulness in other cases, has 
little value here.  The decisionmaking of the alleged en-
terprise likely occurred in several different countries, 
and might even have been located in each of the coun-
tries in which a defendant was headquartered.  See 
Schwab Bank Am. Compl. ¶¶ 20-35 (identifying the 
countries of defendants’ headquarters as the United 
States, England, Japan, the Netherlands, Switzerland, 
Germany, Canada, and Scotland).  Plaintiffs have not 
alleged that defendants met in any one physical location 
in furtherance of their fraudulent scheme; rather, they 
have alleged that “Defendants used the mails and wires 
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in conjunction with reaching their agreement to make 
false statements about their costs of borrowing, to ma-
nipulate LIBOR.”  Schwab Bank Am. Compl. ¶ 226.  
Indeed, if plaintiffs are correct that defendants joined 
together to fix LIBOR over the course of several years, 
it would seem highly improbable that defendants physi-
cally met in one location to discuss the scheme.  There-
fore, because the decisionmaking in furtherance of the 
alleged scheme would likely have occurred in many 
countries, the “nerve center” test does not point us to a 
single location. 

Given that the location of the enterprise’s “brain” is 
indeterminate, we will consider the location of the en-
terprise’s “brawn,” or where the enterprise acted.  The 
alleged fraudulent scheme essentially comprised two 
parts:  (1) the defendants’ submission of artificial LI-
BOR quotes to the BBA, and (2) each defendant’s sale 
of LIBOR-based financial instruments to its customers.  
The first part involves joint action:  the defendants al-
legedly agreed to coordinate their LIBOR submissions 
such that they would each submit an artificially low 
quote to the BBA each day.  Indeed, giving the formula 
for calculating LIBOR, the only way to have a signifi-
cant effect on the final LIBOR fix is through coordinat-
ed, collective action.  The second part, by contrast, is 
independent:  even if all of the defendants had a com-
mon interest in a low LIBOR fix, each defendant acted 
independently in selling LIBOR-based financial in-
struments to its customers. 

In locating a RICO enterprise based on its activi-
ties, it makes sense to focus on activities done collec-
tively.  As discussed above, the focus of Congressional 
concern in enacting RICO was the RICO enterprise; in 
the context of an association-in-fact enterprise, the fo-
cus is not each defendant’s independent commission of 
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predicate acts, but rather the association of defendants 
together to commit predicate acts.  Therefore, based on 
defendants’ collective submission of false LIBOR 
quotes to the BBA, we find that the alleged RICO en-
terprise is located in England.  The defendants were 
each members of the BBA, an entity based in England, 
and participated in the affairs of the BBA by submit-
ting quotes each day to the BBA.  In other words, the 
collective action of defendants centered on the BBA.  
As the BBA is located in England, the most sensible 
place to locate the RICO enterprise is England.22 

Because RICO applies only to domestic enterpris-
es, and because the enterprise alleged here was located 
abroad, plaintiffs’ claim involves an impermissible ex-
traterritorial application of U.S law.  Accordingly, 
plaintiffs’ RICO claim is dismissed. 

D.  State-Law Claims 

At least one state-law cause of action is asserted in 
the OTC amended complaint, the Schwab amended 

                                                 
22 Even if we considered the second stage of the alleged 

fraud—each defendant’s sale of LIBOR-based financial instru-
ments to its customers—we would not necessarily locate the en-
terprise in the United States.  Contrary to plaintiffs’ argument, Tr. 
97, the fact that only U.S. customers have brought suit pursuant to 
RICO does not indicate that defendants in fact targeted their sale 
of LIBOR-based instruments at the U.S.  Because LIBOR is a ref-
erence point around the world, id., it seems likely that defendants, 
which are headquartered around the world, would have sold LI-
BOR-based financial instruments to plaintiffs around the world.  
Consequently, even if we focused on where defendants sold LI-
BOR-based instruments, our analysis would not necessarily point 
to the United States.  Furthermore, given that the first stage of 
the alleged fraud clearly centered on England, the indeterminate 
location of the second stage reinforces our conclusion that the al-
leged RICO enterprise was located abroad. 
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complaints, and the exchange-based plaintiffs’ amended 
complaint.  For the reasons stated below, we decline to 
exercise supplemental jurisdiction over the state-law 
claims in the OTC amended complaint and the Schwab 
amended complaints, with the exception of the Schwab 
plaintiffs’ claim pursuant to the Cartwright Act.  The 
Cartwright Act claim and the exchange-based plain-
tiffs’ state-law claim are dismissed with prejudice. 

1.  OTC Amended Complaint 

The OTC amended complaint asserts a cause of ac-
tion for unjust enrichment and restitution, without 
stating which state’s common law it seeks to apply.  
OTC Am. Compl. ¶¶ 227-30.  The only other cause of 
action asserted the amended complaint is for violation 
of section 1 of the Sherman Act, id. ¶¶ 220-26, and, as 
discussed above, we are dismissing this claim for failure 
to allege antitrust injury.  Thus, the question before us 
is whether we should exercise supplemental jurisdic-
tion over the state common law claim in light of the fact 
that no federal causes of action remain.23 

Under 28 U.S.C. § 1367, “district courts may de-
cline to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over a [state 

                                                 
23 Although it is conceivable that we could retain jurisdiction 

over this claim by virtue of diversity of citizenship, we need not 
consider this ground because plaintiffs have not pled it.  “It is the 
plaintiff’s burden to plead and prove subject matter jurisdiction.”  
Moses v. Deutche Bank Nat. Trust Co., No. 11-cv-5002 (ENV) 
(VVP), 2012 WL 2017706, at *1 (E.D.N.Y. June 5, 2012) (citing 
Standard Chartered Bank Malaysia Holdings v. Lehman Bros. 
Asia Holdings Ltd., No. 08 CV 8152, 2008 WL 4355355, at *1 
(S.D.N.Y. Sept. 22, 2008)).  Here, plaintiffs have not pleaded that 
this Court has diversity jurisdiction over their state law claim, nor 
have they alleged facts that would support our exercise of diversi-
ty jurisdiction.  Therefore, if we have jurisdiction over plaintiffs’ 
state-law claim, it is not by virtue of diversity of citizenship. 
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law claim] if— … (3) the district court has dismissed all 
claims over which it has original jurisdiction.”  28 
U.S.C. § 1367(c) (2006).  In Kolari v. New York-
Presbyterian Hosp., 455 F.3d 118 (2d Cir. 2006), the 
Second Circuit held that “[o]nce a district court’s dis-
cretion is triggered under [section] 1367(c)(3), it bal-
ances the traditional ‘values of judicial economy, con-
venience, fairness, and comity’ in deciding whether to 
exercise jurisdiction.”  Id. at 122 (quoting Carnegie-
Mellon Univ. v. Cohill, 484 U.S. 343, 350 (1988)) (inter-
nal citation omitted).  “In weighing these factors, the 
district court is aided by the Supreme Court’s addition-
al guidance in [Carnegie- Mellon University v. Cohill, 
484 U.S. 343,] that ‘in the usual case in which all feder-
al-law claims are eliminated before trial, the balance of 
factors … will point toward declining to exercise juris-
diction over the remaining state-law claims.’”  Kolari, 
455 F.3d at 122 (alteration in original) (quoting Cohill, 
484 U.S. at 350 n.7).  Indeed, as the Supreme Court ex-
plained in United Mine Workers of America v. Gibbs, 
383 U.S. 715 (1966), superseded by statute, 28 U.S.C. 
§ 1367, “[n]eedless decisions of state law should be 
avoided both as a matter of comity and to promote jus-
tice between the parties, by procuring for them a surer-
footed reading of applicable law.”  Id. at 726. 

Here, considerations of judicial economy, conven-
ience, fairness, and comity suggest that we should de-
cline to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over plain-
tiffs’ as-yet-unspecified-state-law claim.  First, given 
that discovery has not yet commenced, it would not sig-
nificantly compromise judicial economy for another court 
to start afresh on plaintiffs’ state law claim.  Second, in 
light of the early stage of the proceedings, it would not 
be particularly inconvenient for plaintiffs to refile their 
amended complaint in state court.  Third, considerations 
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of fairness suggest that plaintiffs’ state-law claim would 
best be decided in state court.  Finally, comity to the 
States counsels us not to decide unnecessarily a question 
of state law.  In sum, we find that in this case, as in “the 
usual case in which all federal-law claims are eliminated 
before trial,” the Cohill factors “point toward declining 
to exercise jurisdiction over the remaining state-law 
claims.”  Kolari, 455 F.3d at 122 (quoting Cohill, 484 
U.S. at 350 n.7) (internal quotation mark omitted).  Ac-
cordingly, we decline to exercise supplemental jurisdic-
tion over the OTC plaintiffs’ state-law claim. 

2.  Schwab Amended Complaints 

The Schwab amended complaints assert four causes 
of action pursuant to California state law:  (1) violation 
of the Cartwright Act, Schwab Bank Am. Compl. 
¶¶ 238-44, (2) interference with economic advantage, id. 
¶¶ 245-49, (3) breach of the implied covenant of good 
faith, id. ¶¶ 250-55, and (4) unjust enrichment, id. 
¶¶ 256-63.  With regard to each of these claims other 
than the Cartwright Act claim, the same considerations 
of judicial economy, convenience, fairness, and comity 
that counsel us to decline to exercise supplemental ju-
risdiction over the OTC plaintiffs’ state-law claim also 
counsel us to decline to exercise supplemental jurisdic-
tion here.24  In light of the early stage of the proceed-
ings, there is no reason why a California court should 
not decide plaintiffs’ California common law claims. 

                                                 
24 Like the OTC plaintiffs, the Schwab plaintiffs do not allege 

that we have diversity jurisdiction, nor do they allege facts that 
would support our exercise of diversity jurisdiction.  See Schwab 
Bank Am. Compl. ¶ 14; Schwab Money Am. Compl. ¶ 14; Schwab 
Bond Am. Compl. ¶ 14.  Therefore, we need not consider whether 
we have jurisdiction over plaintiffs’ state-law claims by virtue of 
diversity. 
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With regard to plaintiffs’ cause of action for viola-
tion of the Cartwright Act, the Cohill factors suggest a 
different result.  As discussed earlier, California courts 
interpreting the Cartwright Act have required plain-
tiffs to satisfy the same antitrust injury requirement 
that federal courts have applied in the context of the 
Sherman and Clayton Acts.  See Flagship Theatres of 
Palm Desert, LLC v. Century Theatres, Inc., 198 Cal. 
App. 4th 1366, 1378, 1380 (App. 2d Dist. 2011) 
(“[F]ederal case law makes clear that the antitrust in-
jury requirement also applies to other federal antitrust 
violations [beyond anticompetitive mergers].  Califor-
nia case law holds that the requirement applies to 
Cartwright Act claims as well. … [T]he antitrust injury 
requirement means that an antitrust plaintiff must 
show that it was injured by the anticompetitive aspects 
or effects of the defendant’s conduct, as opposed to be-
ing injured by the conduct’s neutral or even procompet-
itive aspects.”).  Therefore, our decision that plaintiffs 
have failed to allege an antitrust injury applies equally 
to their Cartwright Act claims. 

In these circumstances, considerations of judicial 
economy, convenience, fairness, and comity suggest 
that we should exercise supplemental jurisdiction over 
plaintiffs’ Cartwright Act claims.  First, as a matter of 
judicial economy, because our analysis of antitrust inju-
ry in the federal context is also sufficient to dispose of 
plaintiff’s Cartwright Act claims, there is no reason for 
another court to duplicate our efforts.  Second, with re-
gard to the parties’ convenience, although it would be 
easy for plaintiffs to refile their claim in state court, it 
would also be an unnecessary burden for defendants to 
relitigate an issue that has already been decided here.  
Third, although fairness to the parties often suggests 
that issues of state law should be decided by courts of 
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that state, there is nothing unfair about our deciding 
the issue of antitrust injury in the context of the Cart-
wright Act given that this requirement is directly 
based on the federal antitrust injury requirement.  Fi-
nally, because California has chosen to streamline its 
Cartwright Act jurisprudence with federal antitrust 
law to the extent that California courts have endorsed 
the federal requirement of antitrust injury, there are 
not strong considerations of comity here in favor of de-
ferring to California courts. 

Therefore, we will exercise supplemental jurisdic-
tion over plaintiffs’ Cartwright Act claims.  As dis-
cussed above, plaintiffs must show an antitrust injury 
to recover under the Cartwright Act, yet here, plain-
tiffs have failed to do so.  Accordingly, plaintiffs’ Cart-
wright Act claims are dismissed. 

3.  Exchange-Based Plaintiffs’ Amended Complaint 

The exchange-based plaintiffs assert a cause of ac-
tion pursuant to New York law for “restitu-
tion/disgorgement/unjust enrichment.”  Exchange Am. 
Compl. ¶¶ 250-53.25  As discussed above, plaintiffs’ 
CEA claims will, in part, survive defendants’ motion to 
dismiss.  Plaintiffs have alleged that their state-law 
claim is also properly before us pursuant to our diversi-
ty jurisdiction and supplemental jurisdiction, and de-
fendants have not disputed this. Defendants have, how-
ever, moved to dismiss plaintiffs’ state-law cause of ac-
tion for failure to state a claim.  Exchange MTD 29-31. 

                                                 
25 Although the amended complaint does not specify which 

state’s law the plaintiffs are seeking to apply, the parties have as-
sumed for purposes of briefing that the claim is asserted pursuant 
to New York common law.  Accordingly, we will analyze this claim 
under New York law. 
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Under New York law, “‘[t]he theory of unjust en-
richment lies as a quasi-contract claim’ and contem-
plates ‘an obligation imposed by equity to prevent in-
justice, in the absence of an actual agreement between 
the parties.’”  Georgia Malone & Co., Inc. v. Rieder, 19 
N.Y.3d 511, 516 (2012) (quoting IDT Corp. v Morgan 
Stanley Dean Witter & Co., 12 N.Y.3d 132, 142 (2009)).  
In order to state a claim for unjust enrichment, a plain-
tiff must allege that “(1) the other party was enriched, 
(2) at that party’s expense, and (3) that it is against eq-
uity and good conscience to permit the other party to 
retain what is sought to be recovered.”  Id. (quoting 
Mandarin Trading Ltd. V. Wildenstein, 16 N.Y.3d 173, 
182 (2011) (internal quotation mark omitted). 

Given that unjust enrichment is a claim in quasi-
contract, it requires some relationship between plaintiff 
and defendant:  “while ‘a plaintiff need not be in privity 
with the defendant to state a claim for unjust enrich-
ment,’ there must exist a relationship or connection be-
tween the parties that is not ‘too attenuated.’”  Id. 
(quoting Sperry v. Crompton Corp., 8 N.Y.3d 204, 215-
16 (2007)).  Where plaintiff and defendant “simply had 
no dealings with each other,” their relationship is “too 
attenuated.”  Georgia Malone, 19 N.Y.3d at 517-518. 

Here, the relationship between plaintiffs and de-
fendants, to the extent that there was any relationship, 
is surely too attenuated to support an unjust enrich-
ment claim.  Although plaintiffs have alleged that they 
“purchased standardized CME Eurodollar futures con-
tracts” and that “Defendants … manipulated and di-
rectly inflated CME Eurodollar futures contract prices 
to artificially high levels,” Exchange Am. Compl. 
¶¶ 214-15, they have not alleged that they purchased 
Eurodollar contracts from defendants or that they had 
any other relationship with defendants.  In other 
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words, even if plaintiffs are correct that “the direct and 
foreseeable effect of the Defendants’ intentional under-
statements of their LIBOR rate was to cause Plaintiffs 
and the Class to pay supracompetitive prices for CME 
Eurodollar futures contracts,” id. ¶ 217; see also Ex-
change Opp’n 36, this does not establish a relationship, 
of any sort, between plaintiffs and defendants.  Cf. In re 
Amaranth Natural Gas Commodities Litig., 587 F. 
Supp. 2d 513, 547 (S.D.N.Y. 2008) (“Plaintiffs have al-
leged that their losses were caused by defendants’ 
market manipulations …. But they have not alleged any 
direct relationship, trading or otherwise, between 
themselves and [defendants].  The alleged link between 
plaintiffs and defendants—from defendants’ manipula-
tions to the general natural gas futures market to plain-
tiffs’ trades—is too attenuated to support an unjust en-
richment claim.”). 

Because plaintiffs have not alleged any relation-
ship between themselves and defendants, they fail to 
state a claim for unjust enrichment under New York 
law.  Accordingly, plaintiffs’ unjust enrichment claim is 
dismissed. 

IV.  Conclusion 

For the reasons stated above, defendants’ motions 
to dismiss are granted in part and denied in part.  First, 
defendants’ motion to dismiss plaintiffs’ federal anti-
trust claim is granted.  Regardless of whether defend-
ants’ conduct constituted a violation of the antitrust 
laws, plaintiffs may not bring suit unless they have suf-
fered an “antitrust injury.”  An antitrust injury is an 
injury that results from an anticompetitive aspect of 
defendants’ conduct.  Here, although plaintiffs have al-
leged that defendants conspired to suppress LIBOR 
over a nearly three-year-long period and that they 
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were injured as a result, they have not alleged that 
their injury resulted from any harm to competition.  
The process by which banks submit LIBOR quotes to 
the BBA is not itself competitive, and plaintiffs have 
not alleged that defendants’ conduct had an anticompet-
itive effect in any market in which defendants compete.  
Because plaintiffs have not alleged an antitrust injury, 
their federal antitrust claim is dismissed. 

Second, defendants’ motion to dismiss plaintiffs’ 
commodities manipulation claims is granted in part and 
denied in part.  Contrary to defendants’ arguments, 
plaintiffs’ claims do not involve an impermissible extra-
territorial application of the CEA, and plaintiffs have 
adequately pleaded their claims.  However, certain of 
plaintiffs’ claims are time-barred because numerous ar-
ticles published in April and May 2008 in prominent na-
tional publications placed plaintiffs on notice of their 
injury.  Therefore, plaintiffs’ commodities manipulation 
claims based on contracts entered into between August 
2007 and May 29, 2008, are time-barred.  However, 
plaintiffs’ claims based on contracts entered into be-
tween April 15, 2009, and May 2010 are not time-
barred, and plaintiffs’ claims based on contracts en-
tered into between May 30, 2008, and April 14, 2009, 
may or may not be barred, though we will not dismiss 
them at this stage.  Additionally, because the Barclays 
settlements brought to light information that plaintiffs 
might not previously have been able to learn, we grant 
plaintiffs leave to move to amend their complaint to in-
clude allegations based on such information, provided 
that any such motion addresses the concerns raised 
herein and is accompanied by a proposed second 
amended complaint. 

Third, defendants’ motion to dismiss plaintiffs’ RI-
CO claim is granted.  For one, the PSLRA bars plain-
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tiffs from bringing a RICO claim based on predicate 
acts that could have been the subject of a securities 
fraud action.  Here, the predicate acts of mail and wire 
fraud underlying plaintiffs’ RICO claim could have been 
the subject of a claim for securities fraud.  Additionally, 
RICO applies only domestically, meaning that the al-
leged “enterprise” must be a domestic enterprise.  
However, the enterprise alleged by plaintiffs is based 
in England.  For these reasons, plaintiffs’ RICO claim is 
dismissed. 

Finally, plaintiffs’ state-law claims are all dis-
missed, some with prejudice and some without.  Plain-
tiffs’ Cartwright Act claim is dismissed with prejudice 
for lack of antitrust injury.  The exchange-based plain-
tiffs’ New York common law unjust enrichment claim is 
also dismissed with prejudice, as plaintiffs have not al-
leged any relationship between them and defendants.  
With regard to the remaining state-law claims, we de-
cline to exercise supplemental jurisdiction and there-
fore dismiss the claims without prejudice. 

We recognize that it might be unexpected that we 
are dismissing a substantial portion of plaintiffs’ claims, 
given that several of the defendants here have already 
paid penalties to government regulatory agencies 
reaching into the billions of dollars.  However, these re-
sults are not as incongruous as they might seem.  Under 
the statutes invoked here, there are many requirements 
that private plaintiffs must satisfy, but which govern-
ment agencies need not.  The reason for these differing 
requirements is that the focuses of public enforcement 
and private enforcement, even of the same statutes, are 
not identical.  The broad public interests behind the 
statutes invoked here, such as integrity of the markets 
and competition, are being addressed by ongoing gov-
ernmental enforcement.  While public enforcement is 
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often supplemented by suits brought by private parties 
acting as “private attorneys general,” those private ac-
tions which seek damages and attorney’s fees must be 
examined closely to ensure that the plaintiffs who are 
suing are the ones properly entitled to recover and that 
the suit is, in fact, serving the public purposes of the 
laws being invoked.  Therefore, although we are fully 
cognizant of the settlements that several of the defend-
ants here have entered into with government regula-
tors, we find that only some of the claims that plaintiffs 
have asserted may properly proceed. 

SO ORDERED. 

Dated: New York, New York 
  March 29, 2013 

/s/ NAOMI REICE BUCHWALD  
  NAOMI REICE BUCHWALD 
  UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE 


